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CSA Notice and Request for Comment
Proposed Amendments to National Instrument 51-102 Continuous
Disclosure Obligations and Other Amendments and Changes
Relating to Annual and Interim Filings of Non-Investment Fund
Reporting Issuers

- and -

Seeking Feedback on a Proposed Framework for Semi-Annual
Reporting — Venture Issuers on a Voluntary Basis

May 20, 2021

PART 1 - Introduction

The Canadian Securities Administrators (CSA or we) are publishing for a 120-day comment period

e proposed amendments to National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure
Obligations (NI 51-102), including the proposed repeal of Form 51-102F1
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (the Current MD&A Form) and Form 51-
102F2 Annual Information Form (the Current AIF Form) and the proposed
introduction of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement and Form 51-102F2
Interim Disclosure Statement,

e proposed changes to Companion Policy 51-102CP Continuous Disclosure Obligations
(51-102CP),

e proposed amendments to existing rules as set out in Annex E,

e proposed changes to existing policies as set out in Annex F, and

e proposed amendments and changes to local securities laws and policies as set out in

Annex H

(collectively, the Proposed Amendments).

We are issuing this Notice to solicit your comments on the Proposed Amendments and a proposed
framework to allow semi-annual reporting on a limited basis as set out in Annex G.

The public comment period expires on September 17, 2021.
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The text of the Proposed Amendments is contained in Annexes A through F of this Notice and will
also be available on websites of CSA jurisdictions, including:

www.lautorite.qc.ca
www.albertasecurities.com
www.bcsc.bc.ca
WWW.ZO0V.NS.ca/nssc
www.fcnb.ca
WWW.0SC.gov.on.ca
www.fcaa.gov.sk.ca
WWW.msc.gov.mb.ca

PART 2 — Substance and Purpose of the Proposed Amendments

Securities regulators have a role to play in promoting disclosures that yield decision-useful
information for investors. However, we also must be mindful of challenges reporting issuers face
in preparing their disclosure. Regulatory requirements and the associated compliance costs should
be balanced against the significance of the regulatory objectives sought to be realized and the value
provided by such regulatory requirements to investors and other stakeholders.

The proposed amendments to NI 51-102 change the annual and interim filing requirements of
reporting issuers (other than investment funds)'. Specifically, they streamline and clarify certain
disclosure requirements for the management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) and the annual
information form (AIF). In addition, they combine the financial statements, MD&A and, where
applicable, AIF into one reporting document called the annual disclosure statement for annual
reporting purposes, and the interim disclosure statement for interim reporting purposes.

The proposed amendments to NI 51-102 will also result in certain consequential amendments and
changes to other rules and policies applicable to reporting issuers. In many cases, the amendments
and changes involve adding references to the annual disclosure statement and interim disclosure
statement and updating existing references to NI 51-102 to reference the amended NI 51-102
requirements.

In certain instruments, amendments are proposed to align certain prospectus form requirements
with the continuous disclosure form requirements. In addition, some housekeeping revisions are
proposed to clarify existing requirements or guidance, delete provisions that are no longer
applicable or redundant, correct outdated references and reflect the name change of Aequitas NEO
Exchange Inc. to "Neo Exchange Inc.". In these limited cases, the revisions are not consequential
to the proposed amendments to NI 51-102. For a list of the existing rules that are proposed to be
amended, as well as the amending instruments, please see Annex E. For a list of the existing
policies that are proposed to be changed, as well as the change documents, please see Annex F.

We expect the Proposed Amendments will reduce regulatory burden by fostering streamlined
reporting and increasing reporting efficiency for reporting issuers. We also believe the Proposed

! All references to reporting issuers in this notice refer to non-investment fund reporting issuers.
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Amendments will increase the quality and usability of the disclosure to be provided to investors.
Accordingly, we believe the Proposed Amendments will not compromise investor protection or
the efficiency of the capital markets.

PART 3 — Background on Prior Consultation on Reducing Regulatory Burden ‘

In April 2017, the CSA published CSA Consultation Paper 51-404 Considerations for Reducing
Regulatory Burden for Non-Investment Fund Reporting Issuers (Consultation Paper 51-404) to
identify and consider areas of securities legislation that could benefit from a reduction of undue
regulatory burden, without compromising investor protection or the efficiency of the capital
markets. Part 2 of Consultation Paper 51-404 focused on, among other things, options to reduce the
regulatory burden associated with the ongoing costs of remaining a reporting issuer.

The Proposed Amendments are informed by the comment letters received in response to
Consultation Paper 51-404 and other stakeholder feedback respecting the disclosure requirements
in annual and interim filings.?

Comments received reflected a wide range of suggestions. Many stakeholders generally supported
examining whether the volume of information in annual and interim filings could be reduced in
order to prevent excessive disclosure from obscuring key information or otherwise improve the
quality and accessibility of disclosure. Some stakeholders specifically supported eliminating
duplicative disclosure among the financial statements, MD&A and other NI 51-102 forms. Other
stakeholders supported consolidating two or more of the financial statements, MD&A and AIF into
one reporting document.

In light of the feedback received from stakeholders, we conducted a review of disclosure
requirements for annual and interim filings, with a view to reducing the burden of disclosure on
reporting issuers, while enhancing the usefulness and understandability of the disclosure for
investors. The Proposed Amendments are meant to address the feedback noted above.

PART 4 — Summary of the Proposed Amendments

Existing requirements

NI 51-102 sets out the obligations of reporting issuers with respect to financial statements, MD&A,
AIF, and other continuous disclosure related matters. It also prescribes the forms for certain
required disclosures, including MD&A and AIF.

The Current MD&A Form and the Current AIF Form were introduced in 2004, although most of
the prescribed disclosure requirements were derived from pre-existing forms with some
enhancements. Since then, the forms have been amended a number of times (for example, as a result
of the 2015 amendments to streamline and tailor disclosure by venture issuers).

2 The comment letters were summarized in CSA Staff Notice 51-353 Update on CSA Consultation Paper 51-404
Considerations for Reducing Regulatory Burden for Non-Investment Fund Reporting Issuers.
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Proposed Amendments

The Proposed Amendments would
. streamline the disclosure requirements currently set out in the Current MD&A Form
and the Current AIF Form,
J combine the financial statements, MD&A and, where applicable, AIF into one
reporting document, and
. address current gaps in disclosure.

These three changes are discussed in more detail below.

1. Streamline the disclosure requirements

The Proposed Amendments streamline the existing disclosure requirements by eliminating,
consolidating or clarifying them.

Type of Description

change

Eliminate Duplication or overlap

disclosure Where there is duplication or overlap between the current disclosure

requirements | requirements for the financial statements, MD&A and AIF, the Proposed
Amendments eliminate the duplicative requirements. This will reduce burden
as a reporting issuer does not have to repeat information that is already
disclosed elsewhere, and investors in general will have less disclosure to read
and can better focus on the key information.

For example, the Proposed Amendments

e climinate the current MD&A requirement to disclose information
regarding critical accounting estimates, which is required to be included in
the financial statements under Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly
accountable enterprises, and

e climinate the current AIF requirement to disclose cash dividends or
distributions declared, as well as any restrictions on payment of dividends
or distributions, which are duplicative of requirements under Canadian
GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises.

Redundant information

In addition, the Proposed Amendments eliminate current requirements that are
redundant or where the burden on the reporting issuer to provide the disclosure
is greater than the benefit that investors obtain from having the disclosure.
This will reduce burden as the reporting issuer will have fewer disclosure
requirements overall.
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Type of
change

Description

For example, the Proposed Amendments

e climinate the current MD&A requirement to disclose summary information
for the 8 most recently completed quarters given that this information can
be easily located in previous continuous disclosure filings, and

e climinate the current AIF requirement to disclose security price ranges and
volumes traded on a Canadian marketplace given that this information can
be easily obtained from the marketplaces.

Consolidate
disclosure
requirements

Where there is more than one current requirement to disclose similar
information in different ways, the Proposed Amendments consolidate the
requirements. This will reduce burden as reporting issuers will not be required
to prepare repetitive disclosure in response to similar disclosure requirements
contained in multiple forms or sections. Investors will also benefit from a
shorter and more focused document.

For example, the Proposed Amendments

e consolidate the current MD&A requirements to discuss liquidity and
capital resources of the reporting issuer, and

e consolidate the current AIF requirement to disclose research and
development elements with the current MD&A requirement to discuss
operations.

Clarify
disclosure
requirements

Where current requirements are vague or otherwise unclear, the Proposed
Amendments provide clarification by specifically identifying what we expect
from reporting issuers through changes to the requirements or instructions.
This will reduce burden as reporting issuers should better understand the
disclosure that is required. In addition, this should dissuade reporting issuers
from providing unnecessary disclosure to ensure that they are not in default of
disclosure requirements.

For example, the Proposed Amendments

e clarify that the discussion of a reporting issuer’s financial condition,
financial performance and cash flows in the MD&A must include an
analysis of the most recently completed financial year as compared to the
prior year, and

e clarify that a summary from a technical report can be used to satisfy the
AITF requirement applicable to reporting issuers with mineral projects, and
the entire technical report is not required to be incorporated by reference
into the AIF.

For a discussion of the key changes made to specific disclosure requirements, please see the
annotated versions of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement and Form 51-102F2 Interim
Disclosure Statement set out in Annexes B and C.
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2. Combine documents

The Proposed Amendments combine the financial statements, MD&A and, where applicable,
AIF as follows.

Type of filings | Proposed combination of documents
Annual filings | e For a reporting issuer that is not a venture issuer - combine in one filing the
annual financial statements, MD&A and AIF.

e For a venture issuer - combine in one filing the annual financial statements
and MD&A.

If a venture issuer intends to be short form prospectus eligible under section
2.2 of National Instrument 44-101 Short Form Prospectus Distributions
(NI 44-101), it has the option to file a standalone AIF (in addition to the
combined annual financial statements and MD&A) or combine in one filing the
annual financial statements, MD&A and AIF.

Interim filings | e For all reporting issuers — combine in one filing the interim financial
report and MD&A (or where appropriate, quarterly highlights).

We are of the view that the combination of documents will reduce burden by fostering streamlined
reporting and increasing reporting efficiency for reporting issuers. Having fewer reporting
documents to review or having information combined in one place will improve usability for
investors and analysts. A combined document should also be more intuitive for most cross-border
investors as they are already familiar with the presentation of the financial statements, MD&A and
AIF in one reporting document, such as the Form 10-K, which is required to be filed with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) under the 1934 Act.

3. Address gaps in disclosure

While the Proposed Amendments will reduce reporting issuers’ regulatory burden overall, they
also introduce a small number of new requirements, including
e disclosure requirements for investment entities and non-investment entities recording
investments at fair value®, and

e a requirement for venture issuers to provide a description of their business in their
MD&A.

While these requirements, on their own, may be viewed as increasing regulatory burden, the
Proposed Amendments will achieve overall burden reduction as a result of a greater number of
requirements being eliminated, consolidated or clarified. In addition, the new requirements are
generally to clarify CSA staff expectations that have been communicated in staff notices or
comment letters.

3 New disclosure requirements for investment entities and non-investment entities recording investments at fair value
are proposed to be introduced to address a number of disclosure concerns as identified and discussed in CSA
Multilateral Staff Notice 51-349 Report on the Review of Investment Entities and Guide for Disclosure Improvements.

#5960547



For a discussion of the key changes made to specific disclosure requirements, please see the
annotated versions of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement and Form 51-102F2 Interim
Disclosure Statement set out in Annexes B and C.

Transition

Subject to this notice and comment process and required approvals, the final amendments are
expected to be published in September 2023 and be effective on December 15, 2023. We propose
to include transition provisions in the amending instrument for NI 51-102 that will require an issuer
to comply with the amended version of NI 51-102 from the date (the issuer effective date) the
issuer will be required to file an annual disclosure statement for its first financial year ending on
or after December 15, 2023, or the issuer will voluntarily file an annual disclosure statement or an
interim disclosure statement on or after December 15, 2023. Until the issuer effective date, the
issuer must comply with the requirements of NI 51-102 as they read on December 14, 2023.

To further assist reporting issuers and their advisors, and to increase transparency, certain
jurisdictions plan to post at the time of or after the publication of final amendments, two different
unofficial consolidations of NI 51-102 on their websites:

e the version of NI 51-102 as at December 14, 2023 (including the Current MD&A Form
and the Current AIF Form); and

e the amended version of NI 51-102 as at December 15, 2023 (including the annual
disclosure statement form and the interim disclosure statement form).

We propose to include similar transition provisions in the amending instruments for certain other
amended rules to align with the transition provisions for NI 51-102. Since we do not plan to include
transition provisions in any documents that change any companion policy or national policy, a
reporting issuer will not be expected to apply the proposed changes to any policy until the issuer
effective date and will be able to reference the version of the policy as at December 14, 2023 for
guidance. Certain jurisdictions plan to post, at the time of or after the publication of final
amendments, two different unofficial consolidations of the rules that will be subject to transition
provisions, and the related companion policies, on their websites.

Filing an interim disclosure statement as the first filing after the adoption of the Proposed
Amendments

On or after December 15, 2023, a reporting issuer may elect to voluntarily file an interim disclosure
statement, prior to filing an annual disclosure statement for its first financial year ending on or
after December 15, 2023. This issuer must include in that interim disclosure statement an MD&A
in the form of Part 2 of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement to ensure that the first filing
includes a full MD&A that meets the amended disclosure requirements. The date these issuers
voluntarily file the interim disclosure statement becomes their issuer effective date and, thereafter,
these issuers must comply with the requirements of the Proposed Amendments.
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Other proposed noteworthy changes

Other proposed noteworthy changes include the following.
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Materiality qualifiers — In reviewing the Current MD&A Form and the Current AIF
Form, we noted that each form instructs issuers to focus on material information, but
then certain provisions separately reference a type of materiality qualifier such as
"material", "significant", "critical", "major" and "fundamental". We propose to
generally remove these materiality qualifiers and have all disclosure requirements
subject to the qualification that issuers are to focus on material information as set out in
general instructions to Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement and Form 51-
102F2 Interim Disclosure Statement (subject to the limited exceptions explicitly noted
in the forms). We propose to retain materiality qualifiers where the materiality qualifier
is part of a defined term (such as significant acquisition) or reflect a term used in our
prospectus rules.

Delivery requirements — The Proposed Amendments modify the delivery requirement
such that a reporting issuer is required to deliver the annual disclosure statement to its
investors. As a result, the requirement to deliver would apply to an AIF that is prepared
as part of an annual disclosure statement. We propose these changes in light of the
"access equals delivery" model outlined in CSA Consultation Paper 51-405
Consideration of an Access Equals Delivery Model for Non-Investment Fund Reporting
Issuers that is currently under consideration by the CSA. Under the proposed "access
equals delivery" model, providing electronic "access" to an annual disclosure statement
and publishing a related notice that the annual disclosure statement is available would
constitute delivery.

Relocation of certain sections from NI 51-102 to Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure
Statement — The Proposed Amendments relocate sections 5.3 Additional Disclosure for
Venture Issuers Without Significant Revenue and 5.4 Disclosure of Outstanding Share
Data of NI 51-102 to Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement. We propose the
relocations so that all MD&A and AIF disclosure requirements can be found in one
form. No change in substance is intended from the proposed relocations.

Existing exemptions — We propose to modify the existing exemption provision in NI
51-102 to allow reporting issuers to rely on exemptions, waivers or approvals that relate
to the requirements to prepare, file or deliver annual or interim filings, and that were
granted by a securities regulatory authority prior to the effective date of the Proposed
Amendments. As a result, any reporting issuer that is exempted from preparing, filing
or delivering annual or interim filings will also be exempted from preparing, filing or
delivering an annual disclosure statement or an interim disclosure statement, as
applicable.




PART S — Proposed Text

The text of the Proposed Amendments is published with this notice in the following annexes:

e Annex A — Proposed Amendments to NI 51-102

e Annex B — Proposed Annotated Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement
e Annex C — Proposed Annotated Form 51-102F2 Interim Disclosure Statement
Annex D — Proposed Changes to 51-102CP

Annex E — Proposed Amendments to Existing Rules

Annex F — Proposed Changes to Existing Policies

Where applicable, Annex H — Local Matters (including any local amendments)

PART 6 — Seeking Feedback on a Proposed Framework for Semi-Annual Reporting —
Venture Issuers on a Voluntary Basis

While we are not proposing amendments to introduce semi-annual reporting at this time, we seek
feedback on a proposed framework to allow semi-annual reporting on a limited basis (the
Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting Framework).

How does the Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting Framework differ from previous
proposals*?

In Consultation Paper 51-404 referred to in Part 3 above, we explored whether a semi-annual
reporting option should be offered to reporting issuers and, if so, under what circumstances. We
also specifically asked whether, if pursued, semi-annual reporting should be limited to smaller
reporting issuers.

We received a range of feedback:

e 9 commenters supported semi-annual reporting for all reporting issuers,

e 17 commenters expressed support for semi-annual reporting in certain circumstances
(e.g. for issuers with no significant revenue or for MD&A but not financial statements),
and

e 16 commenters did not support semi-annual reporting.

In Consultation Paper 51-404, we did not present a specific framework but rather solicited general
feedback in response to broad questions. Now, we propose a specific framework that includes the
following key attributes.

e Limited to venture issuers that are not SEC issuers — The Proposed Semi-Annual
Reporting Framework would be limited to reporting issuers that are subject to the
provisions of NI 51-102 applicable to non-SEC venture issuers.

4 We consulted under Consultation Paper 51-404, under proposed National Instrument 51-103 Ongoing Governance
and Disclosure Requirements for Venture Issuers (published in 2011 and republished in 2012), and under proposed
CSA Multilateral Consultation Paper 51-403 Tailoring Venture Issuer Regulation (published in 2010).
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Semi-annual reporting would be voluntary — The Proposed Semi-annual Reporting
Framework would be optional, not mandatory. This would allow venture issuers to
report at a frequency that reflects their situation and investor expectations.

Alternative disclosure would be provided — Alternative disclosure would be required
for interim periods where financial statements and MD&A would not be filed.

How will the market receive adequate ongoing disclosure under the Proposed Semi-Annual
Reporting Framework?

Ensuring adequate and timely disclosure is central to the Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting
Framework. The Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting Framework would add a new requirement that
an issuer files alternative disclosure within 60 days of the end of the issuer’s interim period for
which financial statements and MD&A would not be filed. Further details regarding these
disclosure requirements are outlined in Annex G.

What are the potential benefits?

The Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting Framework offers the following benefits.

Lower financial reporting costs - The quarterly reporting regime imposes a
proportionately greater regulatory burden on smaller issuers having more limited
resources. Eliminating two quarterly reporting periods could meaningfully reduce
burden for the approximately 2,500 venture issuers listed on the TSX Venture Exchange
(TSXV) and the Canadian Securities Exchange (CSE), allowing these issuers to
reallocate resources from reporting to operational matters.

Provides streamlined disclosure for Q1 and Q3 periods - Investors of issuers reporting
semi-annually would receive alternative disclosure regarding the issuer that would
provide an update for interim periods where financial statements and MD&A would not
be filed.

Provides choice - It would provide participating venture issuers with the choice of semi-
annual or quarterly reporting, based on their available resources and the expectations of
their investors.

What are the potential risks?

The Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting Framework poses the following risks:
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Less timely interim financial statements for participating venture issuers — Investors
may have concerns about losing information contained in the Q1 and Q3 financial
statements. Semi-annual reporting under a different structure has worked successfully
in some foreign jurisdictions (Australia, the United Kingdom, and certain European
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Union countries)’, although with the voluntary nature of those regimes, some companies
have decided to report quarterly to meet the expectations of their investors. Semi-annual
reporting has not been implemented in the United States, although it continues to be
discussed.

e Option available to larger venture issuers — The Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting
Framework would be available to all venture issuers that are not SEC issuers, regardless
of size. While the market capitalization of most venture issuers is relatively low, a small
number of venture issuers, predominantly in the cannabis sector, have market
capitalizations exceeding $100 million. Some investors may have concerns with
permitting issuers of this size to report on a semi-annual basis. Australia, the United
Kingdom, and certain European Union countries permit semi-annual reporting by all
issuers.

e Selective disclosure — The possibility of selective disclosure could increase under a
semi-annual reporting model. Alternative disclosure for interim periods where financial
statements and MD&A would not be filed would be required. Existing prohibitions
regarding selective disclosure and insider trading would apply, but participating venture
issuers may have to be more diligent in administering their insider trading policies.

What are the material details of the Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting Framework?

Annex G outlines the material details of the Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting Framework
including additional disclosure requirements, interaction with offering requirements and transition.

PART 7 — Alternatives Considered

No alternatives to rule-making were considered.

We think that it is important to propose changes rather than maintain the status quo. As noted in
Part 3, we received comments in response to Consultation Paper 51-404 as well as other stakeholder
feedback respecting the disclosure requirements in annual and interim filings. As many
stakeholders generally supported reducing the volume of information in annual and interim filings
and improving the quality and accessibility of disclosure, we are of the view that it is important to
take steps aimed at reducing the burden of disclosure while enhancing the usefulness and
understandability of the disclosure.

In preparing the Proposed Amendments, we reviewed the annual and interim reporting obligations
in the U.S., the United Kingdom and Australia. We also reviewed amendments and proposed
amendments published by the SEC to modernize Regulation S-K and the reporting regime in the
United States.® We will continue to monitor international developments to further inform our

3 Certain foreign jurisdictions require semi-annual financial statements to be reviewed by external auditors.

® We are proposing certain amendments to the MD&A and AIF requirements based on our review of the SEC’s FAST
Act Modernization and Simplification of Regulation S-K, Request for Comment on Earnings Releases and Quarterly
Reports, Modernization of Regulation S-K Items 101, 103, and 105 and the SEC’s Amendments to Regulation S-K:
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approach to reducing regulatory burden for reporting issuers without compromising investor
protection.

An alternative to the Proposed Amendments would be not to consolidate the AIF and MD&A into
the annual disclosure statement. While this would have provided some benefits by eliminating
duplication, it would not have provided the long-term benefits of consolidation. Moreover, it
would not have addressed an important recommendation made by some stakeholders in response
to Consultation Paper 51-404.

PART 8 — Local Matters

Where applicable, Annex H is being published in any local jurisdiction that is making related
changes to local securities laws, including local notices or other policy instruments in that
jurisdiction. It also includes any additional information that is relevant to that jurisdiction only.

PART 9 — Request for Comments

We welcome your comments on the Proposed Amendments and also invite comments on the
following specific questions.

Question relating to additional disclosure for venture issuers without significant revenue

We have kept the current disclosure requirement in section 5.3 of NI 51-102 (as proposed section
8 of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement) to apply only to venture issuers that have not
had significant revenue from operations in either of their last two financial years. However, for
non-venture issuers that have significant projects not yet generating revenue, an itemized
breakdown of material components of the following may help investors understand how the
reporting issuer performed during the period covered by the MD&A:

e exploration and evaluation assets or expenditures;
e general and administrative expenses; and
e other material costs.

1. Do you think this requirement should apply more broadly or more narrowly? For example,
should we extend this disclosure requirement to non-venture issuers that have significant

projects not yet generating revenue as well? Why or why not?

Questions relating to risk factors

We have retained instruction (i) to section 5.2 of the Current AIF Form (as proposed section 16 of
Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement) which requires a reporting issuer to disclose risks
in order of seriousness from the most serious to least serious. Proposed instruction (3) to the same
section suggests that "seriousness" refers to impact/probability assessment.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Selected Financial Data, and Supplementary Financial Information, which
were adopted on November 19, 2020.
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2. Would it be beneficial for reporting issuers if we provided further clarity on what
"seriousness" means and how to determine the "seriousness" of a risk?

SEC’s Modernization of Regulation S-K Items 101, 103, and 105 adopts amendments which
require the following:

e grouping similar risks together;
e disclosing generic risks under the heading "general risks"; and
e requiring a summary of risk factor disclosure if the risk factor disclosure exceeds 15

pages.

3. If we adopted similar requirements to the SEC’s amendments, what would be the benefits
and costs for investors and reporting issuers?

Questions relating to the requirement to name authors of technical reports

Subsection 5.4(1) of the Current AIF Form requires reporting issuers to cite the date and title of
the current technical report for each material mineral project and name the author(s) of the report.
The Current AIF Form also contains disclosure requirements for mineral projects which may be
satisfied, at the option of the reporting issuer, by incorporating by reference into the AIF some or
all of the information in the current technical reports. There is no requirement to incorporate by
reference technical reports, as a whole, into the AIF.

The short form prospectus requirements for expert consents in paragraph 4.2(a)(vii) of NI 44-101
and subsection 10.1(1.1) of National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus Requirements (NI 41-
101) require technical report authors who are named in the AIF to file expert consents for a short
form prospectus filing. This is the case even if the technical report is not incorporated by reference
and the mineral project disclosure in the prospectus is prepared or approved by another qualified
person (QP). The impact of providing an expert consent is that the consenting QP assumes personal
liability for the disclosure for which they provide a consent.

4.  What challenges, if any, do reporting issuers face in obtaining technical report author
consents for short form prospectus offerings?

5. If the requirement to name the technical report authors in the AIF (and as a result, provide
consents for short form prospectus offerings) were removed, would reporting issuers
continue to obtain approval of prospectus disclosure from technical report authors or would
they rely more on internal or external non-author QPs?

6.  If reporting issuers were to rely on internal or external non-author QPs for purposes of
providing consents for short form prospectus offerings, in your view, would investor
protection be impacted? Would relying on an internal QP for consent purposes (where an
external QP authored the original report) raise potential conflict of interest concerns?
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Question relating to impact of refiling on auditor’s report

7.

Considering that the annual disclosure statement will include annual financial statements,
MD&A and, where applicable, AIF, do you think there will be an impact, including on
auditing requirements, if a reporting issuer amends or re-files only one of these documents,
or re-files the annual disclosure statement in its entirety?

Question relating to proposed amendments to Form 41-101F1 Information Required in a

Prospectus and Form 44-101F1 Short Form Prospectus

8.

To align the continuous disclosure and prospectus regimes, we are proposing to remove
certain prospectus disclosure requirements. Are there any concerns with the removal of this
information from a prospectus? Please explain.

Questions relating to semi-annual reporting for certain venture issuers on a voluntary basis

9.

10.

11.

12.

Should we pursue the Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting Framework for voluntary semi-
annual reporting for venture issuers that are not SEC issuers? Please explain.

Are there specific types of venture issuers for which semi-annual reporting would not be
appropriate? For instance, should semi-annual reporting be limited to venture issuers below
a certain market capitalization or those not generating significant revenue? Please explain.

Would the proposed alternative disclosure requirements under the Proposed Semi-Annual
Reporting Framework provide adequate disclosure to investors? Would any additional
disclosure be required? Is any of the proposed disclosure unnecessary given the existing
requirements for material change reporting and the timely disclosure requirements of the
venture exchanges? Please explain.

Do you have any other feedback relating to the Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting
Framework?

Questions relating to transition provisions

13.

14.
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Do you think the proposed transition provisions are sufficiently clear? If not, how can we
make them clearer?

Do you think the transition provisions in the amending instrument for NI 51-102 would
provide reporting issuers with sufficient time to review the Proposed Amendments and
prepare and file an annual disclosure statement for a financial year ending on, for example,
December 31, 2023 if the final amendments are published in September 2023? Do you think
more time should be afforded to smaller reporting issuers (such as venture issuers)?
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PART 10 — How to Provide Comments

Please submit your comments in writing on or before September 17, 2021. If you are not sending
your comments by email, please send us an electronic file containing the submissions (in
Microsoft Word Format).

Address your submission to all of the CSA as follows:

British Columbia Securities Commission

Alberta Securities Commission

Financial and Consumer Affairs Authority of Saskatchewan
Manitoba Securities Commission

Ontario Securities Commission

Autorité des marchés financiers

Financial and Consumer Services Commission, New Brunswick
Superintendent of Securities, Department of Justice and Public Safety, Prince Edward Island
Nova Scotia Securities Commission

Office of the Superintendent of Securities, Service NL
Northwest Territories Office of the Superintendent of Securities
Office of the Yukon Superintendent of Securities
Superintendent of Securities, Nunavut

Deliver your comments only to the addresses listed below. Your comments will be distributed to
the other participating CSA jurisdictions.

The Secretary

Ontario Securities Commission
20 Queen Street West

22nd Floor, Box 55

Toronto, Ontario

MS5H 3S8

Fax: 416-593-2318
comment@osc.gov.on.ca

Me Philippe Lebel

Corporate Secretary and Executive Director, Legal Affairs
Autorité des marchés financiers

Place de la Cité, tour Cominar

2640, boulevard Laurier, bureau 400

Québec (Québec) G1V 5C1

Fax: 514-864-8381

consultation-en-cours@]lautorite.qc.ca
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Comments received will be publicly available

We cannot keep submissions confidential because securities legislation in certain provinces
requires publication of the written comments received during the comment period. All comments
received will be posted on the websites of each of the Alberta Securities Commission at
www.albertasecurities.com, the Autorité des marchés financiers at www.lautorite.qc.ca and the
Ontario Securities Commission at www.osc.gov.on.ca. Therefore, you should not include
personal information directly in comments to be published. It is important that you state on
whose behalf you are making the submission.

PART 11 — Questions

If you have any questions, please contact any of the CSA staff listed below.

British Columbia Securities Commission

Allan Lim Laura Lam

Manager, Corporate Finance Senior Legal Counsel, Corporate Finance
604 899-6780 604 899-6792

alim@bcsc.bc.ca llam@bcsc.bc.ca

Sabina Chow

Senior Securities Analyst, Corporate Finance
604 899-6797
schow(@bcsc.be.ca

Alberta Securities Commission

Timothy Robson Danielle Mayhew

Manager, Legal, Corporate Finance Legal Counsel, Corporate Finance
403 355-6297 403 592-3059
timothy.robson@asc.ca danielle.mayhew(@asc.ca

Rebecca Moen

Securities Analyst, Corporate Finance
403 297-4846

rebecca.moen(@asc.ca

Financial and Consumer Affairs Authority of Saskatchewan

Heather Kuchuran

Director, Corporate Finance
306 787-1009
heather.kuchuran@gov.sk.ca
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Manitoba Securities Commission

Patrick Weeks
Corporate Finance Analyst
204 945-3326
patrick.weeks@gov.mb.ca

Ontario Securities Commission

Jo-Anne Matear

Manager, Corporate Finance
416 593-2323
jmatear(@osc.gov.on.ca

Mandy Tam

Senior Accountant, Corporate Finance
416 597-7221

mtam(@osc.gov.on.ca

Autorité des marchés financiers

Michel Bourque

Senior Regulatory Advisor,
Direction de I’information continue
514 395-0337, ext. 4466
michel.bourque@]lautorite.qc.ca

Sylvia Pateras

Senior Legal Counsel,
Direction des affaires juridiques
514 395-0337, ext. 2536
sylvia.pateras@lautorite.qc.ca

Marie-France Bourret
Manager, Corporate Finance
416 593-8083
mbourret@osc.gov.on.ca

Jessie Gill

Senior Legal Counsel, Corporate Finance
416 593-8114

jessiegill@osc.gov.on.ca

Nadine Gamelin

Senior Analyst,

Direction de I’information financiére
514 395-0337, ext. 4417
nadine.gamelin@lautorite.qc.ca

Financial and Consumer Services Commission, New Brunswick

Joseph Adair

Senior Securities Analyst
506 643-7435
joe.adair@fcnb.ca
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Nova Scotia Securities Commission

Jack Jiang

Securities Analyst, Corporate Finance
902 424-7059
jack.jiang@novascotia.ca
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ANNEX A

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 51-102 CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS

#5960547

National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations is amended by this

Instrument.

Subsection 1.1(1) is amended

(@)

(b)

(¢

by replacing the definition of "AIF" with the following:

"AIF" means,

(a)

(b)

in the case of an issuer other than an SEC issuer, a completed Part 3 of Form
51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement; or

in the case of an SEC issuer, a completed Part 3 of Form 51-102F1 Annual
Disclosure Statement or an annual report or transition report under the 1934
Act on Form 10-K or Form 20-F;,

by adding the following definitions:

"annual disclosure statement" means,

(2)

(b)

in the case of an issuer other than an SEC issuer, a completed Part 1 and
Part 2 and, if any, a completed Part 3 of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure
Statement; or

in the case of an SEC issuer, a completed Form 51-102F1 Annual
Disclosure Statement or an annual report or transition report under the 1934
Act on Form 10-K or Form 20-F;

"interim disclosure statement" means,

(2)

(b)

in the case of an issuer other than an SEC issuer, a completed Form
51-102F2 Interim Disclosure Statement; or

in the case of an SEC issuer, a completed Form 51-102F2 Interim
Disclosure Statement or an interim report or transition report under the 1934
Act on Form 10-Q;,

by replacing the definition of "MD&A" with the following:

"MD&A" means,

(a)

in the case of an issuer other than an SEC issuer, a completed
(1) Part 2 of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement; or
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(d)
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(i1) Part 2 of Form 51-102F2 Interim Disclosure Statement; or
(b) in the case of an SEC issuer, a completed

(1) Part 2 of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement or

management’s discussion and analysis prepared in accordance
with Item 303 of Regulation S-K under the 1934 Act; or

(i) Part 2 of Form 51-102F2 [Interim Disclosure Statement or

management’s discussion and analysis prepared in accordance
with Item 303 of Regulation S-K under the 1934 Act;, and

in paragraph (a) of the definition of ''venture issuer' by replacing ""Parts 4 and
5 of this Instrument and Form 51-102F1"" with "Part 3A of this Instrument "’

The following is added after Part 3:

PART 3A ANNUAL AND INTERIM DISCLOSURE STATEMENTS

3A.1

3A.2

Filing of Annual Disclosure Statement

A reporting issuer must file an annual disclosure statement that, for greater
certainty, is comprised of

(a) annual financial statements required under section 4.1,
(b) an MD&A required under subsection 5.1(1), and

(©) if applicable, an AIF required under section 6.1.
Filing Deadline for Annual Disclosure Statement

The annual disclosure statement required to be filed under section 3A.1 must be
filed,

(a) in the case of a reporting issuer other than a venture issuer, on or before
the earlier of

(1) the 90th day after the end of its most recently completed
financial year, and

(i1) the date the reporting issuer files, in a foreign jurisdiction, annual

financial statements for its most recently completed financial year,
or

(b) in the case of a venture issuer, on or before the earlier of
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(1) the 120th day after the end of its most recently completed
financial year, and

(i1) the date the venture issuer files, in a foreign jurisdiction, annual
financial statements for its most recently completed financial year.

Filing of Interim Disclosure Statement

A reporting issuer must file an interim disclosure statement that, for greater
certainty, is comprised of

(a) an interim financial report required under subsection 4.3(1), and
(b) an MD&A required under subsection 5.1(2).
Filing Deadline for Interim Disclosure Statement

An interim disclosure statement required to be filed under section 3A.3 must be
filed,

(a) in the case of a reporting issuer other than a venture issuer, on or before
the earlier of

(1) the 45th day after the end of the interim period, and

(i1) the date the reporting issuer files, in a foreign jurisdiction, an
interim financial report for a period ending on the last day of the
interim period, or

(b) in the case of a venture issuer, on or before the earlier of

(1) the 60th day after the end of the interim period, and

(i1) the date the venture issuer files, in a foreign jurisdiction, an
interim financial report for a period ending on the last day of the
interim period.

Approval of Annual and Interim Disclosure Statements

An annual disclosure statement that a reporting issuer is required to file under
section 3A.1 must be approved by the board of directors before it is filed.

An interim disclosure statement that a reporting issuer is required to file under
section 3A.3 must be approved by the board of directors before it is filed.
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For the purposes of subsection (1), the board of directors must not delegate the
approval of the annual disclosure statement.

For the purposes of subsection (2), the board of directors must not delegate the
approval of the interim disclosure statement other than to the audit committee of
the board of directors.

Delivery of Annual and Interim Disclosure Statements and Certain Other
Continuous Disclosure Documents

Subject to subsection (2), a reporting issuer must send annually a request form to
the registered holders and beneficial owners of its securities, other than debt
instruments, that the registered holders and beneficial owners may use to request
a copy of any of the following:

(a) the reporting issuer’s annual disclosure statement or annual financial
statements and related MD&A;

(b) the reporting issuer’s interim disclosure statement or interim financial
report and related MD&A;

(¢ the annual financial statements or interim financial reports filed under
section 4.7 and subsection 4.10(2).

For the purposes of subsection (1), the reporting issuer must, in accordance with
NI 54-101, send the request form to the beneficial owners of its securities who
are identified under that Instrument as having chosen to receive all securityholder
materials sent to beneficial owners of securities.

If a registered holder or beneficial owner of securities, other than debt instruments,
of a reporting issuer requests a copy of a document under paragraphs (1)(a) or (b),
the reporting issuer must send the requested document to the person or company
that made the request, without charge, on or before the later of 10 calendar days
after the reporting issuer receives the request and,

(a) in the case of a reporting issuer other than a venture issuer, 10 calendar
days after the filing deadline in subparagraphs 3A.2(a)(i) or 3A.4(a)(i),
as applicable, and

(b) in the case of a venture issuer, 10 calendar days after the filing deadline
in subparagraphs 3A.2(b)(i) or 3A.4(b)(i), as applicable.

If aregistered holder or beneficial owner of securities, other than debt instruments,
of a reporting issuer requests a copy of a document under paragraph (1)(c), the
reporting issuer must send the requested document to the person or company that
made the request, without charge, on or before the later of 10 calendar days after
the reporting issuer receives the request and,
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(a) in the case of a reporting issuer other than a venture issuer, 10 calendar
days after the filing deadline in section 4.7 or subsection 4.10(2), as
applicable, and

(b) in the case of a venture issuer, 10 calendar days after the filing deadline
in section 4.7 or subsection 4.10(2), as applicable.

5) A reporting issuer is not required to send a copy of a document under
subsections (3) and (4) if the document was filed more than one year before
the reporting issuer receives the request for the document.

(6) Subsection (1), and subsections (3) and (4) with respect to an annual disclosure
statement and annual financial statements, do not apply to a reporting issuer
that, in accordance with NI 54-101, sends its annual disclosure statement and
annual financial statements to the registered holders and beneficial owners
referred to in subsections (1), (3) and (4), within 140 days of the reporting
issuer’s financial year-end..

4. Section 4.1 is replaced with the following:

4.1 Requirement to File Audited Comparative Annual Financial Statements as
Part of an Issuer’s Annual Disclosure Statement

(1) For the purposes of paragraph 3A.1(a), and subject to subsection 4.8(6), a
reporting issuer must file annual financial statements that include the following:

(a) a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity,
and a statement of cash flows for

(1) the most recently completed financial year; and

(11) the financial year immediately preceding the most recently
completed financial year, if any;

(b) a statement of financial position as at the end of each of the periods referred
to in paragraph (a);

(c) in the following circumstances, a statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the financial year immediately preceding the most recently

completed financial year:

(1) the reporting issuer discloses in its annual financial statements an
unreserved statement of compliance with IFRS, and

(i1) the reporting issuer

(A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its
annual financial statements,

#5960547
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)

(d)

(e)

4.

(B) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its
annual financial statements, or

(C)  reclassifies items in its annual financial statements;
in the case of the reporting issuer’s first IFRS financial statements, the
opening IFRS statement of financial position at the date of transition to

IFRS;

notes to the annual financial statements.

Annual financial statements filed under subsection (1) must be audited.

If a reporting issuer presents the components of profit or loss in a separate income
statement, the separate income statement must be displayed immediately before the
statement of comprehensive income filed under subsection (1)..

Section 4.2 is repealed.

Section 4.3 is replaced with the following:

4.3

(1)

Requirement to File Interim Financial Report as Part of an Issuer's Interim
Disclosure Statement

For the purposes of paragraph 3A.3(a), and subject to subsections 4.7(4), 4.8(7),
4.8(8) and 4.10(3), a reporting issuer must file an interim financial report for each
interim period ended after it became a reporting issuer, that includes all of the
following:

(2)

(b)

(c)

a statement of financial position as at the end of the interim period and a
statement of financial position as at the end of the immediately preceding
financial year, if any;

a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity and
a statement of cash flows, all for the year-to-date interim period, and
comparative financial information for the corresponding interim period in
the immediately preceding financial year, if any;

for interim periods other than the first interim period in a reporting issuer’s
financial year, a statement of comprehensive income for the 3 month period
ending on the last day of the interim period and comparative financial
information for the corresponding period in the immediately preceding
financial year, if any;
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in the following circumstances, a statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the immediately preceding financial year:

(1) the reporting issuer discloses in its interim financial report an
unreserved statement of compliance with International Accounting
Standard 34 Interim Financial Reporting, and

(i)  the reporting issuer

(A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its interim
financial report,

(B)  makes a retrospective restatement of items in its interim
financial report, or

(C)  reclassifies items in its interim financial report;
in the case of the reporting issuer’s first interim financial report required to
be filed in the year of adopting IFRS, the opening IFRS statement of

financial position at the date of transition to IFRS; and

notes to the interim financial report.

If a reporting issuer presents the components of profit or loss in a separate income
statement, the separate income statement must be displayed immediately before the
statement of comprehensive income filed under subsection (1).

Disclosure of Auditor Review of an Interim Financial Report —

(2)

(b)

(©)

If an auditor has not performed a review of an interim financial report
required to be filed under subsection (1), the interim financial report must
be accompanied by a notice indicating that the interim financial report has
not been reviewed by an auditor.

If a reporting issuer engaged an auditor to perform a review of an interim
financial report required to be filed under subsection (1) and the auditor was
unable to complete the review, the interim financial report must be
accompanied by a notice indicating that the auditor was unable to complete
a review of the interim financial report and the reasons why the auditor was
unable to complete the review.

If an auditor has performed a review of the interim financial report required
to be filed under subsection (1) and the auditor has expressed a reservation
of opinion in the auditor’s interim review report, the interim financial report
must be accompanied by a written review report from the auditor.



#5960547

(4)

26-

SEC Issuer — Restatement of an Interim Financial Report

(a)

(b)

An SEC issuer that is a reporting issuer must comply with the requirements
in paragraph (b)

(@)

(ii)

if the SEC issuer has filed an interim financial report prepared in
accordance with Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly
accountable enterprises for one or more interim periods since its
most recently completed financial year for which annual financial
statements have been filed, and

if the SEC issuer prepares its annual financial statements or an
interim financial report for the period immediately following the
periods referred to in subparagraph (a)(i) in accordance with U.S.
GAAP.

An SEC issuer that is a reporting issuer that meets the conditions in
subparagraphs (a)(i) and (ii) must

(@)

(i)

restate the interim financial report for the periods referred to in
subparagraph (a)(i) in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and

file the restated interim financial report referred to in subparagraph
(b)(1) by the filing deadline for the financial statements referred to
in subparagraph (a)(ii)..

Sections 4.4 to 4.6 are repealed.

Section 4.7 is amended

(@)

(b)

(¢

in paragraph (2)(b) by replacing "'in section 4.2"" with "prescribed under section
3A.2 for the annual disclosure statement”’,

in paragraph (3)(b) by replacing "'in section 4.4" with "prescribed under section
3A .4 for the interim disclosure statement”’, and

in paragraph (4)(a) by replacing "'subsection 4.3(2)" with "subsection 4.3(1)"".

Section 4.8 is amended

(a)

(b)

in paragraph (1)(b) by replacing "'sections 4.2 and 4.4"" with "sections 3A.2 and
3A.4 for the annual disclosure statement and the interim disclosure statement”’,

in the following provisions by adding "prescribed under section 3A.2 or 3A.4, as
applicable” after "the filing deadline”’:

(i)

paragraph (2)(a);
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(i)  paragraph (2)(b),
(c) by replacing paragraph (3)(f) with the following:
® the filing deadlines, prescribed under sections 3A.2 and 3A.4, for the annual
disclosure statement and interim disclosure statement for the reporting
issuer’s transition year., and

(d) in paragraph (7)(a) by replacing "'subsection 4.3(2)"" with "subsection 4.3(1)".

Paragraph 4.10(3)(a) is amended by replacing "'subsection 4.3(2)" with "subsection
43(1)".

Section 5.1 is replaced with the following:

5.1 Requirement to File an MD&A as Part of an Issuer's Annual or Interim
Disclosure Statement

(1) For the purposes of paragraph 3A.1(b), a reporting issuer must file an MD&A
relating to its annual financial statements required under Part 4.

(2) For the purposes of paragraph 3A.3(b), a reporting issuer must file an MD&A
relating to its interim financial report required under Part 4.

3) Despite subsections (1) and (2), a reporting issuer is not required to file an MD&A
relating to the annual financial statements and each interim financial report required
under sections 4.7 and 4.10 for financial years and interim periods that ended before
the issuer became a reporting issuer..

Sections 5.2 to 5.7 are repealed.

Section 6.1 is replaced with the following:

6.1 Requirement to File an AIF as Part of An Issuer’s Annual Disclosure
Statement

For the purposes of paragraph 3A.1(c), a reporting issuer that is not a venture issuer
must file an AIF.

Section 6.2 is repealed.

Paragraph 9.1.1(2)(b) is amended by replacing ""which may be part of”" with ""which, for
that purpose, may be included in an annual disclosure statement or”’.

Section 11.5 is replaced with the following:

11.5 Refiling Documents
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If a reporting issuer makes one of the decisions set out below and the information
in the refiled document or restated financial information will differ materially from
the information originally filed, the issuer must immediately file and issue a news
release authorized by an executive officer disclosing the nature and substance of
the change or proposed changes:

(a) refile, in whole, a document filed under this Instrument;
(b) refile, in part, a document filed under section 3A.1 or 3A.3;

(©) restate financial information for comparative periods in financial
statements for reasons other than retrospective application of a change in
an accounting standard or policy or a new accounting standard.

If a reporting issuer refiles a document in whole under paragraph (1)(a) relating to
a previously filed annual disclosure statement or interim disclosure statement, the
document must

(a) include the following statement on the cover page:

“Amended and Restated [identify interim or annual disclosure statement]
dated [insert date of amendment], amending and restating [identify interim
or annual disclosure statement] dated [insert date of interim or annual
disclosure statement being amended].”, and

(b) include an explanatory note on its cover page that indicates the reasons for
the refiling or restatement and the locations within the document of all
information which differs materially from the information originally filed.

If a reporting issuer refiles a document in part under paragraph (1)(b), the
amendment must

(a) include the following statement on the cover page:

“Amendment no. [insert amendment number] dated [insert date of
amendment] to [identify interim or annual disclosure statement] dated
[insert date of interim or annual disclosure statement being amended] ”,
and

(b) include an explanatory note on its cover page that indicates the reasons for
the amendment.

Despite subsection (3), a reporting issuer that restates financial statements
contained in Part 1 of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement or Part 1 of
Form 51-102F2 Interim Disclosure Statement must restate the Part in whole..

Subsection 11.6(1) is amended by deleting "and that does not file an AIF that includes the
executive compensation disclosure required by Item 18 of Form 51-102F2".
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Section 12.3 is replaced with the following:

12.3

(1

2

Time for Filing of Documents

If the making of a document required to be filed under sections 12.1 and 12.2
constitutes a material change for the reporting issuer, the document must be filed
no later than the time the reporting issuer files, or is required to file, a material
change report in Form 51-102F3.

If the making of a document required to be filed under sections 12.1 and 12.2 does
not constitute a material change for the reporting issuer, and

(a) if the reporting issuer is required to file an AIF as part of the annual
disclosure statement, and

(@)

(i)

files its annual disclosure statement on or before the date on which
it is required to be filed, the document must be filed no later than the
date the reporting issuer files its annual disclosure statement, if the
document was made or adopted before that date; or

does not file its annual disclosure statement on or before the date on
which it is required to be filed, the document must be filed

(A)  no later than the date the reporting issuer is required to file
its annual disclosure statement, if the document was made or
adopted before that date, and

(B)  no later than the date the reporting issuer files its annual
disclosure statement, if the document was made or adopted
before that date and has not been previously filed under
clause (2)(a)(ii)(A); or

(b) if the reporting issuer is not required to file an AIF as part of the annual
disclosure statement, the document must be filed no later than the earlier of

(@)

(i)

120 days after the end of the reporting issuer’s most recently
completed financial year, if the document was made or adopted
before the end of the reporting issuer’s most recently completed
financial year, and

the date the reporting issuer files an AIF, if the document was made
or adopted before the end of the reporting issuer’s most recently
completed financial year..
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Section 13.2 is replaced with the following:

13.2

(1)

2)

3)

(4)

Existing Exemptions

A reporting issuer that was entitled to rely on an exemption, waiver or approval
granted to it by a regulator or securities regulatory authority relating to continuous
disclosure requirements of securities legislation or securities directions
existing immediately before this Instrument came into force is exempt from any
substantially similar provision of this Instrument to the same extent and on the same
conditions, if any, as contained in the exemption, waiver or approval.

A reporting issuer that was entitled to rely on an exemption, waiver or approval
granted to it by a regulator or securities regulatory authority relating to the
requirements to prepare, file or deliver annual financial statements, an MD&A and
an AIF, if applicable, existing immediately before the amendments on [December
15, 2023] came into force is exempt from the requirements to prepare, file or deliver
an annual disclosure statement under Part 3A to the same extent and on the same
conditions, if any, as contained in the exemption, waiver or approval.

A reporting issuer that was entitled to rely on an exemption, waiver or approval
granted to it by a regulator or securities regulatory authority relating to the
requirements to prepare, file or deliver an interim financial report and an MD&A
existing immediately before the amendments on [December 15, 2023] came into
force is exempt from the requirements to prepare, file or deliver an interim
disclosure statement under Part 3A to the same extent and on the same conditions,
if any, as contained in the exemption, waiver or approval.

A reporting issuer must, at the time that it first intends to rely on subsections (1),
(2) or (3) in connection with a filing requirement under this Instrument, inform the
securities regulatory authority in writing of

(a) the general nature of the exemption, waiver or approval and the date on
which it was granted; and

(b) the requirement under prior securities legislation or securities directions, or
prior to the amendments on [December 15, 2023] coming into force, in
respect of which the exemption, waiver or approval applied and the
substantially similar provision of this Instrument.

Section 14.2 is repealed.
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Form 51-102F1 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS is replaced with the
following form:

Form 51-102F1
ANNUAL DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

[NTD: include ADS once finalized].
Form 51-102F2 ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM is replaced with the following form:

Form 51-102F2
INTERIM DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

[NTD: include IDS once finalized].

Section 16.1 of Form 51-102F5 INFORMATION CIRCULAR is amended by replacing
""financial statements and MD&A " with "annual disclosure statement, interim disclosure
statements, annual financial statements, interim financial reports and management reports
of fund performance relating to the financial statements "’

Transition — general

24. (1) In this section, "issuer’s effective date" means, in relation to an issuer, the earlier of

2)

€)

(a) the date the issuer is required to file an annual disclosure statement for its first
financial year ending on or after [December 15, 2023], and

(b) the date, on or after [December 15, 2023], the issuer files an annual disclosure
statement or an interim disclosure statement.

The provisions of National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations, as
amended by this Instrument, do not apply to an issuer until the issuer’s effective date.

Until the issuer’s effective date, an issuer must comply with National Instrument 51-102
Continuous Disclosure Obligations as it read on [December 14, 2023].

Transition — interim disclosure statements

25.
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Despite subsection 24(2), if an issuer files an interim disclosure statement under National
Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations, as amended by this Instrument, and
the issuer has not filed an MD&A under Part 2 of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure
Statement, as enacted by this Instrument, the issuer must include in the interim disclosure
statement an MD&A prepared in accordance with Part 2 of Form 51-102F1 Annual
Disclosure Statement as enacted by this Instrument.
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Effective date

26.

#5960547

This Instrument comes into force on [December 15, 2023].
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31 Additional information
32 Additional disclosure for companies not sending information circulars

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

General Instructions Annotation Note #1
Description of proposed change

We propose to relocate and reorganize applicable general instructions for the current Form 51-
102F1 Management’s Discussion & Analysis (Current MD&A Form) and the current Form 51-
102F2 Annual Information Form (Current AIF Form) as general instructions for the annual
disclosure statement form (the Form).

Rationale

The Current MD&A Form and the Current AIF Form contain general instructions which are
applicable to the annual disclosure statement. In some cases, the instructions are duplicative.
Relocating and reorganizing these instructions as general instructions for this Form would allow
for consolidation or elimination of overlapping instructions.

(1)  Anannual disclosure statement is required to be filed annually under Part 3A of National
Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations. The annual disclosure statement
is intended to provide a comprehensive overview of your company's business, financial
performance, financial condition and cash flows.

For a reporting issuer that is not a venture issuer, the annual disclosure statement is
comprised of 3 parts:

e Part 1 — Annual financial statements

The annual financial statements required to be filed under section 4.1 of National
Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

o Part 2 — Management'’s discussion and analysis
A management'’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) relating to your company’s
annual financial statements required to be filed under sections 5.1 and 5.2 of
National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

e Part 3 — Annual information form

An annual information form (AIF) required to be filed annually under section 6.1
of National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations.
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For a reporting issuer that is a venture issuer, the annual disclosure statement is
comprised of the following parts: Part 1 and Part 2, and Part 3 if the venture issuer
voluntarily chooses to include that Part in the annual disclosure statement.

The word “company” is used in this Form for simplicity and readability of the Form.
Wherever this Form uses the word “company”, that term means an issuer, other than an
investment fund issuer, regardless of the issuer’s form of organization.

The disclosure in the annual disclosure statement is supplemented throughout the year by
continuous disclosure filings including, for greater certainty, news releases, material
change reports, business acquisition reports and interim disclosure statements. Disclose
in your company’s annual disclosure statement that additional information relating to
your company may be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

If a term is used but not defined in this Form or Part 1 of National Instrument 51-102
Continuous Disclosure Obligations, refer to National Instrument 14-101 Definitions.

This Form uses accounting terms that are defined or used in Canadian GAAP applicable
to publicly accountable enterprises.

This Form uses the term ‘‘financial condition”. Financial condition reflects the overall
health of your company and includes its financial position (as shown on the statement of
financial position) and other factors that may affect its liquidity, capital resources and
solvency.

This Form uses the term ‘‘financial performance”. Financial performance reflects the
level of performance of your company over a specified period of time, expressed in terms
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income during that period.

General Instructions Annotation Note #2 for Instruction (7)

Description of proposed change

We propose to add this instruction to provide a description of the term “financial performance”.
Rationale

This is to provide clarity for issuers when they are assessing the nature and extent of the
disclosure required by this Form.

(8)
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Your company is not required to repeat information disclosed elsewhere in the annual
disclosure statement. If disclosure in the annual disclosure statement refers explicitly or
implicitly to disclosure in another section of the annual disclosure statement, include a
reference to the other disclosure. Repeat the information disclosed in the financial
statements to which the MD&A relates if it assists with an understanding of the
information included in the MD&A.
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General Instructions Annotation Note #3 for Instruction (8)
Description of proposed change

We propose to add the second and third sentences of this instruction.
Rationale

This is to clarify that while repeating information disclosed elsewhere is not necessary, it is
important to include a reference to the other disclosure so that investors can easily locate it and
to repeat information from the financial statements in the MD&A if it assists with an
understanding of the MD&A disclosure.

9) Your company may use innovative approaches to disclosure (including, for greater
certainty, use of hyperlinks to reference a disclosure in the annual disclosure statement
and creative use of charts, tables and graphs) in a manner consistent with the
requirements of this Form and other applicable requirements of securities legislation.

General Instructions Annotation Note #4 for Instruction (9)
Description of proposed change

We propose to add this instruction and add guidance in Companion Policy 51-102CP Continuous
Disclosure Obligations (Companion Policy) regarding what we mean by “innovative”.

Rationale

This is to clarify that issuers may use innovative disclosure approaches consistent with CSA
formatting requirements (for example, while embedded video is not acceptable, hyperlinks and
creative use of charts, tables and graphs are encouraged if they assist with readability) to prepare
disclosure that reduces burden for them and is most meaningful for their business.

(10)  Your company may include a table of contents for the annual disclosure statement. The
table of contents may be a hyperlinked version.

General Instructions Annotation Note #5 for Instruction (10)
Description of proposed change

We propose to add this instruction.

Rationale

This is to encourage the use of tools to facilitate navigation, searchability and online readability.

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS FOR PART 2 AND PART 3

(11) In preparing the information required under Part 2 and Part 3 of this Form, your
company must take into account information available up to the date of filing so that the
MD&A and AIF are not misleading when filed.

(12)  Focus your company’s disclosure on material information. Your company is not required
to disclose information that is not material. You must exercise judgment when you
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determine whether information is material in respect of your company. Would a
reasonable investor’s decision whether or not to buy, sell or hold securities in your
company likely be influenced or changed if the information in question was omitted or
misstated? If so, the information is likely material.

General Instructions Annotation Note #6 for Instruction (12)
Description of proposed change

We propose to generally remove materiality qualifiers included in specific disclosure
requirements in the Current MD&A Form and the Current AIF Form such as “material”,
“significant”, “critical”, “major” and “fundamental” and have all disclosure requirements in the
annual disclosure statement subject to the qualification that issuers are to focus on material
information as set out in instruction (12). In some circumstances, we consider all disclosure
required under a particular section to be material. See for example section 24 and instruction (1)
to that section relating to cease trade orders, bankruptcies, penalties and sanctions. We propose
to retain materiality qualifiers in a disclosure requirement where the materiality qualifier is part

of a defined term (such as significant acquisition) or reflects a term used in our prospectus rules.
Rationale

Currently, there are materiality qualifiers in certain disclosure requirements in the Current
MD&A Form and the Current AIF Form, but not in others and the rationale for that is not always
clear. In addition, as noted above, there are a variety of materiality qualifiers used and it is not
always clear if the terms are to be interpreted differently. The proposed change is to reduce
uncertainty resulting from the absence of a materiality qualifier in certain requirements and the
use of a materiality qualifier other than “material” and to simplify requirements by generally
using one materiality qualifier that all disclosure requirements are subject to.

(13)  If your company has mineral projects, the disclosure must comply with National
Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects, including, for greater
certainty, the requirement that all scientific and technical disclosure be based on a
technical report or other information prepared by or under the supervision of a qualified
person.

(14) If your company has oil and gas activities, the disclosure must comply with National
Instrument 51-101 Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities.

(15)  The numbering and ordering of sections included in Part 2 and Part 3 of this Form are
intended as guidelines only. Your company is not required to include the numbering or
follow the order of sections in Part 2 or Part 3 of this Form. Your company is not
required to respond to any section in Part 2 or Part 3 of this Form that is inapplicable,
and your company may omit negative answers.

(16)  Your company may incorporate information required to be included under Part 2 or Part
3 of this Form by referencing another document filed on its SEDAR profile, other than a
prior MD&A or AIF (unless expressly permitted by this Form). If incorporating by
reference, your company must clearly identify the document or any excerpt of it in the
text that incorporates it. Unless your company has already filed under its SEDAR profile
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the referenced document or excerpt, including, for greater certainty, any documents
incorporated by reference into the document or excerpt, your company must file it with
the annual disclosure statement or standalone AlF, as applicable. Your company must
also disclose that the referenced document is on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

PART 1
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Annual financial statements

1. Include annual financial statements meeting the requirements of Part 4 of National
Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

PART 2
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MD&A Annotation Note #1
Description of proposed changes

We propose to eliminate the following requirements and instructions in the Current MD&A
Form:

o paragraph (o) Available Prior Period Information under Part 1,

o subsection 1.3(1) Selected Annual Information (i.e., financial data for the 3 most recently
completed financial years) (inclusive of instructions (i) and (ii) to section 1.3 as these
instructions relate specifically to subsection 1.3(1)),

o section 1.5 Summary of Quarterly Results (inclusive of instructions (i), (ii), (iv) and (v) to
section 1.5 as these instructions relate specifically to section 1.5),

o section 1.8 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements,

o section 1.12 Critical Accounting Estimates,

o section 1.13 Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption,

o section 1.14 Financial Instruments and Other Instruments, and

o subparagraph 1.15(b)(iii) Other MD&A Requirements (i.e., additional disclosure for
reporting issuers with significant equity investees) (see MD&A Annotation Note #23 for
further details).

Rationale

The above-noted requirements and instructions are duplicative of disclosure requirements under
the accounting standards.
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GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS FOR PART 2

1)

An MD&A under this Part is a narrative explanation, provided through the eyes of
management, of how your company performed during the period covered by the financial
statements, and of its financial condition and future prospects. The MD&A complements
your company's financial statements but does not form part of them.

The objective of the MD&A is to supplement your company’s overall financial disclosure
by giving a balanced discussion of its financial condition, financial performance and
cash flows, openly reporting bad news as well as good news. The MD&A must

(@) help investors understand what the financial statements show and do not show,
and

(b) provide information about the quality and potential variability of your company ’s
profit or loss and cash flows to assist investors in determining if past performance
will likely be indicative of future performance.

MD&A Annotation Note #2 for General Instruction (1)
Description of proposed change

We propose to add the term “cash flows” to the second paragraph of this instruction and re-
arrange the order of “financial performance and financial condition” to “financial condition,
financial performance, and cash flows”.

Rationale

This is to allow for a complete and consistent presentation of the issuer’s financial disclosure
requirements.

(@)

Date
2. (1)

)

If an acquisition is a reverse takeover, the MD&A must be based on the reverse takeover
acquirer’s financial statements.

Specify the date of the annual MD&A.

The date of the annual MD&A must be no earlier than the date of the auditor’s report on
the annual financial statements to which the annual MD&A relates.

Overall performance

3. (1)
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Provide a discussion of your company’s overall performance that is necessary to
understand your company’s business, financial condition, financial performance and cash
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flows, including why changes have occurred or expected changes have not occurred,
supported by an analysis of factors that caused these changes to occur or not to occur.

MD&A Annotation Note #3 for Section 3
Description of proposed changes

1. We propose to consolidate section 1.2 Overall Performance, subsection 1.3(2) Selected
Annual Information, section 1.4 Discussion of Operations (inclusive of instructions) and
instruction (iii) to section 1.5 Summary of Quarterly Results of the Current MD&A Form
into one section.

2. We also propose to eliminate subparagraph 1.2(b)(ii) of the Current MD&A Form
relating to disclosure where there are legal or other restrictions on the flow of funds from
one part of an issuer’s business to another.

Rationale

Proposed change #1 - Consolidation of these sections would allow for the streamlining and
elimination of duplicative requirements (i.e., an overall discussion under section 1.2, an annual
discussion under section 1.3, and a more focused discussion of current operations under section
1.4 of the Current MD&A Form). It would also allow issuers to refer to one section for overall
performance disclosure requirements.

Proposed change #2 — Subparagraph 1.2(b)(ii) of the Current MD&A Form is duplicative of
disclosure requirements under the accounting standards.

2 Describe the business of your company and its reportable segments as that term is
interpreted in the issuer’s GAAP, including

@ its lines of business, products and services and principal markets,

MD&A Annotation Note #4 for Subsection 3(2), Paragraph 3(2)(a) and Instruction (8) to
Section 3

Description of proposed change

We propose to add a requirement to provide a general description of the business, including its
lines of business, products and services and principal markets. We also propose to add
instruction (8) so that issuers concurrently filing an annual information form (AIF) will not be
required to repeat this disclosure.

Rationale

While the requirement to provide a description of the business is new for venture issuers that do
not currently file an AIF, we believe that an understanding of the issuer’s business is
fundamental to understanding the issuer’s overall performance discussion.

(b) changes in the direction of your company’s business or other subdivisions (e.g.,
geographic areas, product lines) if they have affected your company's financial
condition, financial performance and cash flows or are reasonably likely to affect
them in the future,
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(c) legal, regulatory, industry and economic factors affecting its performance or
operations, and

MD&A Annotation Note #5 for Paragraph 3(2)(c)

Description of proposed change

We propose to revise the requirement to add the words “legal” and “regulatory”.
Rationale

We are of the view that the requirement in paragraph 1.2(c) of the Current MD&A Form to
describe industry and economic factors affecting an issuer’s performance is already broad
enough to capture legal and regulatory factors. The additional language, however, would provide
clarity.

(d) known trends, demands, commitments, events, risks or uncertainties that have
affected its business, financial condition, financial performance and cash flows or
are reasonably likely to affect them in the future.

(3) Discuss and analyze the financial condition, financial performance and cash flows of
your company as a whole and for each reportable segment, for the most recently
completed financial year compared to the prior year, including

MD&A Annotation Note #6 for Subsection 3(3)
Description of proposed change

We propose to add the words “compared to the prior year” to this requirement to clarify that the
issuer’s discussion and analysis of the most recently completed year must include a comparison
to the prior year.

Rationale

This is to clarify that the MD&A must provide an explanation of how the issuer performed
during the period covered by the financial statements, including a comparison to the prior year.
The clarification is to ensure issuers focus their discussion and analysis on why a change in a
financial statement item year over year has occurred or an expected change has not occurred.

@ total revenue, including any changes caused by selling prices, volume or quantity
of goods or services being sold, or the introduction of new products or services,

(b) any other factors that caused changes in total revenue or gross profit,
(c) cost of sales,

(d) expenses,
(e) unusual or infrequent events or transactions,
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()] the effect of any discontinued operations, changes in accounting policies,
significant acquisitions or dispositions, write-offs, abandonments or other similar
actions on current operations, and

(9) changes in its profit or loss, if not otherwise included in the discussion required
by paragraphs (a) to (f).

MD&A Annotation Note #7 for Paragraph 3(3)(9)
Description of proposed change

We propose to add this requirement to discuss changes in the issuer’s profit or loss, if the
discussion is not otherwise provided under subsection 3(3).

Rationale

With the proposed removal of subsection 1.3(1) of the Current MD&A Form (i.e., selected
annual information relating to the 3 most recently completed financial years), the requirement to
specifically disclose profit or loss from continuing operations and profit or loss in total and on a
per-share and diluted per-share basis under paragraphs 1.3(1)(b) and (c) of the Current MD&A
Form would also be eliminated. The proposed requirement to discuss changes in the issuer’s
profit or loss (unless provided elsewhere) is to ensure that this important GAAP metric is
sufficiently highlighted in an issuer’s MD&A.

4) If your company has not yet generated significant revenue, has projects or business
activities that have not yet generated revenue or is changing its business model, describe
each project, business activity or group of related business activities, including

@ your company’s plan, including, for greater certainty, any significant milestones
and the status of the milestones relative to that plan,

(b) expenditures made and how these relate to anticipated timing and costs to advance
to the next milestone of the plan, and

(©) whether your company plans to expend additional funds, including an estimate of
costs and timing.

MD&A Annotation Note #8 for Subsection 3(4)
Description of proposed changes

1. We propose to revise the requirement in paragraph 1.4(d) of the Current MD&A Form to
clarify that the discussion of an issuer’s “plan” must include a discussion of any
significant milestones.

2. We propose to revise paragraph 1.4(d) of the Current MD&A Form to clarify that
“issuers that have significant projects that have not yet generated revenue” includes:

o issuers that have not yet generated significant revenue,
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o issuers that have significant projects or business activities that have not yet generated
revenue, and

o issuers changing their business model.

Rationale

Proposed change #1 - This is to clarify that a discussion of the issuer’s “plan” must also include a
discussion of significant milestones for that plan.

Proposed change #2 - While we are of the view that the existing requirement to disclose
“projects” should be viewed broadly, taking into account the issuer’s business as a whole or any
new business venture, the term “project” may be applied too narrowly as an activity that has a
beginning and end. This proposed change is to clarify our expectations, which are consistent with
comments raised in continuous disclosure reviews (CD Reviews) and CSA Staff Notice 51-355
Continuous Disclosure Review Program Activities for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2018 and
March 31, 2017 (SN 51-355) (disclosure deficiencies summarized in Appendix A of SN 51-355).

(5) For products and services that are not fully developed or if the products are not at the
commercial production stage, discuss

@ whether your company is conducting its own research and development, is
subcontracting out the research and development or is using a combination of
those methods, and

(b) to the extent not included in the disclosure required by subsection (4),

0] the timing and stage of research and development programs, and

(i) the additional steps required to reach commercial production and an
estimate of costs and timing.

MD&A Annotation Note #9 for Subsection 3(5) and Instruction (9) to Section 3
Description of proposed changes

1. We propose to relocate research and development discussion requirements in
subparagraph 5.1(1)(a)(iv) of the Current AIF Form as an MD&A requirement under this
subsection.

2. We propose to add instruction (9) to section 3 so that subsection 3(5) of this Form does

not apply to disclosure that is subject to National Instrument 43-101 Standards of
Disclosure for Mineral Projects or National Instrument 51-101 Standards of Disclosure
for Oil and Gas Activities.

Rationale

Proposed change #1 — This is for consolidation purposes as disclosure of similar information is
required in the Current MD&A Form.

Proposed change #2 — Instruction (9) clarifies that this research and development discussion is
not required for disclosure that is subject to National Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure
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for Mineral Projects or National Instrument 51-101 Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas
Activities.

(6) For resource issuers with producing mines or mines under development, describe each
mineral project on a property material to your company and identify any milestone,
including, for greater certainty, mine expansion plans, productivity improvements, plans
to develop a new deposit, or production decisions, and whether the milestone is based on
a technical report filed under National Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for
Mineral Projects.

(7 Provide a comparison in tabular form of previous disclosure of how your company was
going to use proceeds (other than working capital) from any financing, including an
explanation of variances and the impact of the variances, if any, on your company’s
ability to achieve its business objectives and milestones.

INSTRUCTIONS

) In discussing and analysing its overall performance, your company must not only
disclose the amount of the change in a financial statement item from period to period.
Your company must explain the nature and reason for the change to investors. Where the
financial statements reflect material differences from period-to-period in one or more
line items, including, for greater certainty, where material differences within a line item
offset one another, describe the underlying reasons for these material differences in
quantitative and qualitative terms. Your company must present qualitative and
quantitative disclosure to support this analysis. In providing this analysis, it may be
helpful to include a discussion of business drivers that management is utilizing in
managing the business such as production, volumes sold, square footage, occupancy
rates or number of subscribers.

MD&A Annotation Note #10 for Instruction (1) to Section 3
Description of proposed change

We propose to add this instruction to clarify that the issuer’s discussion and analysis of overall
performance:

o must be both quantitative and qualitative to support the analysis, and

o should, when helpful, present key drivers management is utilizing in managing the
business.

Rationale

These additions are to assist issuers in preparing a narrative explanation of their overall
performance. We are of the view that adding quantitative information to the narrative is
necessary to an understanding of the changes reflected in the financial statements. It also
encourages issuers that have identified key business drivers to incorporate those key business
drivers that we believe will improve understandability and usability of such disclosure. This
proposed instruction is consistent with comments raised in staff’s CD Reviews and SN 51-355 as
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well as previous publications of the CSA Staff Notice Continuous Disclosure Review Program

Activities.

(2) If your company believes that information from the face of the financial statements is
helpful to investors in understanding its overall performance discussion, your company
may present the information in a tabular form for readability. If a tabular presentation is
included, it must be accompanied by an appropriate discussion and analysis of this data.

Rationale

MD&A Annotation Note #11 for Instruction (2) to Section 3
Description of proposed change

We propose to add this instruction to provide issuers with an option to present information from
the face of the financial statements in a tabular format.

This is to encourage the use of tools to promote readability. We note that section 1.5 of the
Companion Policy provides guidance on plain language, which includes the use of charts and
tables as an example.

(3) The discussion and analysis of the financial condition, financial performance and cash
flows by reportable segment is applicable only to the extent that information for each
reportable segment is required to be disclosed under the issuer’s GAAP.

4) The following factors may be relevant for your company’s disclosure:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

(f)

(@)

(h)
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changes in customer buying patterns, including, for greater certainty, changes
due to new technologies and changes in demographics;

changes in selling practices, including, for greater certainty, changes due to new
distribution arrangements or a reorganization of a direct sales force;

changes in competition, including an assessment of your company’s resources,
strengths and weaknesses relative to those of its competitors;
the effect of exchange rates;

the effect of inflation;
changes in the relationship between costs and revenue, including, for greater
certainty, changes in costs of labour or materials, price changes or inventory

adjustments;

changes in pricing of inputs, constraints on supply, order backlog, or other input-
related matters;

changes in production capacity, including, for greater certainty, changes due to
plant closures and work stoppages;




()

(6)

(i)

)

(k)
(0

(m)

-46-

changes in volume of discounts granted to customers, volumes of returns and
allowances, excise and other taxes or other amounts reflected on a net basis
against revenue;

changes in the terms and conditions of service contracts;

progress in achieving previously announced milestones;

for resource issuers with producing mines, changes to cash flows caused by
changes in production throughput, head-grade, cut-off grade, and metallurgical
recovery, or any expectation of future changes to cash flows caused by those

factors; and

if your company has a significant equity investee, the nature of the investment and
its significance to your company.

Your company must include information for a period longer than 2 financial years if it is
helpful in explaining a trend.

For purposes of subsections (4) and (6), your company must describe each mineral
project on a property material to it by providing current information, including

(@)  project location, mineral title, and your company’s obligations to retain
its interest,

(b) mineral commodities of interest,
(©) general geological setting,
(d) exploration and drilling results to date,

(e mineral resource or reserve estimates as at the end of your company’s
financial year, and

Q) mining and processing operations.

MD&A Annotation Note #12 for Instruction (6) to Section 3
Description of proposed change

We propose to add this instruction to provide issuers with guidance on the level of disclosure
required in respect of an issuer’s mineral project on a property material to it.
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Rationale

This proposed instruction is consistent with comments raised in staff’s CD Reviews and SN 51-
355 as well as previous publications of the CSA Staff Notice Continuous Disclosure Review
Program Activities.

(7 For purposes of subsection (4), discuss factors that have affected the value of the project
such as a change in commodity prices, land use or political or environmental issues.

(8) Your company is not required to include the following under this Part if your company is
disclosing the required information under Part 3 of this Form:

(a) the description of its business and its reportable segments under subsection (2);

(b) the description of each mineral project on a property material to it under subsection

4);

(c) the discussion of its producing mines or mines under development under subsection

(6).

9) Subsection (5) does not apply to disclosure that is subject to requirements in National
Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects or National Instrument
51-101 Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities.

Fourth quarter

4. Discuss fourth quarter events or items that affected your company’s financial condition,
financial performance or cash flows, including, for greater certainty, year-end and other
adjustments, seasonal aspects of its business, discontinued operations, significant
acquisitions or dispositions and changes in the direction of its business.

MD&A Annotation Note #13 for Section 4
Description of proposed change

We propose to relocate the fourth quarter disclosure requirement (such that it is presented
directly after the overall performance disclosure requirements) and add “discontinued operations,
significant acquisitions or dispositions and changes in the direction of your business” to the listed
events and items an issuer should discuss when analyzing fourth quarter events.

Rationale

The relocation of the fourth quarter discussion requirement is to allow for a more logical flow of
the requirements.

The addition of events and items to this section is for consistency with the list of factors included
in the overall performance discussion in section 3 of this Form, which aligns with subsection
1.3(2) of the Current MD&A Form.
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Liquidity and capital resources

5. (1) The liquidity and capital resources discussion must address your company’s ability to
generate sufficient amounts of cash and cash equivalents, in the short term and the long
term, to meet existing known or reasonably likely future cash requirements, to maintain
its capacity, to meet its planned growth or to fund development activities.

MD&A Annotation Note #14 for Section 5
Description of proposed change

We propose to consolidate sections 1.6 Liquidity and 1.7 Capital Resources of the Current
MD&A Form into one section and rearrange the disclosure requirements into the following
categories:

1. cash requirements,

2. sources of funds,

3. expected fluctuations in liquidity and capital resources, and
4. management of liquidity risks.

Rationale

There are some duplicative requirements in sections 1.6 and 1.7 of the Current MD&A Form.
Given that liquidity and capital resources are integrated, and many issuers combine their
discussions of these items, consolidating and re-arranging the requirements would facilitate more
streamlined disclosures.

2 Discuss your company’s cash requirements, including, for greater certainty,

(@ its working capital requirements, including whether it has or expects to have a
working capital deficiency,

(b)  commitments, including, for greater certainty, commitments for capital
expenditures, as of the date of the financial statements,

(©) expenditures not yet committed but required to maintain its capacity, to meet its
planned growth or to fund development activities, and

(d)  the nature and purpose of the commitments and expenditures referred to in
paragraphs (b) and (c).

3) Discuss your company’s expected sources of funds available for the uses described in
subsection (2), taking into account

@ available capital resources,

(b) sources of financing arranged but not yet used, and
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(© any impact to expected sources of funds described in paragraphs (a) and (b)
resulting from any legal or practical restrictions on the ability of its subsidiaries to
transfer funds to it.

4) Discuss the expected fluctuations in your company’s liquidity and capital resources,
taking into account

@ known trends, demands, commitments, contingencies, events or uncertainties,
(b) changes in the mix and relative cost of capital resources, and

(©) statement of financial position conditions or profit or loss attributable to owners of
the parent or cash flow items that may affect its liquidity.

(5) Discuss how your company manages its liquidity risks in relation to items set out in
subsections (2) to (4), including

@) its ability to meet obligations as they become due and its plans for remedying any
deficiency in the sources of funds available for the uses described in subsection

(),

MD&A Annotation Note #15 for Paragraph 5(5)(a)
Description of proposed change

Paragraph 1.6(e) of the Current MD&A Form requires a discussion of the issuer’s ability to meet
obligations when the issuer has or expects to have a working capital deficiency and how the
issuer expects to remedy the deficiency. We propose to expand the requirement to include issuers
that have an overall deficiency in the quantity of funds available to fund cash requirements.

Rationale

Broadening the requirement to apply to issuers that have a deficiency in the sources of funds
available (versus a narrower consideration of working capital deficiency) would provide clarity
and is consistent with the requirement in paragraph 1.6(a) of the Current MD&A Form to
provide a discussion of the issuer’s ability to generate sufficient amounts of cash and cash
equivalents in the short term and the long term, to maintain the issuer’s capacity, to meet planned
growth or to fund development activities.

This proposed change is consistent with comments raised in staff’s CD Reviews where there are
concerns with an issuer’s financial condition.

(b) qualitative and quantitative disclosure of any debt covenants to which it is subject,
including, for greater certainty, actual ratios or amounts, and

#5960547



-50-

MD&A Annotation Note #16 for Paragraph 5(5)(b)
Description of proposed change

We propose to add this requirement to provide qualitative and quantitative disclosure of any debt
covenants to which the issuer is subject.

Rationale

The proposed addition is to provide clarity on staff’s expectation for disclosure related to debt
covenants.

(c) defaults or arrears or risk of defaults or arrears on

(i) distributions or dividend payments, lease payments, interest or principal
payment on debt,

(ii) debt covenants, and
(i) redemption or retraction or sinking fund payments, and

(d) how it intends to cure the default or arrears or address the risk set out in paragraph

(©)-
INSTRUCTIONS

) In discussing and analysing your company’s liquidity and capital resources, your
company must present qualitative and quantitative disclosure to support this analysis.

MD&A Annotation Note #17 for Instruction (1) to Section 5
Description of proposed change

We propose to add this instruction to clarify that the issuer’s discussion of liquidity and capital
resources must be both quantitative and qualitative to support the analysis.

Rationale

This is to clarify that quantitative information is necessary for an understanding of the changes in
liquidity and capital resources. This proposed instruction is consistent with comments raised in
staff’s CD Reviews and previous publications of the CSA Staff Notice Continuous Disclosure
Review Program Activities.

(2)  Working capital requirements are the amount of funds required by your company to meet
its short-term cash requirements, which may include funds required for working capital
obligations and those required to fund operating activities and other business-related
expenses in the short-term. Examples of working capital requirements may include
Situations where your company must maintain inventory to meet customers’ delivery
requirements or any situations involving extended payment terms.
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MD&A Annotation Note #18 for Instruction (2) to Section 5
Description of proposed change

We propose to add the first sentence of this instruction to clarify what “working capital
requirements” mean.

Rationale

This proposed addition draws on the concepts introduced in subsection 4.3(1) of Companion
Policy 41-101CP Companion Policy to National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus
Requirements (41-101CP), which provision encourages disclosure of funding of any anticipated
negative cash flow from operating activities in prospectuses. The proposed addition would
provide clarity and is consistent with comments raised in staff’s CD Reviews where concerns
arise with an issuer’s financial condition.

(3)  Indiscussing your company’s commitments, your company may include a tabular
presentation by type, including timing and amounts of payments required to meet these
commitments. The tabular presentation may be accompanied by footnotes to describe
provisions that create, increase or accelerate commitments. The disclosure must contain
all details necessary for an understanding of the timing and amount of your company’s
commitments.

MD&A Annotation Note #19 for Instruction (3) to Section 5
Description of proposed change

We propose to revise instruction (iv) to section 1.6 of the Current MD&A Form to remove the
contractual obligations table requirement for non-venture issuers and to encourage all issuers to
present their analysis of commitments in tabular form.

Rationale

The information provided in a contractual obligations table is broadly duplicative of disclosure
requirements under the accounting standards. While investors would have access to this
information in the financial statements and the proposed liquidity and capital resources
disclosure requirements, the presentation of information in tabular form would allow investors to
better understand the timing and amount required to meet specified commitments, especially for
an issuer that has a significant number of commitments. Issuers would still maintain the
flexibility to prepare the information in a manner that best presents the maturity analysis.

4) In discussing your company’s cash requirements under subsection (2), identify and
quantify exploration and development, or research and development expenditures
required to maintain properties or agreements in good standing.

(5) Capital resources are financing resources available to your company and may include
cash from operating activities, debt, equity, off-balance sheet financing arrangements
and any other financing arrangements that it reasonably considers will provide financial
resources. If your company anticipates additional funds from other sources of financing
that it has arranged but not yet used, describe whether those funds are firm or
contingent. If the funds are contingent, describe the nature of the contingency.
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MD&A Annotation Note #20 for Instruction (5) to Section 5
Description of proposed change

We propose to expand this instruction to clarify that an issuer that anticipates additional funds
from other sources of financing it has arranged but not yet used must describe whether those
funds are firm or contingent and, if the funds are contingent, describe the nature of the
contingency.

Rationale

Paragraph 1.7(c) and instruction (i) to section 1.6 of the Current MD&A Form require an
analysis of the sources of financing that the issuer has arranged but not used and a description of
the circumstances that could affect sources of funding that are reasonably likely to occur. The
proposed instruction would provide clarity on this requirement and is consistent with the
concepts in subsection 4.2(3) of 41-101CP which encourages similar disclosure in prospectuses.

(6) Examples of circumstances that may affect your company’s sources of funding include
market or commodity price changes, economic downturns, defaults on guarantees and
contractions of operations.

(7 In discussing trends or expected fluctuations in your company’s liquidity and liquidity
risks in relation to items set out in subsections (2) to (4), your company may include:

(@) provisions in debt, lease or other arrangements that could trigger an additional
funding requirement or early payment, such as provisions linked to credit rating,
profit or loss, cash flows or share price, and

(b) circumstances that could impair its ability to undertake a transaction considered
essential to operations, such as the inability to maintain an investment grade
credit rating, earnings per-share, cash flows or share price.

(8) To the extent a deficiency in the quantity of funds available to fund your company’s cash
requirements is identified, discuss how the available capital resources will be used,
explaining how it intends to meet its cash requirements and maintain operations, what
business objectives your company intends to accomplish as well as the priority of how the
capital resources will be used. If your company intends to rely on other sources of
financing in these situations, disclose that fact and an assessment of whether this
financing will continue to be available and on what terms, and the impact of raising this
amount on its liquidity, operations, capital resources and solvency.
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MD&A Annotation Note #21 for Instruction (8) to Section 5
Description of proposed change

We propose to add this instruction to clarify that if there is a deficiency in the quantity of funds
available to fund the issuer’s cash requirements, it is important to include a discussion of the
business objectives that the issuer intends to accomplish and the priority of how the capital
resources will be used to allow investors to make an informed investment decision.

Rationale

The proposed instruction is consistent with the concepts in subsection 4.2(3) of 41-101CP, which
provision encourages similar disclosure in prospectuses. It is also consistent with CD Review
comments when there are concerns with an issuer’s financial condition.

Transactions between related parties

6. (1) Discuss all transactions between related parties as defined by the issuer’s GAAP,
including both qualitative and quantitative characteristics that are necessary for an
understanding of the transaction’s business purpose and economic substance.

2 In your company’s discussion under subsection (1), include
@ the identity of the related persons or entities,
(b) the nature of the related party relationship,

(© the business purpose of the transaction,

(d) the recorded amount of the transaction and a description of the measurement basis
used, and

(e any ongoing contractual or other commitments resulting from the transaction.

MD&A Annotation Note #22 for Section 6
Description of proposed change

We propose to combine the instructions and the requirements under section 1.9 of the Current
MD&A Form into one section.

Rationale

The accounting standards have some overlap with the MD&A but do not sufficiently address all
of the MD&A requirements. A frequent observation is that issuers simply repeat the financial
statement related party note without addressing the full requirements in the MD&A. The
proposed section 6 would set out all MD&A requirements for related party transactions in one
section and provide clarity.
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Proposed transactions

7. (1) If senior management has made a decision to proceed with a proposed asset or business
acquisition or disposition, and senior management believes that confirmation of the
decision by the board of directors is probable, discuss the expected effect of the proposed
transaction on your company’s financial condition, financial performance and cash flows.

(2) For a proposed transaction identified in subsection (1), discuss the status of any required
shareholder or regulatory approvals.

INSTRUCTION
Your company is not required to disclose this information if it has filed a Form 51-102F3
Material Change Report under section 7.1 of National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure
Obligations regarding the transaction on a confidential basis and that report is confidential at
the time the annual disclosure statement is filed.
Additional disclosure for venture issuers without significant revenue
8. (1) If your company is a venture issuer that has not had significant revenue from operations
in either of its last 2 financial years, disclose, for its 2 most recently completed financial
years, a breakdown of the components of
(a) exploration and evaluation assets,
(b) exploration and evaluation expenditures,
(c) expensed research and development costs,
(d) intangible assets arising from development,

(e) general and administration expenses, and

(F) any costs, whether expensed or recognized as assets, not referred to in paragraphs (a)
through (e).

2 If your company is subject to subsection (1) and its business primarily involves mining
exploration and development, present the analysis of exploration and evaluation assets
and expenditures in paragraphs (1)(a) and (1)(b) on a property-by-property basis.

Disclosure of outstanding share data

9. (1) Disclose the designation and number or principal amount of

@ each class and series of voting or equity securities of your company for which
there are securities outstanding,
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(b) each class and series of securities of your company for which there are securities
outstanding if the securities are convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable
for, voting or equity securities of your company, and

(© subject to paragraph (b), each class and series of voting or equity securities of
your company that are issuable on the conversion, exercise or exchange of
outstanding securities of your company.

2 If the exact number or principal amount of voting or equity securities of your company
that are issuable on the conversion, exercise or exchange of outstanding securities of your
company is not determinable, disclose the maximum number or principal amount of each
class and series of voting or equity securities of your company that is issuable on the
conversion, exercise or exchange of outstanding securities of your company and, if that
maximum number or principal amount is not determinable, describe the exchange or
conversion features and the manner in which the number or principal amount of voting or
equity securities of your company will be determined.

(3)  The disclosure under subsections (1) and (2) must be prepared as of the latest practicable
date.

MD&A Annotation Note #23 for Sections 8 and 9
Description of proposed changes

1. We propose to move sections 5.3 Additional Disclosure for Venture Issuers Without
Significant Revenue and 5.4 Disclosure of Outstanding Share Data of National
Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations (NI 51-102) into sections 8 and 9
of this Form.

2. We also propose to eliminate subparagraph 1.15(b)(iii) of the Current MD&A Form that
references section 5.7 Additional Disclosure for Reporting Issuers with Significant Equity
Investees of NI 51-102.

Rationale

Proposed change #1 - Moving requirements under sections 5.3 and 5.4 of NI 51-102 into this
Form would place all MD&A disclosure requirements in one form and reduce the risk of issuers
missing a disclosure requirement that applies to them.

Proposed change #2 - This is as a result of our proposal to eliminate section 5.7 of NI 51-102,
which sets out disclosure requirements that overlap with the accounting standards.

Additional disclosure for investment entities and non-investment entities recording
investments at fair value

10. (1) If your company is an investment entity or a non-investment entity recording investments

at fair value, discuss the performance of its investments for its 2 most recently completed
financial years, including
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@) a schedule of investments, including the investee’s name, and the cost and fair
value for each investment held,

(b) changes to the composition of the investment portfolio, and

(© drivers of fair value changes by investment, including a discussion of both
unrealized and realized gains and losses.

2 If subsection (1) applies and your company has concentrated holdings, disclose
summarized financial information of the investee, including, for greater certainty, the
aggregated amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and profit or loss along with a
discussion of the results of the investee.

MD&A Annotation Note #24 for Section 10
Description of proposed change

We propose to add disclosure requirements for investment entities and non-investment entities
recording investments at fair value, similar to the disclosure requirements outlined in CSA
Multilateral Staff Notice 51-349 Report on the Review of Investment Entities and Guide for
Disclosure Improvements (SN 51-349)".

Rationale

In many jurisdictions, staff have seen an increase in the number of issuers that have determined
they are an investment entity or a non-investment entity that measure substantially all of their
investments at fair value through profit and loss. While some investment entities and non-
investment entities recording investments at fair value have provided detailed disclosures in
continuous disclosure filings, staff continue to raise comments in CD Reviews and
improvements are required in many areas to provide sufficient disclosure to investors about the
underlying investments of these issuers.

SN 51-349 was published to summarize staff’s disclosure expectations and provide guidance to
assist investment entities and non-investment entities recording investments at fair value in
meeting their continuous disclosure obligations. The concluding section of SN 51-349 outlines
that there would be a continued evaluation of the disclosure of issuers that are investment entities
and non-investment entities recording investments at fair value and the need for policy changes
would be considered if it is determined that these issuers are not providing sufficient disclosure
to their investors. The proposed disclosure requirements are consistent with the messaging in SN
51-349.

* SN 51-349 was titled “A Guide for Disclosure Improvements by Investment Entities and Non-
Investment Entities that Record Investments at Fair Value” in certain participating jurisdictions.

INSTRUCTIONS

1) In this section, “investment entity” has the same meaning as that term is defined in the
issuer’s GAAP.
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@) If a material portion of your company’s business is invested in other operating entities
and those investments are recorded on a fair value basis, your company is a “non-
investment entity recording investments at fair value .

MD&A Annotation Note #25 for Instructions (1) and (2) to Section 10
Description of proposed change

We propose to add these instructions to provide descriptions of the terms “investment entity” and
“non-investment entity recording investments at fair value”.

Rationale
See discussion in the MD&A Annotation Note #24 for section 10.

(3) The investment portfolio must be presented with sufficient disaggregation and
transparency to allow an investor to understand the characteristics of the portfolio
composition, including the associated risks and the drivers of any changes in fair value.
Your company must provide an analysis of the financial and operational trends for the
investments that led to the current determination of fair value.

4) A concentrated holding is considered to be a single investment that represents 30% or
more of the fair value of your company’s investment portfolio. In calculating the fair
value of its investment portfolio, exclude investments that are temporary and non-
strategic in nature such as cash and cash equivalents, temporary investments and
hedging derivative instruments.

Other annual MD&A requirements

11. Include in the annual MD&A disclosure required by National Instrument 52-109
Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings and, as applicable,
Form 52-109F1 Certification of Annual Filings Full Certificate, Form 52-109F1R
Certification of Refiled Annual Filings, or Form 52-109F1 - AIF Certification of Annual
Filings in Connection with Voluntarily Filed AlF.

PART 3
ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS FOR PART 3

@ An AIF is a disclosure document intended to provide material information about your
company and its business at a point in time in the context of its historical and possible
future development. The AIF describes your company, its operations and prospects, risks
and other external factors that impact your company specifically, openly reporting bad
news as well as good news.

#5960547



-58-

@) Requirements in sections 15 to 19, 26, 27, 29 and 30 and subsection 28(1) of this Part
that are applicable to “your company” apply to your company, your company’s
subsidiaries, joint ventures to which your company is a party and entities in which your
company has an investment accounted for by the equity method.

(3) If your company is a structured entity, as that term is defined in Canadian GAAP
applicable to publicly accountable enterprises, or the term equivalent to structured entity
under the issuer’s GAAP, modify the disclosure requirements in this Part to reflect the
nature of your company’s business.

AIF Annotation Note #1 for General Instruction (3)

Description of proposed change

We propose to replace “special purpose entity” in the Current AIF Form with “structured entity”.
Rationale

The prior concept and discussion of “special purpose entities” has been replaced by the concept
and discussion of “structured entities” as the latter term has superseded the former term under
Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises.

Date and Filing
12. (1) Specify the date of the AIF.

2 The date must be no earlier than the date of the auditor’s report on the financial
statements for your company’s most recently completed financial year.

3) The AIF must be dated within 10 days before the filing date.

4) Unless otherwise specified in this Part, present the information in the AIF as at the last
day of its most recently completed financial year.

INSTRUCTION

For information presented as at any date other than the last day of your company’s most recently
completed financial year, your company must specify the relevant date in the disclosure.
Corporate structure

13. (1) State your company’s full corporate name or, if your company is an unincorporated
entity, the full name under which it exists and carries on business.

2 State the statute under which your company is incorporated, continued or organized or, if

your company is an unincorporated entity, the jurisdiction of Canada or the foreign
jurisdiction under which it is established and exists.
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3) Describe the substance of any amendments to the articles or other constating or
establishing documents of your company since the date of your company’s incorporation
or formation.

INSTRUCTION
For the purposes of subsection (3), if the disclosure provided in one of your company’s prior

AlFs or prospectuses remains current, your company may incorporate by reference such
previous disclosure to satisfy this requirement.

AIF Annotation Note #2 for Instruction to Section 13
Description of proposed change

We propose to include this instruction so that issuers can refer to previous disclosure of any
amendments to the articles or other constating or establishing documents of the issuer in a prior
AIF or prospectus.

Rationale

We are of the view that the burden on issuers to reproduce the disclosure in the AlF is greater
than the benefit that investors would obtain from having the disclosure. This would reduce
burden as issuers would not have to repeat information that is already disclosed elsewhere.

Intercorporate relationships

14. (1) Describe, by way of a diagram or otherwise, the intercorporate relationships among your
company and its subsidiaries.

2 For each subsidiary, state all of the following:
@) the percentage of votes attaching to all voting securities of the subsidiary
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by your

company;

(b)  the percentage of each class of restricted securities of the subsidiary beneficially
owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by your company;

(©) where it was incorporated, continued, formed or organized.
INSTRUCTIONS

) Your company may omit disclosure about a particular subsidiary if, at your company’s
most recent financial year-end,

@ the total assets of the subsidiary do not exceed 10% of the consolidated assets of
your company, and
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(b) the revenue of the subsidiary does not exceed 10% of the consolidated revenue of
your company.

(2) The condition in

@ subparagraph (1)(a) of these instructions is not satisfied if the aggregate of all of
your company’s subsidiaries otherwise omitted under paragraph (1) of these
instructions exceed 20% of your company’s consolidated assets, and

(b) subparagraph (1)(b) of these instructions is not satisfied if the aggregate of all
your company’s subsidiaries otherwise omitted under paragraph (1) of these
instructions exceed 20% of your company’s consolidated revenue.

AIF Annotation Note #3 for Removal of General Development of the Business
Description of proposed changes

1. We propose to remove section 4.1 of the Current AIF Form which requires disclosure of
how the issuer’s business has developed over the last 3 completed financial years; and

2. We propose to remove section 4.2 of the Current AIF Form which requires disclosure of
any significant acquisitions completed during the most recently completed financial year.

Rationale

Proposed change #1 - We want to place greater emphasis on what happened to the issuer in the
most recently completed financial year. As a result, we do not think that issuers should be
required to provide a 3 year retrospective of its development.

Proposed change #2 - Significant acquisitions would be disclosed under other disclosure
requirements in NI 51-102 (e.g., Part 8 Business Acquisition Report or Part 5 MD&A).

Describe the business

15.  Describe the business of your company and its reportable segments as that term is
interpreted in the issuer’s GAAP.

INSTRUCTIONS

1) Your company’s business description must include a discussion of the following for each
reportable segment, or for your company as a whole if it has a single reportable segment:

(@) a description and summary of your company’s products and services, principal
markets, distribution methods, actual or proposed method of production or
providing services, and the status of any new product or service that has been
announced,

(b) a description of your company’s business environment, including
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(©)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
v)

-61-

the competitive conditions in your company’s principal markets and
geographic areas, including, if reasonably possible, an assessment of your
company’s competitive position,

the extent to which the business is cyclical or seasonal,

any contract upon which your company’s business is substantially
dependent,

your company's dependence upon foreign operations, and

the likely effect of any changes your company reasonably expects from
renegotiation or termination of contracts or sub-contracts;

a description of your company’s business resources, including

(i)

(i)

the sources, pricing and availability of raw materials, component parts or
finished products, and

the importance, duration and effect of identifiable intangible assets, such
as brand names, circulation lists, copyrights, franchises, licences, patents,
software, subscription lists and trademarks, on your company.

Your company’s business description must include a discussion of the following for your
company as a whole:

(@)

(b)

a description of your company’s human capital resources, including

(i)

(i)

any specialized skill and knowledge requirements and the extent to which
the skill and knowledge are available to your company, and

the number of employees as at the end of your company’s most recently
completed financial year or the average number of employees over the
year, whichever is more meaningful to understand your company's
business;

a description of

(i)

(ii)

the effects of environmental protection legislation on your company’s
operations, capital expenditures, financial performance or competitive
position for your company's most recently completed financial year and
the expected effect in future years, and

any social or environmental policies implemented by your company, such
as policies regarding your company’s relationship with the environment
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or with the communities in which it does business, or human rights
policies, and the steps your company has taken to implement them.

(c) a description of the investment policies and lending and investment restrictions
with respect to your company’s lending operations.

1.
(a)
(b)

(a)

(b)

AIF Annotation Note #4 for Section 15
Description of proposed changes

We propose to make the following changes to section 5.1 of the Current AIF Form:
relocate the content of the requirements to instructions (1) and (2) under this section, and

regroup the requirements such that certain requirements apply to each reportable
segment, or to the issuer as a whole, if it has a single reportable segment, and other
requirements apply only to the issuer as a whole.

We propose to remove the requirements in subparagraph 5.1(1)(a)(iii) and subsections
5.1(2) and 5.1(3) of the Current AIF Form to disclose (i) for the 2 most recently
completed financial years, revenue for each category of products or services that
accounted for 15% or more of total consolidated revenue, (ii) bankruptcies and similar
procedures within the 3 most recently completed financial years, and (iii) reorganizations
within the 3 most recently completed financial years.

We propose to relocate the research and development elements in subparagraph
5.1(1)(a)(iv) of the Current AIF Form to Part 2 of this Form.

Rationale
Proposed change #1 —

This would provide issuers the flexibility to determine what disclosure is applicable
under this section while at the same time retaining most of the content for instructional
purposes.

We are of the view that certain disclosure (for example, description of products and
services and business conditions) is necessary for each reportable segment as opposed to
the issuer as a whole, in order to be meaningful to investors.

Proposed change #2 - Disclosure of these events would be included in the issuer’s financial
statements, MD&A or other mandated continuous disclosure documents.

Proposed change #3 - This is for consolidation purposes as disclosure of similar information is
required in the issuer’s MD&A. See also MD&A Annotation Note #9.

Risk factors

16.
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Disclose risk factors relating to your company and its business, such as cash flow and
liquidity problems, if any, experience of management, the general risks inherent in the
business carried on by your company, environmental and health risks, reliance on
personnel, regulatory constraints, economic or political conditions and financial history
and any other matter that would be most likely to influence an investor’s decision to
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purchase securities of your company. If there is a risk that securityholders of your
company may become liable to make an additional contribution beyond the price of the
security, disclose that risk.

INSTRUCTIONS

1) Disclose the risks in order of seriousness from the most serious to the least serious.

@) A risk factor must not be de-emphasized by including, for greater certainty, excessive
caveats or conditions.

3 Consider presenting risk factor disclosure in a manner, such as the tabular form below
or any other suitable manner, that clearly identifies, for each risk factor

(@) the nature of the risk factor,
(b) its description,
()  your company’s impact/probability (i.e., its seriousness), and
(d)  your company’s risk mitigation strategy relating to it.
RISK FACTORS
Nature of Risk Description Impact / Risk Mitigation
Factor Probability Strategy
Assessment

Rationale

AIF Annotation Note #5 for Instruction (3) to Section 16
Description of proposed change

We propose to include this instruction to signal explicitly to issuers the option to provide risk
factor disclosure (including risk mitigation strategy for each risk factor) in a tabular form or
other alternative format and to clarify that the “seriousness” of a risk factor refers to an
impact/probability assessment.

The references to risk mitigation strategy and impact/probability assessment in the proposed
instruction are consistent with guidance on risk factor disclosure provided in prior CSA staff
notices including CSA Multilateral Staff Notice 51-347 Disclosure of Cyber Security Risks and
Incidents and CSA Staff Notice 51-333 Environmental Reporting Guidance, and staff
expectations generally.
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Companies with asset-backed securities outstanding

17.
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If your company had asset-backed securities outstanding that were distributed under a
prospectus, disclose the following information:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)
(€)

()

(9)

a description of any events, covenants, standards or preconditions that may
reasonably be expected to affect the timing or amount of any payments or
distributions to be made under the asset-backed securities;

for the 3 most recently completed financial years of your company or the lesser
period commencing on the first date on which your company had asset-backed
securities outstanding, financial disclosure that described the underlying pool of
financial assets servicing the asset-backed securities relating to

Q) the composition of the pool as of the end of each financial year or partial
period,

(i) profit and losses from the pool on at least an annual basis or such shorter
period as is reasonable given the nature of the underlying pool of assets,

(iii)  the payment, prepayment and collection experience of the pool on at least
an annual basis or such shorter period as is reasonable given the nature of
the underlying pool of assets,

(iv)  servicing and other administrative fees, and

(V) any variances experienced in the matters referred to in subparagraphs (i)
through (iv);

if any of the financial disclosure made in accordance with paragraph (b) has been
audited, the existence and results of the audit;

the investment parameters applicable to investments of any cash flow surpluses;

the amount of payments made during the 3 most recently completed financial
years or the lesser period commencing on the first date on which your company
had asset-backed securities outstanding, in respect of principal and interest or
capital and yield, each stated separately, on the outstanding asset-backed
securities of your company;

the occurrence of any event that has led to, or with the passage of time could lead
to, the accelerated payment of principal, interest or capital of asset-backed
securities;

the identity of any principal obligors for the outstanding asset-backed securities of
your company, the percentage of the pool of financial assets servicing the asset-
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backed securities represented by obligations of each principal obligor and whether
the principal obligor has filed an AIF in any jurisdiction or a Form 10-K or
Form 20-F in the United States.

INSTRUCTIONS

(1)

@)

(3)

Present the information required under paragraph (b) in a manner that enables an
investor to easily determine the status of the events, covenants, standards and
preconditions referred to in paragraph (a).

If the information required under paragraph (b) is not compiled specifically on the pool
of financial assets servicing the asset-backed securities, but is compiled on a larger pool
of the same assets from which the securitized assets are randomly selected so that the
performance of the larger pool is representative of the performance of the pool of
securitized assets, your company may comply with paragraph (b) by providing the
information required based on the larger pool and disclosing that it has done so.

In the case of a new company, where the pool of financial assets servicing the asset-
backed securities will be randomly selected from a larger pool of the same assets so that
the performance of the larger pool will be representative of the performance of the pool
of securitized assets to be created, your company may comply with paragraph (b) by
providing the information required based on the larger pool and disclosing that it has
done so.

Companies with mineral projects

18.

#5960547

Provide the following information for each mineral project on a property material to your
company:

€)) the title, author, and date of the most recent technical report on the property filed
in accordance with National Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for
Mineral Projects;

(b) the location of the project and means of access;

(©) the nature and extent of your company’s title to or interest in the project,
including, for greater certainty, surface rights, obligations that must be met to
retain the project, and the expiration date of claims, licences and other property
tenure rights;

(d) the terms of any royalties, overrides, back-in rights, payments or other agreements
and encumbrances to which the project is subject;

(e) to the extent known, any significant factors or risks that might affect access or
title, or the right or ability to perform work on, the property, including, for greater
certainty, permitting and environmental liabilities to which the project is subject;
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(f)

(9)
(h)

(i)
1)

(k)

(M

(m)

(n)
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to the extent known, the prior exploration and development of the property,
including, for greater certainty, the type, amount, and results of any exploration
work undertaken by previous owners, any significant historical estimates, and any
previous production on the property;

the regional, local, and property geology;

a description of significant mineralized zones encountered on the property, the
surrounding rock types and relevant geological controls, and the length, width,
depth and continuity of the mineralization together with a description of the type,
character and distribution of the mineralization;

the mineral deposit type or geological model or concepts being applied;

the nature and extent of all relevant exploration work other than drilling,
conducted by or on

behalf of your company, including a summary and interpretation of the relevant
results;

the type and extent of drilling and a summary and interpretation of all relevant
results;

a description of sampling and assaying, including

Q) sample preparation methods and quality control measures employed
before dispatch of samples to an analytical or testing laboratory,

(i) the security measures taken to ensure the validity and integrity of samples
taken,

(iii)  adescription of assaying and analytical procedures used and the
relationship, if any, of the analytical or testing laboratory to your
company, and

(iv)  quality control measures and data verification procedures, and their
results;

if mineral processing or metallurgical testing analyses have been carried out, a
description of the nature and extent of the testing and analytical procedures, and a
summary of the relevant results and, to the extent known, a description of any
processing factors or deleterious elements that could have a significant effect on
potential economic extraction;

a description of the mineral resources and mineral reserves, if any, including

() the effective date of the estimates,
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(0)

(p)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)
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the quantity and grade or quality of each category of mineral resources and
mineral reserves,

the key assumptions, parameters, and methods used to estimate the
mineral resources and mineral reserves, and

the extent to which the estimate of mineral resources and mineral reserves
may be materially affected by metallurgical, environmental, permitting,
legal, title, taxation, socio-economic, marketing, political, and other
relevant issues;

for advanced properties,

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

a description of the current or proposed mining methods, including a
summary of the relevant information used to establish the amenability or
potential amenability of the mineral resources or mineral reserves to the
proposed mining methods,

a summary of current or proposed processing methods and reasonably
available information on test or operating results relating to the
recoverability of the valuable component or commodity,

a description of the infrastructure and logistic requirements for the project,

a description of the reasonably available information on environmental,
permitting, and social or community factors related to the project,

a summary of capital and operating cost estimates, with the major
components set out in tabular form, and

an economic analysis with forecasts of annual cash flow, net present
value, internal rate of return, and payback period, unless exempted under
Instruction (1) to Item 22 of Form 43-101F1 Technical Report;

a description of your company’s current and contemplated exploration,
development, or production activities, and any milestone, including for greater
certainty, mine expansion plans, productivity improvements, plans to develop a
new deposit, or production decisions, and whether the milestone is based on a
technical report filed under National Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure
for Mineral Projects.
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INSTRUCTION

Your company may satisfy the disclosure requirements in this section for each mineral project on
a property material to your company by reproducing in the AIF the summary from the technical
report, if the summary contains all disclosure required under this section.

AIF Annotation Note #6 for Instruction to Section 18
Description of proposed change

2

We propose to add the words “if the summary contains all disclosure required under this section’
and to remove reference to having to “incorporate the detailed disclosure in the technical report
into the AIF by reference”.

Rationale

This is to clarify that a summary from the technical report may be used to satisfy the disclosure
requirements in section 18 only if the summary contains all disclosures required under section
18. This is also to clarify that the technical report is not required to be incorporated by reference.

Companies with oil and gas activities

19.  If your company is engaged in oil and gas activities, as defined in National Instrument
51-101 Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities, all of the following apply:

@ in the case of information that, for purposes of Form 51-101F1 Statement of
Reserves Data and Other Oil and Gas Information, is to be prepared as at the end
of a financial year, disclose that information as at your company’s most recently
completed financial year-end,;

(b) in the case of information that, for purposes of Form 51-101F1 Statement of
Reserves Data and Other Oil and Gas Information, is to be prepared for a
financial year, disclose that information for your company’s most recently
completed financial year;

(© include with the disclosure under paragraph (a) a report in the form of Form 51-
101F2 Report on Reserves Data by Independent Qualified Reserves Evaluator or
Auditor, on the reserves data included in the disclosure required under paragraph

(a);

(d) include with the disclosure under paragraph (a) a report in the form of Form 51-
101F3 Report of Management and Directors on Oil and Gas Disclosure that
refers to the information disclosed under paragraph (a);

(e to the extent not reflected in the information disclosed in response to paragraph
(@), disclose the information contemplated by Part 6 of National Instrument 51-
101 Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities in respect of material
changes that occurred after your company’s most recently completed financial
year-end.

#5960547
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Description of capital structure and dividends or distributions policy

20. (1) Describe your company’s capital structure. State the designation of each class of

()

(3)

#5960547

authorized securities, and describe the characteristics of each class of authorized

securities, including, for greater certainty, voting rights, provisions for exchange,
conversion, exercise, redemption and retraction, dividend rights and rights upon

dissolution or winding-up.

If there are constraints imposed on the ownership of securities of your company to ensure
that your company has a required level of Canadian ownership, describe the mechanism,

if any, by which the level of Canadian ownership of the securities is or will be monitored
and maintained.

If your company has asked for and received a credit rating, or if your company is aware
that it has received any other kind of rating, including, for greater certainty, a stability
rating or a provisional rating, from one or more credit rating organizations for securities
of your company that are outstanding, or will be outstanding, and the rating or ratings
continue in effect, disclose the following:

@) each rating received from a credit rating organization;

(b) for each rating disclosed under paragraph (a), the name of the credit rating
organization that has assigned the rating;

(© a definition or description of the category in which each credit rating organization
rated the securities and the relative rank of each rating within the organization’s
overall classification system;

(d) an explanation of what the rating addresses and what attributes, if any, of the
securities are not addressed by the rating;

(e any factors or considerations identified by the credit rating organization as giving
rise to unusual risks associated with the securities;

()] a statement that a credit rating or a stability rating is not a recommendation to
buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any
time by the credit rating organization;

(9) any announcement made by, or any proposed announcement known to your
company that is to be made by, a credit rating organization to the effect that the
organization is reviewing or intends to revise or withdraw a rating previously
assigned and required to be disclosed under this subsection.
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-70-

If payments were, or reasonably will be, made to a credit rating organization that
provided a rating described under subsection (3), state that fact and state whether any
payments were made to the credit rating organization in respect of any other service
provided to your company by the credit rating organization during the last 2 years.

Disclose your company’s current dividend or distribution policy and any intended change
in dividend or distribution policy.

INSTRUCTIONS

(1)

@)

(3)

Subsection (1) may be complied with by providing a summary of the matters referred to
in that subsection. The provisions attaching to different classes of securities are not
required to be set out in full. As part of the disclosure of the description of capital
structure, include the disclosure required under subsection 10.1(1) of National
Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

For purposes of paragraph (3)(d), there may be factors relating to a security that are not
addressed by a credit rating organization when they give a rating. For example, in the
case of cash-settled derivative instruments, factors in addition to the creditworthiness of
the issuer, such as the continued subsistence of the underlying interest, or the volatility of
the price, value or level of the underlying interest, may be reflected in the rating analysis.
Rather than being addressed in the rating itself, these factors may be described by a
credit rating organization by way of a superscript or other notation to a rating. Your
company must discuss any such attributes as required under paragraph (3)(d).

A provisional rating received before your company’s most recently completed financial
year is not required to be disclosed under this section.

1.
(a)

(b)

AIF Annotation Note #7 for Removal of Dividends and Distributions
Description of proposed changes

We propose to remove the following requirements in the Current AIF Form:

subsection 6.1(1), which requires disclosure of cash dividends or distributions declared
for the 3 most recently completed financial years; and

subsection 6.1(2), which requires disclosure of any restrictions on payment of dividends
or distributions.

We propose to relocate subsection 6.1(3) of the Current AIF Form as subsection 20(5) of
this Form.

Rationale

Proposed change #1 — Subsections 6.1(1) and (2) of the Current AIF Form are duplicative of
requirements under the accounting standards.

Proposed change #2 — We believe that the information in subsection 6.1(3) of the Current AIF
Form remains material and the relocation of the requirement is to allow for a more logical flow
of requirements.

#5960547
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Market for securities

21. (1) For each class of securities of your company that is traded or quoted on a Canadian or

)

foreign marketplace for which your company has applied for and received a listing,
identify all such marketplaces.

If a Canadian marketplace is not identified under subsection (1) in respect of a class of
securities of your company, but one or more foreign marketplaces are identified under
subsection (1) in respect of that class, identify the foreign marketplace on which the
greatest volume of trading or quotation generally occurs and provide either of the
following in respect of that class:

@ the price ranges and volume traded or quoted on a monthly basis for each month
or, if applicable, partial months of the most recently completed financial year;

(b) the address of the website or other publicly available source where the
information required under paragraph (a) can be found.

1.

#5960547

AIF Annotation Note #8 for Section 21
Description of proposed changes

With respect to subsection 21(1), we propose to

remove the requirement in subsection 8.1(1) of the Current AIF Form to identify the price
ranges and volume traded or quoted on a Canadian marketplace, and

require the identification of all Canadian and foreign marketplaces on which the issuer
has applied for and received a listing.

With respect to subsection 21(2), we propose to revise the requirements in subsections
8.1(2) and 8.1(3) of the Current AIF Form so that disclosure is only required if a
Canadian marketplace is not identified in respect of a class of securities and the issuer has
applied for and received a listing on a foreign marketplace. Canadian marketplace is not
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identified in respect of a class of securities and the issuer has applied for and received a
listing on a foreign marketplace.

3. We propose to add paragraph 21(2)(b) so that if information required under paragraph
21(2)(a) is available through a publicly available source, the issuer can identify that
source instead.

Rationale
Proposed change #1 —

o Investors would be able to locate the pricing and trading volume information easily from
the Canadian marketplaces themselves.

o Issuers are able to easily identify Canadian and foreign marketplaces on which the issuer
has applied for and received a listing and this information may be beneficial for investors
to determine where they can trade securities of the issuer.

Proposed change #2 - We are of the view that an issuer should not be required to include
disclosure for marketplaces where it has not taken formal steps to list its securities, particularly
where the issuer is unaware its securities might be traded or quoted on such marketplaces.

Proposed change # 3 - If an issuer identifies the publicly available source, investors would be
able to access this information themselves.

AIF Annotation Note #9 for Removal of Prior Sales
Description of proposed change

We propose to remove section 8.2 Prior Sales of the Current AIF Form, which requires
disclosure of prior sales of securities of the issuer during the most recently completed financial
year.

Rationale

This information is typically available in other disclosure made by the issuer, such as the MD&A
or publicly available Form 45-106F1 Report of Exempt Distribution, where the issuer has filed
such forms in connection with private placements.

Escrowed securities and securities subject to contractual restriction on transfer

22. (1) State, in substantially the following tabular form, the number of securities of each class of
your company held, to your company’s knowledge, in escrow or that are subject to a
contractual restriction on transfer, and the percentage that number represents of the
outstanding securities of that class for your company’s most recently completed financial
year.

#5960547
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ESCROWED SECURITIES AND SECURITIES SUBJECT
TO CONTRACTUAL RESTRICTION ON TRANSFER

Designation of class Number of securities held in Percentage of class
escrow or that are subject to a
contractual restriction on
transfer

In a note to the table, disclose the name of the depository, if any, and the date of and
conditions governing the release of the securities from escrow or the date the contractual
restriction on transfer ends, as applicable.

INSTRUCTIONS

1)

(2)

For the purposes of this section, “escrow ” includes securities subject to a pooling
agreement.

For the purposes of this section, information in respect of securities subject to
contractual restrictions on transfer as a result of pledges made to lenders is not required
to be disclosed.

Directors and executive officers — general

23. (1) List the name, province or state, and country of residence of each director and executive

)

(3)

(4)
()
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officer of your company and indicate their respective positions and offices held with your
company and their respective principal occupations during the 5 years before the date of
the AlIF.

State the period or periods during which each director has served as a director and when
his or her term of office will expire.

State the number and percentage of securities of each class of voting securities of your
company or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly
or indirectly, by all directors and executive officers of your company as a group.

Identify the members of each committee of the board.
If the principal occupation of a director or executive officer of your company is acting as

an officer of a person or company other than your company, disclose that fact and state
the principal business of the person or company.
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INSTRUCTION

For the purposes of subsection (3), securities of subsidiaries of your company that are
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by directors or executive
officers through ownership, or control or direction, directly or indirectly, over securities of your
company, are not required to be included.

Cease trade orders, bankruptcies, penalties or sanctions

24. (1) If a director or executive officer of your company is, as at the date of the AIF, or was

()

3)
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within 10 years before the date of the AlF, a director, chief executive officer or chief
financial officer of any company (including, for greater certainty, your company) that
was subject to any of the following, state that fact and describe the basis on which the
order was made and whether the order is still in effect:

@) an order that was issued while the director or executive officer was acting in the
capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer;

(b) an order that was issued after the director or executive officer ceased to be a
director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from
an event that occurred while that person was acting in the capacity as director,
chief executive officer or chief financial officer.

For the purposes of subsection (1), “order” means any of the following:
(@) a cease trade order;
(b) an order similar to a cease trade order;

(©) an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under
securities legislation, that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive
days.

State if any of the following apply to a director or executive officer of your company, or a
shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of your company to affect
materially the control of your company:

@ the person is, as at the date of the AIF, or has been within the 10 years before the
date of the AIF, a director or executive officer of any company (including, for
greater certainty, your company) that, while that person was acting in that
capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became
bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or
insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or
compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee
appointed to hold its assets;
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(b) the person or company has, within the 10 years before the date of the AlF,
become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or
insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or
compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee
appointed to hold the assets of the director, executive officer or shareholder.

4) Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which they were
imposed, or the terms of the settlement agreement and the circumstances that gave rise to
the settlement agreement, if a director or executive officer of your company, or a
shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of your company to affect
materially the control of your company, has been subject to any:

@ penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a
securities regulatory authority or has, within the 10 years before the date of the
AIF, entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory authority and

AIF Annotation Note #10 for Paragraph 24(4)(a)
Description of proposed change

We propose to revise paragraph 10.2(2)(a) of the Current AIF Form and delete subsection
10.2(3) of the Current AIF Form in order to reduce the look back relating to the requirement to
disclose any settlement agreements entered into with a securities regulatory authority by
directors, officers or significant shareholders to a 10-year period.

Rationale

We are of the view that the cost of disclosing settlement agreements entered into with a securities
regulatory authority by directors, officers or significant shareholders which dates back more than
10 years may outweigh the benefits investors will obtain from the information.

(b) other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would
likely be considered material to a reasonable investor in making an investment
decision.

INSTRUCTIONS

1) Your company must disclose all individual cease trade orders and bankruptcies required
under subsections (1) and (3), and all penalties, sanctions and settlement agreements
required under paragraph (4)(a), because they are material.

2 The disclosure required under subsections (1), (3) and (4) also applies to any personal
holding companies of any of the persons referred to in subsections (1), (3) and (4).

(3) A management cease trade order which applies to directors or executive officers of a
company is an “order” for the purposes of paragraph (1)(a) and must be disclosed,
whether or not the director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer was named in
the order.

#5960547
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4) Paragraph (1)(a) applies only if the director or executive officer was a director, chief
executive officer or chief financial officer when the order was issued against the
company. Your company is not required to provide disclosure if the director or executive
officer became a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer after the order
was issued.

(5) A late filing fee, such as a filing fee that applies to the late filing of an insider report, is
not considered to be a “penalty or sanction”.

Promoters

25. For a person or company that has been, within the 2 most recently completed financial
years or during the current financial year, a promoter of your company or of a subsidiary
of your company, state

@) the person or company’s name, and

(b) the number and percentage of each class of voting securities and equity securities
of your company or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, or controlled or
directed, directly or indirectly.

Legal proceedings

26. (1) Describe any legal proceedings your company is or was a party to, or that any of its
property is or was the subject of, during your company’s most recently completed
financial year.

2) Describe any such legal proceedings your company knows to be contemplated.

3) For each proceeding described under subsections (1) and (2), include the name of the
court or agency, the date instituted, the principal parties to the proceeding, the nature of
the claim, the amount claimed, if any, whether the proceeding is being contested, and the
present status of the proceeding.

INSTRUCTION

Your company is not required to include information with respect to any proceeding that
involves a claim for damages if the amount involved, exclusive of interest and costs, does not
exceed 10% of the current assets of your company. However, if any proceeding presents in large
degree the same legal and factual issues as other proceedings pending or known to be
contemplated, your company must include the amount involved in the other proceedings in
computing the percentage.

#5960547
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Regulatory actions

217.

Describe any

@ penalties or sanctions imposed against your company by a court relating to
securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority during your financial
year,

(b) other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body against your
company, and

(© settlement agreements your company entered into before a court relating to
securities legislation or with a securities regulatory authority during your financial
year.

INSTRUCTIONS

(1)

@)

Your company must disclose all penalties, sanctions and settlement agreements required
under paragraphs (a) and (c), because they are material.

A late filing fee, such as a filing fee that applies to the late filing of an insider report, is
not considered to be a “penalty or sanction”.

Interest of management, promoters and others in transactions and other conflicts of
interest

28. (1) Describe, and state the approximate amount of, any interest, direct or indirect, of any of

(2)

©)
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the following persons or companies in any transaction within the 3 most recently
completed financial years or during the current financial year that has affected or is
reasonably expected to affect your company:

€)) a director or executive officer of your company;

(b) a person or company that beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or
indirectly, more than 10 % of any class or series of your outstanding voting
securities;

(©) an associate or affiliate of any of the persons or companies referred to in
paragraph (a) or (b).

For any transaction identified under subsection (1), provide a brief description of the
transaction that includes the name of each person or company whose interest in the
transaction is described and the nature of the relationship to your company.

For any transaction identified under subsection (1) involving the purchase or sale of
assets by or to your company or a subsidiary of your company, state the cost of the assets
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to the purchaser, and the cost of the assets to the seller if acquired by the seller within 3
years before the transaction.

Unless disclosed under subsection (1), disclose particulars of existing or potential
conflicts of interest between your company or a subsidiary of your company and any
director or officer of your company or of a subsidiary of your company.

For each promoter identified under section 25, state the following:

@) the nature and amount of anything of value, including, for greater certainty,
money, property, contracts, options or rights of any kind received or to be
received by the promoter directly or indirectly from your company or from a
subsidiary of your company, and the nature and amount of any assets, services or
other consideration received or to be received by your company or a subsidiary of
your company in return;

(b) for an asset acquired within the 2 most recently completed financial years or
during the current financial year, or an asset to be acquired, by your company or
by a subsidiary of your company from a promoter

Q) the consideration paid or to be paid for the asset and the method by which
the consideration has been or will be determined,

(i) the person or company making the determination referred to in
subparagraph (i) and the person or company’s relationship with your
company, the promoter, or an associate or affiliate of your company or of
the promoter, and

(iii)  the date at which the asset was acquired by the promoter and the cost of
the asset to the promoter.

INSTRUCTIONS

(1)

)

(3)
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For purposes of subsection (1), the materiality of the interest is to be determined in light
of all the circumstances of the particular case, including, for greater certainty, the
amount and the percentage of the interest, the relationship of the parties to the
transaction with each other and the value of the transaction.

Section 28 does not apply to any interest arising from the ownership of securities of your
company if the securityholder receives no extra or special benefit or advantage not
shared on an equal basis by all other holders of the same class of securities or all other
holders of the same class of securities who are resident in Canada.

Your company is not required to include information under this section for a transaction
if any of the following apply:
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(@) the rates or charges involved in the transaction are fixed by law or determined by
competitive bids;

(b) the interest of a specified person or company in the transaction is solely that of a
director of another ~ company that is a party to the transaction;

(c) the transaction involves services as a bank or other depository of funds, a transfer
agent, registrar, trustee under a trust indenture or other similar services;

(@ the transaction does not involve remuneration for services and the interest of the
specified person or company arose from the beneficial ownership, for greater
certainty, direct or indirect, of less than 10% of any class of equity securities of
another company that is party to the transaction and the transaction is in the
ordinary course of business of your company or your company’s subsidiaries.

4) For the purposes of subsection (2), your company must describe all transactions not
excluded by instruction (3) that involve remuneration (including, for greater certainty, an
issuance of securities), directly or indirectly, to any of the specified persons or companies
for services in any capacity unless the interest of the person or company arises solely
from the beneficial ownership, for greater certainty, direct or indirect, of less than 10%
of any class of equity securities of another company furnishing the services to your
company or your company’s subsidiaries.

AIF Annotation Note #11 for Section 28
Description of proposed change
We propose to combine the following sections of the Current AIF Form into one section:

o section 10.3 Conflicts of Interest

o section 11.1 Promoters

o section 13.1 Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions and instruction
(iii) to section 13.1

Rationale

This is to address, on a centralized basis, all relevant actual or potential self-dealing and conflict
matters involving the issuer, its management, its promoters and others.

AIF Annotation Note #12 for Removal of Transfer Agents and Registrars
Description of proposed change

We propose to remove Item 14 Transfer Agents and Registrars of the Current AIF Form, which
requires disclosure of the issuer’s transfer agents, registrars and the location of the registers of
transfers.
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Rationale

This information is already required to be disclosed in each issuer’s SEDAR profile. We also
note that transfer agent and share registry services are almost always provided by one entity (i.e.,
the “transfer agent”).

Material contracts
29. (1) Give particulars of the following:

@ any material contract required to be filed under section 12.2 of the National
Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations at the time this AIF is
filed, as required under section 12.3 of that Instrument;

(b) any material contract that would be required to be filed under section 12.2 of the
National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations at the time this
AIF is filed, as required under section 12.3 of that Instrument, but for the fact that
it was previously filed.

(2)  Present a complete list of all contracts for which particulars must be given in accordance
with this section, indicating where the particulars are disclosed.

INSTRUCTIONS

1) Your company must give particulars of any material contract that was entered into within
the last financial year or before the last financial year if the contract is still in effect, and
that is required to be filed under section 12.2 of National Instrument 51-102 Continuous
Disclosure Obligations or would be required to be filed under section 12.2 of that
Instrument but for the fact that it was previously filed. For the purposes of paragraph
(1)(b), if those particulars have been provided in one of your company’s prior AIFS or
prospectuses and remain current, your company may incorporate by reference that
previous disclosure to satisfy this requirement.

AIF Annotation Note #13 for Instruction (1) to Section 29
Description of proposed change

We propose to add the last sentence of this instruction so that issuers can incorporate by
reference material contract particulars if they have been provided in a previous AlF or prospectus
of the issuer and such disclosure remains current.

Rationale

This would reduce burden as issuers would not have to repeat information that is already
disclosed elsewhere.

2 Particulars of contracts must include the dates of, parties to, consideration provided for
in, and general nature and terms of, the contracts.
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Interests of experts

30. (1) Name each person or company

()

3)

@ who is named as having prepared or certified a report, valuation, statement or
opinion described or included in a filing, or referred to in a filing, made under
National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations by your company
during, or relating to, your company’s most recently completed financial year, and

(b) whose profession or business gives authority to the report, valuation, statement or
opinion made by the person or company.

Disclose all of the following registered or beneficial interests, for greater certainty, direct
or indirect, in any securities or other property of your company or of one of your
associates or affiliates:

@ registered or beneficial interests held by an expert named under subsection (1)
and, if the expert is not an individual, by the designated professionals of that
expert, when that expert prepared the report, valuation, statement or opinion
referred to in paragraph (1)(a);

(b) registered or beneficial interests received by an expert named under subsection (1)
and, if the expert is not an individual, by the designated professionals of that
expert, after the time specified in paragraph (2)(a);

(© registered or beneficial interests to be received by an expert named under
subsection (1) and, if the expert is not an individual, by the designated
professionals of that expert.

If a person or a director, officer or employee of a person or company referred to in
subsection (2) is or is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, officer
or employee of your company or of any associate or affiliate of your company, disclose
the fact or expectation.

INSTRUCTIONS

1)

)
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Subsection (2) does not apply to

@ auditors of a business acquired by your company provided they have not been or
will not be appointed as your company’s auditor subsequent to the acquisition, and

(b)  your company’s predecessor auditors, if any, for periods when they were not your
company’s auditor.

Subsection (2) does not apply to registered or beneficial interests, for greater certainty,
direct or indirect, held through mutual funds.
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(3) For the purposes of subsection (2), a “designated professional” means, in relation to an
expert named under subsection (1),

(@) each partner, employee or consultant of the expert who participated in and who
was in a position to directly influence the preparation of the report, valuation,
statement or opinion referred to in paragraph (1)(a), and

(b) each partner, employee or consultant of the expert who was, at any time during the
preparation of the report, valuation, statement or opinion referred to in paragraph
(1)(a), in a position to directly influence the outcome of the preparation of the
report, valuation, statement or opinion, including, for greater certainty,

() any person who recommends the compensation of, or who provides direct
supervisory, management or other oversight of, the partner, employee or
consultant in the performance of the preparation of the report, valuation,
statement or opinion referred to in paragraph (1)(a), including, for greater
certainty, those at all successively senior levels through to the expert's chief
executive officer,

(i) any person who provides consultation regarding technical or industry-
specific issues, transactions or events for the preparation of the report,
valuation, statement or opinion referred to in paragraph (1)(a), and

(i) any person who provides quality control for the preparation of the report,
valuation, statement or opinion referred to in paragraph (1)(a).

4) For the purposes of subsection (2), if the person’s or company'’s interest in the securities
represents less than 1% of your company ’s outstanding securities of the same class, a
general statement to that effect is sufficient.

(5) Despite subsection (2), an auditor who is independent in accordance with the auditor's
rules of professional conduct in a jurisdiction of Canada or who has performed an audit
in accordance with U.S. PCAOB GAAS or U.S. AICPA GAAS is not required to provide
the disclosure required under subsection (2) if there is disclosure that the auditor is
independent in accordance with the auditor's rules of professional conduct in a
jurisdiction of Canada or that the auditor has complied with the SEC's rules on auditor
independence.

AIF Annotation Note #14 for Instructions (3), (4) and (5) to Section 30
Description of proposed change

We propose to relocate subsections 16.2(1.1), 16.2(2) and 16.2(2.1) of the Current AIF Form to
instructions (3), (4) and (5).

Rationale

We are of the view that these items are more in the nature of instructions rather than substantive
requirements.
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Additional information

31. If your company is required to distribute a Form 51-102F5 Information Circular to any of
its securityholders, include a statement that additional information, including, for greater
certainty, directors’ and officers’ remuneration and indebtedness, directors’ principal
occupation, principal holders of your company’s securities and securities authorized for
issuance under equity compensation plans, as applicable, is contained in your company’s
information circular for its most recent annual meeting of securityholders that involved
the election of directors.

INSTRUCTION

If your company is not a venture issuer you must provide additional information in its AIF as set
out in Form 52-110F1 Audit Committee Information Required in an Annual Information Form.

Additional disclosure for companies not sending information circulars
32.  If either of the following applies to your company, disclose in the AIF the information
required under Items 6, 7, 9, 10, 12 and 13 of Form 51-102F5 Information Circular, as

modified below:

(a) your company is not required to send a Form 51-102F5 Information Circular to
any of its securityholders;

(b)  your company is required to send a Form 51-102F5 Information Circular to its

securityholders but has not filed such document within the past 12 months of the
date of the AIF.
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Modification

Item 6 - Voting Securities
and Principal Holders of
Voting Securities

Item 7 — Election of
Directors

Item 9 — Securities
Authorized for Issuance
under Equity
Compensation Plans

Item 10 — Indebtedness of
Directors and Executive
Officers

Item 12 — Appointment of
Auditor

Include the disclosure specified in section 6.1 without
regard to the phrase “entitled to be voted at the meeting”.
Do not include the disclosure specified in sections 6.2,
6.3 and 6.4. Include the disclosure specified in section
6.5.

Disregard the preamble of section 7.1. Include the
disclosure specified in section 7.1 without regard to the
word “proposed” throughout. Do not include the
disclosure specified in section 7.3.

Disregard subsection 9.1(1).

Include the disclosure specified throughout; however,
replace the phrase “date of the information circular” with
“date of the AIF” throughout. Disregard paragraph
10.3(a).

Name the auditor. If the auditor was first appointed
within the last 5 years, state the date when the auditor
was first appointed.

AIF Annotation Note #15 for Section 32
Description of proposed change

We propose to remove the requirement to disclose executive compensation under Item 8 of Form
51-102F5 Information Circular.

Rationale

This requirement is duplicative. For issuers that are required to send an information circular but
have not yet done so, this information is required under subsection 9.3.1(2.2) of NI 51-102. For
issuers that are not required to send an information circular, this information is required under

section 11.6 of NI 51-102.
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Modification

Item 6 - Voting Securities
and Principal Holders of
Voting Securities

Item 7 — Election of
Directors

Item 9 — Securities
Authorized for Issuance
under Equity
Compensation Plans

Item 10 — Indebtedness of
Directors and Executive
Officers

Item 12 — Appointment of
Auditor

Include the disclosure specified in section 6.1 without
regard to the phrase “entitled to be voted at the meeting”.
Do not include the disclosure specified in sections 6.2,
6.3 and 6.4. Include the disclosure specified in section
6.5.

Disregard the preamble of section 7.1. Include the
disclosure specified in section 7.1 without regard to the
word “proposed” throughout. Do not include the
disclosure specified in section 7.3.

Disregard subsection 9.1(1).

Include the disclosure specified throughout; however,
replace the phrase “date of the information circular” with
“date of the AIF” throughout. Disregard paragraph
10.3(a).

Name the auditor. If the auditor was first appointed
within the last 5 years, state the date when the auditor
was first appointed.

Rationale

AIF Annotation Note #15 for Section 32
Description of proposed change

We propose to remove the requirement to disclose executive compensation under Item 8 of Form
51-102F5 Information Circular.

This requirement is duplicative. For issuers that are required to send an information circular but
have not yet done so, this information is required under subsection 9.3.1(2.2) of NI 51-102. For
issuers that are not required to send an information circular, this information is required under

section 11.6 of NI 51-102.
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ANNEX C
PROPOSED ANNOTATED FORM 51-102F2 INTERIM DISCLOSURE STATEMENT
TABLE OF CONTENTS
GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS
PART 1 INTERIM FINANCIAL REPORT
1 Interim financial report
PART 2 MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
2 Date
3 Interim MD&A
4 Quarterly highlights
5

Other interim MD&A requirements

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

General Instructions Annotation Note #1
Description of proposed change

We propose to relocate and reorganize applicable general instructions for the current Form 51-
102F1 Management’s Discussion & Analysis (Current MD&A Form) and the current Form 51-
102F2 Annual Information Form (Current AIF Form) as general instructions for the interim
disclosure statement form (the Form).

Rationale

The Current MD&A Form and the Current AIF Form contain general instructions which are
applicable to the interim disclosure statement. In some cases, the instructions are duplicative.
Relocating and reorganizing these instructions as general instructions for this Form would allow
for the consolidation or elimination of overlapping instructions.

(1) An interim disclosure statement is required to be filed for each interim period under Part
34 of National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations. The interim
disclosure statement is intended to provide a comprehensive overview of changes and
updates in your company's business, financial performance, financial condition and cash
flows since the end of the last annual reporting period.
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The interim disclosure statement is comprised of 2 parts:
e Part I — Interim financial report

An interim financial report required to be filed under section 4.3 of National
Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

e Part 2 — Management’s discussion and analysis

A management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) relating to your company’s
interim financial report required to be filed under sections 5.1 and 5.2 of National
Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

The word “company” is used in this Form for simplicity and readability of the Form.
Wherever this Form uses the word “company”, that term means an issuer, other than an
investment fund issuer, regardless of the issuer’s form of organization.

The disclosure in the interim disclosure statement is supplemented throughout the year by
continuous disclosure filings including, for greater certainty, news releases, material
change reports and business acquisition reports. Disclose in your company’s interim
disclosure statement that additional information relating to your company may be found
on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

If a term is used but not defined in this Form or Part 1 of National Instrument 51-102
Continuous Disclosure Obligations, refer to National Instrument 14-101 Definitions.

This Form uses accounting terms that are defined or used in Canadian GAAP applicable
to publicly accountable enterprises.

This Form uses the term ‘‘financial condition”. Financial condition reflects the overall
health of your company and includes its financial position (as shown on the statement of
financial position) and other factors that may affect its liquidity, capital resources and
solvency.

This Form uses the term “financial performance”. Financial performance reflects the
level of performance of your company over a specified period of time, expressed in terms
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income during that period.
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General Instructions Annotation Note #2 for Instruction (7)

Description of proposed change

We propose to add this instruction to provide a description of the term “financial performance”.
Rationale

This is to provide clarity for issuers when they are assessing the nature and extent of the
disclosure required by this Form.

(8) Your company is not required to repeat information disclosed elsewhere in the interim
disclosure statement. If disclosure in the interim disclosure statement refers explicitly or
implicitly to disclosure in another section of the interim disclosure statement, include a
reference to the other disclosure. Repeat the information disclosed in the financial
statements to which the MD&A relates if it assists with an understanding of the
information included in the MD&A.

General Instructions Annotation Note #3 for Instruction (8)

Description of proposed change

We propose to add the second and third sentences of this instruction.

Rationale

This is to clarify that while repeating information disclosed elsewhere is not necessary, it is
important to include a reference to the other disclosure so that investors can easily locate it and

to repeat information from the financial statements in the MD&A if it assists with an
understanding of the MD&A disclosure.

9) Your company may use innovative approaches to disclosure (including, for greater
certainty, use of hyperlinks to reference a disclosure in the interim disclosure statement
and creative use of charts, tables and graphs) in a manner consistent with the
requirements of this Form and other applicable requirements of securities legislation.

General Instructions Annotation Note #4 for Instruction (9)
Description of proposed change

We propose to add this instruction and add guidance in Companion Policy 51-102CP Continuous
Disclosure Obligations (Companion Policy) regarding what we mean by “innovative”.

#5960547



-89-

Rationale

This is to clarify that issuers may use innovative disclosure approaches consistent with CSA
formatting requirements (for example, while embedded video is not acceptable, hyperlinks and
creative use of charts, tables and graphs are encouraged if they assist with readability) to prepare
disclosure that reduces burden for them and is most meaningful for their business.

(10)  Your company may include a table of contents for the interim disclosure statement. The
table of contents may be a hyperlinked version.

General Instructions Annotation Note #5 for Instruction (10)
Description of proposed change
We propose to add this instruction.

Rationale

This is to encourage the use of tools to facilitate navigation, searchability and online readability.

PART 1
INTERIM FINANCIAL REPORT

Interim financial report

1. Include an interim financial report meeting the requirements of Part 4 of National
Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

PART 2
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS FOR PART 2

(1) An MD&A under this Part is a narrative explanation, provided through the eyes of
management, of how your company performed during the period covered by the financial
statements and of its financial condition and future prospects. The MD&A complements
your company's financial statements, but does not form part of them.

The objective of the MD&A is to supplement your company’s overall financial disclosure
by giving a balanced discussion of its financial condition, financial performance and

cash flows, openly reporting bad news as well as good news. The MD&A must

(a) help investors understand what the financial statements show and do not show,
and
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(b)  provide information about the quality and potential variability of your company’s
profit or loss and cash flows to assist investors in determining if past performance
will likely be indicative of future performance.

MD&A Annotation Note #1 for General Instruction (1)

Description of proposed change

We propose to add the term “cash flows” to the second paragraph of this instruction and re-
arrange the order of “financial performance and financial condition” to “financial condition,

financial performance, and cash flows”.

Rationale

This is to allow for a complete and consistent presentation of the issuer’s financial disclosure
requirements.

(2) In preparing the information required under Part 2 of this Form, your company must
take into account information available up to the date of filing so that the MD&A is not
misleading when filed.

(3) Focus your company’s disclosure on material information. Your company is not required

to disclose information that is not material. You must exercise judgment when you
determine whether information is material in respect of your company. Would a
reasonable investor’s decision whether or not to buy, sell or hold securities in your
company likely be influenced or changed if the information in question was omitted or
misstated? If so, the information is likely material.

Annotation Note #2 for Instruction (3)
Description of proposed change

We propose to generally remove materiality qualifiers included in specific disclosure
requirements in the Current MD&A Form and the Current AIF Form such as “material”,
“significant”, “critical”, “major” and “fundamental” and have all disclosure requirements in the
interim disclosure statement subject to the qualification that issuers are to focus on material
information as set out in instruction (3). We propose to retain materiality qualifiers in a
disclosure requirement where the materiality qualifier is part of a defined term (such as

significant acquisition) or reflects a term used in our prospectus rules.
Rationale

Currently, there are materiality qualifiers in certain disclosure requirements in the Current
MD&A Form and the Current AIF Form, but not in others and the rationale for that is not always
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clear. In addition, as noted above, there are a variety of materiality qualifiers used and it is not
always clear if the terms are to be interpreted differently. The proposed change is to reduce
uncertainty resulting from the absence of a materiality qualifier in certain requirements and the
use of a materiality qualifier other than “material” and to simplify requirements by generally
using one materiality qualifier that all disclosure requirements are subject to.

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

Date

2.

If your company has mineral projects, the disclosure must comply with National
Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects, including, for greater
certainty, the requirement that all scientific and technical disclosure be based on a
technical report or other information prepared by or under the supervision of a qualified
person.

If your company has oil and gas activities, the disclosure must comply with National
Instrument 51-101 Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities.

The numbering and ordering of sections included in Part 2 of this Form are intended as
guidelines only. Your company is not required to include the numbering or follow the
order of sections in Part 2 of this Form. Your company is not required to respond to any
section in Part 2 of this Form that is inapplicable, and your company may omit negative
answers.

Your company may incorporate information required to be included under Part 2 of this
Form by referencing another document filed on its SEDAR profile, other than a prior
MD&A. If incorporating by reference, your company must clearly identify the document
or any excerpt of it in the text that incorporates it. Unless your company has already filed
under its SEDAR profile the referenced document or excerpt, including, for greater
certainty, any documents incorporated by reference into the document or excerpt, your
company must file it with the interim disclosure statement. Your company must also
disclose that the referenced document is on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

If an acquisition is a reverse takeover, the MD&A must be based on the reverse takeover
acquirer’s financial statements.

Specity the date of the interim MD&A.

Interim MD&A

3.(1) The interim MD&A must update the annual MD&A for all disclosure required under Part

2
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2 of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement.
The disclosure in the interim MD&A must include

(a) a discussion and analysis of
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(1) your company’s current quarter and year-to-date results, including, for
greater certainty, a comparison of financial performance to the
corresponding periods in the previous year,

(i1) a comparison of your company’s cash flows to the corresponding period in
the previous year,

(ii1)  changes in your company’s financial condition, financial performance and
cash flows, that are not related to ongoing business operations, and

MD&A Annotation Note #3 for Subparagraph 3(2)(a)(iii)

Description of proposed change

We propose to add the words “financial condition” and “cash flows” to this requirement.
Rationale

This is to allow for a complete and consistent presentation of the issuer’s financial disclosure
requirements.

€)

“
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(iv)  any seasonal aspects of your company’s business that affect its financial
position, financial performance or cash flows, and

(b) a comparison of your company’s interim financial condition to its financial
condition as at its most recently completed financial year-end.

Despite subparagraph (2)(a)(i), your company is not required to include the comparison
of the financial performance of your company’s current quarter results to the
corresponding period in the previous year if your company’s discussion and analysis of
the current quarter results includes a comparison of financial performance to the
immediately preceding quarter and that comparison is suitable for comparative purposes.

If the alternative comparison referred to in subsection (3) is used, provide
(a) in the MD&A,

(1) summary financial information for the immediately preceding quarter or
include a reference to the location of that information, and

(1) a discussion of the reasons for using the alternative comparison or include a

reference to the location of that information, and

(b) comparisons to the immediately preceding quarter and the corresponding period in
the previous year when the alternative comparison is first used.
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MD&A Annotation Note #4 for Subsections 3(3) and 3(4) and Instruction (4) to Section 3
Description of proposed change

We propose to add these provisions to allow issuers to compare the financial performance of
their current quarter with the immediately preceding quarter, where appropriate, rather than to
the corresponding period in the previous year. An issuer that elects to use this option will need to
provide summary financial information of that immediately preceding quarter or include a
reference to the location of that information. The issuer will also need to discuss reasons for
changing the basis of comparison.

We also propose to add instruction (4) to explain that this option would not be appropriate where
the issuer’s business is seasonal.

Rationale
This is to allow issuers additional flexibility to provide an analysis that they believe is most

relevant to an understanding of their performance while also ensuring that investors have
appropriate information to assess the comparisons being presented.

INSTRUCTIONS

(1) For the purposes of subparagraph (2)(a)(i) and subsection (3), consider presenting the
current quarter with greater prominence than the comparison period.

(2) For the purposes of paragraph (2)(b), assume investors have access to your company’s
annual MD&A. Your company is not required to duplicate the discussion and analysis of
financial condition in its annual MD&A. For example, if economic and industry factors
are unchanged, your company may make a statement to this effect.

(3) In discussing your company'’s financial condition, financial performance or cash flows
for an interim period, disclose changes in specified contractual obligations during the
interim period.

(4) For purposes of subsection (3), consider whether it would be appropriate to include a
comparison of financial performance to the immediately preceding quarter as an
alternative to the corresponding period in the previous year if the latter comparison is
not suitable for comparative purposes. A comparison of financial performance to the
immediately preceding quarter is not suitable for comparative purposes when a
company’s business is seasonal.

(5) The disclosure required under sections 8 and 10 of Form 51-102F 1 Annual Disclosure
Statement is only required for your company’s most recent year-to-date interim period

and its corresponding comparative year-to-date interim period.

(6) An interim MD&A is not required for your company’s fourth quarter (see section 4 of
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Form 51-102F 1 Annual Disclosure Statement).

(7) Your company's annual MD&A is not required to include all the information required
under Part 2 of Form 51-102F 1 Annual Disclosure Statement if it was a venture issuer as
at the end of its last financial year. If your company ceased to be a venture issuer during
the interim period, it is not required to restate the MD&A previously filed. Instead,
provide the disclosure for the additional sections in Part 2 of Form 51-102F 1 Annual
Disclosure Statement that it was exempt from as a venture issuer in its next interim
MD&A filed. Base the disclosure for those sections on its interim financial report.

Quarterly highlights

4.(1) If your company is a venture issuer, it has the option of meeting the requirements under
section 3 by instead providing a short discussion about its business, financial condition,
financial performance, and cash flows.

2) If the interim MD&A is prepared using quarterly highlights under subsection (1), discuss

(a) your company’s financial condition, financial performance and cash flows and
any factors that have caused period to period variations in those measures,

(b) known trends, risks or demands,

(©) significant operating milestones,

(d) commitments, expected or unexpected events, or uncertainties that have affected
its operations, liquidity and capital resources in the interim period or are

reasonably likely to affect them in the future,

(e) any changes from disclosure previously made about how it was going to use
proceeds from any financing and an explanation of variances,

® any transactions between related parties, and

(2) the effects resulting from a change to its accounting policies during the interim
period.

A3 Title the quarterly highlights, “Interim MD&A — Quarterly Highlights”.
INSTRUCTIONS

(1) Provide a short, focused discussion that gives a balanced and accurate picture of your
company’s business during the interim period. The purpose of the quarterly highlights is
to provide a brief narrative update about your company’s business, financial condition,
financial performance and cash flows. While summaries are to be clear and concise, they
are subject to the normal prohibitions against false and misleading statements.
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(2) Quarterly highlights are not required for your company’s fourth quarter as relevant
fourth quarter content will be contained in its annual MD&A (see section 4 of Form 51-
102F 1 Annual Disclosure Statement).

MD&A Annotation Note #5 for Instructions to Sections 3 and 4
Description of proposed change

We propose to eliminate instruction (i) to sections 2.2 and 2.2.1 in the Current MD&A Form,
which requires that an issuer’s first interim MD&A after becoming a reporting issuer contains all
disclosure required under Item 1 of the Current MD&A Form.

Rationale

An issuer filing its first interim MD&A after becoming a reporting issuer would be able to rely
on the previous annual MD&A included in a long-form prospectus, information circular, filing
statement, listing statement or other similar document. The requirement that the interim MD&A
update the annual MD&A would provide sufficient information to investors.

Other interim MD&A requirements

5. Include in the interim MD&A the disclosure required under National Instrument 52-109
Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings and, as applicable, the
disclosure required under Form 52-109F2 Certification of Interim Filings — Full
Certificate or Form 52-109F2R Certification of Refiled Interim Filings.
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ANNEX D

PROPOSED CHANGES TO
COMPANION POLICY 51-102CP TO NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 51-102
CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS

Companion Policy 51-102CP to National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure
Obligations is changed by this Document.

Subsection 1.4(2) is changed by replacing "Section 1.8 of Companion Policy 44-101CP"”"
with ""Subsection 1.3(1) of Companion Policy 41-101CP".

Section 1.5 is changed by adding the following after the last paragraph:

We also encourage you to use common readability measures, like the Flesch-Kincaid Grade
Level or the Gunning Fog Index, to assess the readability of your disclosure documents..

Section 1.10 is changed by replacing the second sentence with the following:

In this situation, the reporting issuer is expected to comply with the Instrument by filing an
amended and restated version of the previously filed document in whole under paragraph
11.5(1)(a) of the Instrument or by filing an amendment to the previously filed document
under paragraph 11.5(1)(b) of the Instrument, which does not restate the document in
whole..

Part 1 is changed by adding the following section after section 1.10:
1.11 Innovative Disclosure

Reporting issuers can use innovative disclosure approaches consistent with CSA
formatting requirements to prepare disclosure that reduces burden for them and is
most meaningful for their business. For example, while embedded video is not
acceptable, hyperlinks within the same document and creative use of charts, tables
and graphs are encouraged if they assist with readability..

Subsection 3.1(2) is changed by replacing "first financial statements are due”” with "first
annual disclosure statement or interim disclosure statement is due .

Section 3.2 is changed by replacing "'Section 4.1 of the Instrument requires a reporting
issuer to file annual financial statements” with "For the purposes of filing an annual
disclosure statement, a reporting issuer is required under section 4.1 of the Instrument to
file annual financial statements”’.
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9.
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Section 3.3 is replaced with the following:

3.3

Filing Deadline for Annual Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report

Section 3A.2 of the Instrument sets out filing deadlines for annual disclosure
statements that include annual financial statements required under Part 4 of the
Instrument. While section 3A.2 of the Instrument does not address the auditor’s
report date, a reporting issuer is encouraged to file its annual disclosure statement
as soon as practicable after the date of the auditor’s report. The delivery obligations
set out in section 3A.6 of the Instrument are not tied to the filing of the annual
disclosure statement..

Section 3.5 is replaced with the following:

3.5

(1)

2)

Delivery of Annual and Interim Disclosure Statements and Certain Other
Disclosure Documents

Subsection 3A.6(1) of the Instrument requires a reporting issuer to send a request
form to the registered holders and beneficial owners of its securities, other than debt
instruments. The registered holders and beneficial owners may use the request form
to request a copy of the reporting issuer’s annual disclosure statement or annual
financial statements and related MD&A, interim disclosure statement or interim
financial report and related MD&A and annual financial statements or interim
financial reports filed under section 4.7 and subsection 4.10(2) of the Instrument.

In addition, the request form also may (but is not required to) be used to request a
copy of the information circular and the annual disclosure statement or annual
financial statements where a reporting issuer uses notice-and-access to deliver
proxy-related materials.

A reporting issuer is only required to deliver its annual disclosure statement, interim
disclosure statements, annual financial statements and related MD&A or interim
financial reports and related MD&A to the person or company that requests them.
As a result, if a beneficial owner requests any of these documents through its
intermediary, the reporting issuer is only required to deliver the requested
documents to the intermediary.

Failing to return the request form or otherwise specifically requesting a copy of
these documents from the reporting issuer will override the beneficial owner’s
standing instructions under NI 54-101 in respect of the financial statements.

The Instrument does not prescribe when the request form must be sent, or how it
must be returned to the reporting issuer.

Subsection 3A.6(6) of the Instrument provides that subsection 3A.6(1) and
subsections 3A.6(3) and (4) with respect to an annual disclosure statement and
annual financial statements, do not apply to a reporting issuer that sends its annual
disclosure statement and annual financial statements to its securityholders, other
than holders of debt instruments, within 140 days of the reporting issuer’s financial
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year-end and in accordance with NI 54-101. Notice-and-access can be used to send
the annual disclosure statement or annual financial statements and related MD&A
under subsection 3A.6(6). Notice-and-access is consistent with the principles for
electronic delivery set out in National Policy 11-201 Electronic Delivery of
Documents..

Subsection 4.1(1) is changed by replacing the first two sentences with the following:

Subsection 3A.5(1) of the Instrument requires that each annual disclosure statement be
approved by the board of directors before filing. Subsections 3A.5(2) and 3A.5(3) of the
Instrument require that each interim disclosure statement be approved by the board of
directors or by the company’s audit committee before filing..

Section 5.1 is deleted.

Section 5.2 is changed by replacing "Section 5.3 of the Instrument requires” with

"Section 8 of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement and subsection 3(1) of Form

51-102F2 Interim Disclosure Statement require".

Section 5.3 is changed

(a) by replacing "Section 5.4 of the Instrument requires’” with "Section 9 of Form
51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement and subsection 3(1) of Form 51-102F2

Interim Disclosure Statement require"’, and

(b) by replacing "MD&A'" with "annual disclosure statement or interim disclosure
statement "',

Section 5.4 is deleted.
Section 5.6 is changed
(a) in subsection (1)

(@) by replacing "'section 2.2.1 of Form 51-102F1" with "'section 4 of Form
51-102F2 Interim Disclosure Statement'’, and

(i) by adding the following after the last sentence:

In addition, to comply with the requirement to discuss the issuer’s financial
condition, financial performance and cash flows and any factors that have
caused period to period variations in those measures, a venture issuer that
1s an investment entity or a non-investment entity recording investments at
fair value should update the quarterly highlights for all disclosure required
by section 10 of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement.,
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in subsection (2)

(i) by replacing in the first sentence "full interim MD&A " with "'a full interim
MD&A in accordance with section 3 of Form 51-102F2 Interim Disclosure
Statement'', and

(ii) by replacing the last sentence with the following:
Venture issuers will likely take the needs of their investors into
consideration when determining whether to provide quarterly highlights or
a full interim MD&A., and

in subsection (3) by replacing the first sentence with the following:

For greater certainty, a reference to an interim MD&A is a reference to the quarterly

highlights a venture issuer has the option of providing in accordance with section 4
of Form 51-102F2 Interim Disclosure Statement..

Part 5 is changed by adding the following sections after section 5.6:

5.7

5.8

(1)

)

Overall Performance

Subsection 3(4) of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement requires a
reporting issuer that is changing its business model to disclose certain information
regarding its plans, milestones and expenditures. Examples of situations that would
warrant a discussion under subsection 3(4) include when a reporting issuer:

(a) has entered into material agreements relating to the change in its business
model;

(b) has incurred material expenses relating to the change in its business model,
and

(©) anticipates that the change in its future revenues will be material as a result
of the change in its business model.

Additional Disclosure for Investment Entities and Non-Investment Entities
Recording Investments at Fair Value

Standalone financial statements as contemplated by National Policy 41-201 Income
Trust and Other Indirect Offerings may be necessary for an investor to make an
informed investment decision where the operation of the reporting issuer as an
investment entity or non-investment entity recording investments at fair value are
dependent on a single investment.

Investment entities or non-investment entities recording investments at fair value
with material mining or oil and gas investments need to consider the applicability
of technical disclosure requirements in National Instrument 43-101 Standards of
Disclosure for Mineral Projects and National Instrument 51-101 Standards of
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Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities in their filings. For example, the disclosure
of technical information relating to a material investee may trigger the requirement
to file a technical report under National Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure
for Mineral Projects. In addition, if the investment entity or non-investment entity
recording investments at fair value files an annual disclosure statement, disclosure
requirements of sections 18 or 19 of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement

may apply..

Section 6.2 is changed

(a) in subsection (1) by replacing "section 5.3 of Form 51-102F2" with "section 17
of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement", and

(b) in subsection (2) by replacing "Paragraph 5.3(2)(a) of Form 51-102F2"" with
""Paragraph 17(b)(i) of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement'.

Subsection 10.3(8) is changed in the second bullet, by adding “which, for that purpose,
may be included in an annual disclosure statement or an annual report,” after “annual
MD&A”.

Section 11.2 is replaced with the following:

11.2 Refiling Documents or Restating Financial Information

(1) If a reporting issuer decides to refile a document in whole or in part, or restate
financial information for comparative periods in financial statements for reasons
other than retroactive application of a change in an accounting standard or policy
or a new accounting standard, and the refiled or restated information is likely to
differ materially from the information originally filed, the reporting issuer should
disclose in the news release required by subsection 11.5(1) of the Instrument when
it makes that decision

(a) the facts underlying the changes,
(b) the general impact of the changes on previously filed information, and

(©) the steps the reporting issuer would take before filing an amended
document, or filing restated financial information, if the reporting issuer is
not filing amended information immediately.

(2) If a reporting issuer refiles a document or restates financial information under
paragraphs 11.5(1)(b) or (c) of the Instrument by filing an amendment to a
previously filed annual disclosure statement or interim disclosure statement, it is
not required to restate the previously filed document in whole but should include
all disclosure required in order to understand the nature and context of the
amendment. For example, a reporting issuer amending its proposed transaction
disclosure under subsections 7(1) and (2) of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure
Statement should include the complete text of this section, as amended, rather than
just the amended or additional text.
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A reporting issuer should also consider refiling the document in whole if:
(a) there are a large number of sections that are being amended;

(b) the amendments are extensive;

(©) the document has been amended more than once; or

(d) the document includes hyperlinks that do not link to the amendment..

Section 13.1 is replaced with the following:

13.1

Prior Exemptions, Waivers and Approvals

Section 13.2 of the Instrument essentially allows a reporting issuer, in certain
circumstances, to continue to rely upon an exemption, waiver or approval relating
to continuous disclosure obligations obtained prior to the Instrument coming into
force or prior to the amendments on [December 15, 2023] coming into force, as
applicable, if the exemption, waiver or approval relates to a substantially similar
provision in the Instrument and the reporting issuer provides written notice to the
securities regulatory authority or regulator of its reliance on such exemption, waiver
or approval. Upon receipt of such notice, the securities regulatory authority or
regulator, as the case may be, will review it to determine if the provision of the
Instrument referred to in the notice is substantially similar to the provision from
which the exemption, waiver or approval was granted. The written notice should
be sent by email to each jurisdiction where the prior exemption, waiver or approval
is relied upon, using the relevant address or addresses listed in section 5.5 of
National Policy 11-203 Process for Exemptive Relief Applications in Multiple
Jurisdictions..

Appendix A is replaced with the following:

APPENDIX A

EXAMPLES OF FILING REQUIREMENTS FOR CHANGES IN THE YEAR

END

The following examples assume the old financial year ended on December 31, 20X0

Number of Months | Up to 3 Upto3 4106 7or8 9 to 11 months

Financial Year End | months months months months

Changed By

Transition Year 2 months 14 months 6 months 7 months 10 months
ended ended ended ended ended 10/31/X1
2/28/X1 2/28/X2 6/30/X1 7/31/X1

Comparative 12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months

Annual Financial ended ended ended ended ended 12/31/X0
12/31/X0 12/31/X0 12/31/X0 12/31/X0
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Statements to
Transition Year
New Financial Year | 2/28/X2 2/28/X3 6/30/X2 7/31/X2 10/31/X2
Comparative 2 months 14 months 6 months 7 months 10 months
Annual Financial ended ended ended ended ended 10/31/X1
Statements to New 2/28/X1 and | 2/28/X2 6/30/X1 and | 7/31/X1 and
Financial Year 12 months 12 months 12 months
ended ended ended
12/31/X0* 12/31/X0* 12/31/X0*

Interim Periods for | Not 3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months ended
Transition Year applicable ended ended ended 3/31/X1

3/31/X1 3/31/X1 3/31/X1 6 months ended

6 months 6/30/X1

ended Or

6/30/X1 Or

9 months 4 months

ended ended 4 months ended

9/30/X1 4/30/X1 4/30/X1

12 months 7 months ended

ended 7/31/X1

12/31/X1

Or

2 months

ended

2/28/X1

5 months

ended

5/31/X1

8 months

ended

8/31/X1

11 months

ended

11/30/X1
Comparative Not 3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months ended
Interim Periods to applicable ended ended ended 3/31/X0
Interim Periods in 3/31/X0 3/31/X0 3/31/X0 6 months ended
Transition Year 6 months 6/30/X0

ended Or

6/30/X0 Or

9 months 3 months

ended ended 3 months ended

9/30/X0 3/31/X0 3/31/X0

12 months 6 months ended

ended 6/30/X0

12/31/X0

Or
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3 months
ended
3/31/X0
6 months
ended
6/30/X0
9 months
ended
9/30/X0
12 months
ended
12/31/X0
Interim Periods for | 3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months ended
New Financial Year | ended ended ended ended 1/31/X2
5/31/X1 5/31/X2 9/30/X1 10/31/X1 6 months ended
6 months 6 months 6 months 6 months 4/30/X2
ended ended ended ended 9 months ended
8/31/X1 8/31/X2 12/31/X1 1/31/X2 7/31/X2
9 months 9 months 9 months 9 months
ended ended ended ended Or
11/30/X1 11/30/X2 3/31/X2 4/30/X2
3 months ended
Or Or 1/31/X2
6 months ended
3 months 3 months 4/30/X2
ended ended 9 months ended
5/31/X2 10/31/X1 7/31/X2
6 months 6 months
ended ended
8/31/X2 1/31/X2
9 months 9 months
ended ended
11/30/X2 4/30/X2
Comparative 3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months ended
Interim Periods to ended ended ended ended 12/31/X0
Interim Periods in 6/30/X0 6/30/X1 9/30/X0 9/30/X0 6 months ended
New Financial Year | 6 months 6 months 6 months 6 months 3/31/X1
ended ended ended ended 9 months ended
9/30/X0 9/30/X1 12/31/X0 12/31/X0 6/30/X1
9 months 9 months 9 months 9 months
ended ended ended ended Or
12/31/X0 12/31/X1 3/31/X1 3/31/X1
3 months ended
Or Or 12/31/X0
7 months ended
3 months 3 months 4/30/X1
ended ended 10 months
5/31/X1 9/30/X0 ended 7/31/X1
6 months 6 months
ended ended
8/31/X1 12/31/X0

#5960547




-104-

9 months
ended
11/30/X1

10 months
ended
4/30/X1

%

Statement of financial position required only at the transition year end date

The following examples assumes a new financial year ending on December 31, 20X1 or
December 31, 20X2

Number of Upto3 Upto3 4to 6 months | 7or8 9to 11
Months months months months months
Financial Year
End Changed
By
Transition 2 months 14 months 5 months 8 months 10 months
Year ended ended ended ended ended
12/31/X1 12/31/X2 12/31/X1 12/31/X1 12/31/X1
Comparative 12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months
Annual ended ended ended 7/31/X1 | ended ended 2/28/X1
Financial 10/31/X1 10/31/X1 4/30/X1
Statements to
Transition
Year
New Financial | 12/31/X2 12/31/X3 12/31/X2 12/31/X2 12/31/X2
Year
Comparative 2 months 14 months 5 months 8 months 10 months
Annual ended ended ended ended ended
Financial 12/31/X1 and | 12/31/X2 12/31/X1 and | 12/31/X1 12/31/X1
Statements to 12 months 12 months and 12
New Financial | ended ended months
Year 10/31/X1* 7/31/X1* ended
4/30/X1%*
Interim Not applicable | 3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months
Periods for ended 1/31/X2 | ended ended ended 5/31/X1
Transition 6 months 10/31/X1 7/31/X1 6 months
Year ended 4/30/X2 6 months ended 8/31/X1
9 months Or ended
ended 7/31/X2 10/31/X1 Or
12 months 2 months
ended ended 9/30/X1 | Or 4 months
10/31/X2 ended 6/30/X1
2 months 7 months
Or ended ended 9/30/X1
6/30/X1
2 months 5 months
ended ended
12/31/X1 9/30/X1
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5 months
ended 3/31/X2
8 months
ended 6/30/X2
11 months
ended 9/30/X2
Comparative Not applicable | 3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months
Interim ended 1/31/X1 | ended ended ended 5/31/X0
Periods to 6 months 10/31/X0 7/31/X0 6 months
Interim ended 4/30/X1 6 months ended 8/31/X0
P eriO(!s.in 9 months Or ended
Transition ended 7/31/X1 10/31/X0 Or
Year 12 months 3 months
ended ended Or 3 months
10/31/X1 10/31/X0 ended 5/31/X0
3 months 6 months
Or ended ended 8/31/X0
7/31/X0
3 months 6 months
ended 1/31/X1 ended
6 months 10/31/X0
ended 4/30/X1
9 months
ended 7/31/X1
12 months
ended
10/31/X1
Interim 3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months
Periods for ended 3/31/X2 | ended 3/31/X3 | ended 3/31/X2 | ended ended 3/31/X2
New Financial | 6 months 6 months 6 months 3/31/X2 6 months
Year ended 6/30/X2 | ended 6/30/X3 | ended 6/30/X2 | 6 months ended 6/30/X2
9 months 9 months 9 months ended 9 months
ended 9/30/X2 | ended 9/30/X3 | ended 9/30/X2 | 6/30/X2 ended 9/30/X2
9 months
Or Or ended Or
9/30/X2
3 months 3 months 3 months
ended 3/31/X3 | ended 3/31/X2 | Or ended 3/31/X2
6 months 6 months 6 months
ended 6/30/X3 | ended 6/30/X2 | 3 months ended 6/30/X2
9 months 9 months ended 9 months
ended 9/30/X3 | ended 9/30/X2 | 3/31/X2 ended 9/30/X2
6 months
ended
6/30/X2
9 months
ended
9/30/X2
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Comparative
Interim
Periods to
Interim
Periods in New
Financial Year

3 months
ended 4/30/X1
6 months
ended 7/31/X1
9 months
ended
10/31/X1

3 months
ended 4/30/X2
6 months
ended 7/31/X2
9 months
ended
10/31/X2

Or

3 months
ended 3/31/X2
6 months
ended 6/30/X2
9 months
ended 9/30/X2

3 months
ended 4/30/X1
6 months
ended 7/31/X1
9 months
ended
10/31/X1

Or

3 months
ended 4/30/X1
6 months
ended 7/31/X1
8 months
ended 9/30/X1

3 months
ended
4/30/X1
6 months
ended
7/31/X1
9 months
ended
10/31/X1

Or

3 months
ended
4/30/X1
5 months
ended
6/30/X1
8 months
ended
9/30/X1

3 months
ended 2/28/X1
6 months
ended 5/31/X1
9 months
ended 8/31/X1

Or

3 months
ended 2/28/X1
7 months
ended 6/30/X1
10 months
ended 9/30/X1

Statement of financial position required only at the transition year end date..

These changes become effective on [December 15, 2023].
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ANNEX E

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO EXISTING RULES

Consequential and housekeeping amendments

The proposed amendments to NI 51-102 result in certain consequential amendments to existing
rules applicable to reporting issuers. Consequential amendments involve adding definitions of and
references to annual disclosure statement and interim disclosure statement and updating existing
references to NI 51-102 to reference the amended NI 51-102 requirements.

In addition to consequential amendments, housekeeping amendments are proposed for certain
rules to clarify existing requirements, correct outdated references to "interim financial statements"
by replacing them with "interim financial report" and reflect the name change of "Aequitas NEO
Exchange Inc." to "Neo Exchange Inc.".

For the following rules, only consequential and housekeeping amendments are proposed:

#5960547

Multilateral Instrument 11-103 Failure-to-File Cease Trade Orders in Multiple
Jurisdictions

National Instrument 13-101 System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval
(SEDAR)

National Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects

National Instrument 44-102 Shelf Distributions

National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions

Multilateral Instrument 45-108 Crowdfunding

National Instrument 51-101 Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities
Multilateral Instrument 51-105 Issuers Quoted in the U.S. Over-the-Counter Markets
National Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim
Filings

National Instrument 52-110 Audit Committees

National Instrument 54-101 Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a
Reporting Issuer

National Instrument 55-104 Insider Reporting Requirements and Exemptions

National Instrument 58-101 Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices
Multilateral Instrument 61-101 Protection of Minority Security Holders in Special
Transactions

National Instrument 62-103 The Early Warning System and Related Take-Over Bid and
Insider Reporting Issues

National Instrument 81-101 Mutual Fund Prospectus Disclosure
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Amendments to align prospectus disclosure requirements with continuous disclosure
requirements

In addition to consequential and housekeeping amendments, we are proposing amendments to
certain prospectus form requirements in NI 41-101 and NI 44-101. These proposed amendments
correspond to the proposed amendments to the continuous disclosure requirements. The objective
of these proposed amendments is to maintain alignment between the prospectus and continuous
disclosure regimes.

National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus Requirements

We propose to amend Form 41-101F1 Information Required in a Prospectus as follows:

e  Update references to "special purpose entity" by replacing them with "structured entity"
as the latter term has superseded the former term under Canadian GAAP applicable to
publicly accountable enterprises.

e Amend certain disclosure requirements relating to market for securities and trading price
and volume

o to allow reporting issuers to identify the exchanges and quotation systems only
where the issuer has applied for and received a listing,

o to remove requirement to disclose trading price and volume traded or quoted for
Canadian marketplaces as this information is available in other publicly available
sources, and

o to provide an option for issuers that have securities traded or quoted on a foreign
marketplace to disclose the website or other publicly available source rather than
providing trading price and trading volume information.

e Repeal the following disclosure requirements as they are duplicative to requirements in
Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement that apply to an issuer for the purposes of
filing a long form prospectus in Form 41-101F1 Information Required in a Prospectus:

subsection 5.1(4);
section 8.4;

section 8.6;

section 16.3;
paragraphs 22.1(1)(c);
paragraph 22.1(1)(d).

0 O O O O O

e Repeal certain disclosure requirements relating to cash dividends or distributions since
they are duplicative of requirements under the accounting standards.

e Add an instruction to the risk factor disclosure requirement to signal explicitly to issuers

the option to provide risk factor disclosure (including risk mitigation strategy for each
risk factor where applicable) in a tabular form or other alternative format.
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Amend certain disclosure requirements relating to settlement agreements entered into
by promoters with a securities regulatory authority to limit the lookback period to 10
years.

Repeal the disclosure requirement relating to transfer agents, registrars, trustees or other
agents, since this information is usually available on the issuer’s SEDAR profile or other
publicly available sources.

National Instrument 44-101 Short Form Prospectus Distributions

We propose to amend Form 44-101F1 Short Form Prospectus as follows:

#5960547

Update references to "special purpose entity" by replacing them with "structured entity"
as the latter term has superseded the former term under Canadian GAAP applicable to
publicly accountable enterprises.

Amend certain disclosure requirements relating to market for securities and trading price
and volume

o to allow reporting issuers to identify the exchanges and quotation systems only
where the issuer has applied for and received a listing,

o to remove requirement to disclose trading price and volume traded or quoted for
Canadian marketplaces as this information is available in other publicly available
sources, and

o to provide an option for issuers that have securities traded or quoted on a foreign
marketplace to disclose the website or other publicly available source rather than
providing trading price and trading volume information.

Repeal the disclosure requirement relating to prior sales given that some related
information may be available in continuous disclosure or other publicly available
source.

Add an instruction to the risk factor disclosure requirement to signal explicitly to issuers
the option to provide risk factor disclosure (including risk mitigation strategy for each
risk factor where applicable) in a tabular form or other alternative format.

Amend certain disclosure requirements relating to settlement agreements entered into
by promoters with a securities regulatory authority to limit the lookback period to 10
years.
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Amendments to provide appropriate exemptions from continuous disclosure requirements
for foreign issuers

For the following rule, we are proposing amendments to exempt designated foreign issuers and
SEC foreign issuers from the requirements to prepare, approve, file and deliver annual disclosure
statements and interim disclosure statements.

National Instrument 71-102 Continuous Disclosure and Other Exemptions Relating to Foreign
Issuers

e Include new provisions to specify how designated foreign issuers and SEC foreign
issuers can meet the securities legislation requirements relating to the preparation,
approval, filing and delivery of annual disclosure statements and interim disclosure
statements.
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO

MULTILATERAL INSTRUMENT 11-103 FAILURE-TO-FILE CEASE TRADE ORDERS

IN MULTIPLE JURISDICTIONS

L Multilateral Instrument 11-103 Failure-to-File Cease Trade Orders in Multiple
Jurisdictions is amended by this Instrument.

2. Section 1 is amended by

(a) adding the following definitions:

"annual disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument
51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations;

"interim disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument
51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations;, and

(b) replacing the definition of "specified default" with the following:

"specified default" means a failure by a reporting issuer to comply with the
requirement to file, within the time period prescribed, one or more of the following:

(a) an annual disclosure statement;

(b) an interim disclosure statement;

(©) annual financial statements;

(d) an interim financial report;

(e) an annual or interim management's discussion and analysis;

§)) an annual or interim management report of fund performance;

(2) an annual information form,;

(h) a certificate required under National Instrument 52-109

Certification of Disclosure in Issuers' Annual and Interim Filings..

3. This Instrument comes into force on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO
NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 13-101 SYSTEM FOR ELECTRONIC DOCUMENT
ANALYSIS AND RETRIEVAL (SEDAR)

L National Instrument 13-101 System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval
(SEDAR) is amended by this Instrument.

2. Part I of Appendix A is amended in section 2 under the heading "B. Continuous
Disclosure" by replacing "Interim Financial Statements/Report” with "Interim Financial
Report”.

3. Part Il of Appendix A is amended under the subheading ''(a) General Filings:" under
the heading ""B. Continuous Disclosure"

(a) by replacing in section 4 "'Interim Financial Statements/Report” with "Interim
Financial Report"’, and

(b) by adding the following sections
23. Annual Disclosure Statement
24. Interim Disclosure Statement.

4, This Instrument comes into force on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 41-101 GENERAL PROSPECTUS REQUIREMENTS

National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus Requirements is amended by this
Instrument.

Section 1.1 is amended

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

(e

by deleting the definition of ""Aequitas personal information form',

in the definition of '"Form 51-102F1" by replacing '"Form 51-102F1
Management’s Discussion & Analysis" with "Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure
Statement'’,

in the definition of "Form 51-102F2" by replacing "Form 51-102F2 Annual
Information Form' with "Form 51-102F2 Interim Disclosure Statement",

in the definition of "IPO venture issuer' by replacing "' Aequitas NEO Exchange
Inc.” with "NEO Exchange Inc.",

by adding the following definition:

"NEO personal information form" means a personal information form for an
individual prepared pursuant to NEO Exchange Inc. Form 3, as amended from time
to time;, and

in the definition of "personal information form' by replacing paragraph (c) with
the following:

(c) a completed NEO personal information form submitted by an individual to
NEO Exchange Inc., to which is attached a completed certificate and
consent in the form set out in Schedule 1 — Part B of Appendix A;.

Form 41-101F1 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROSPECTUS is amended under
the heading "GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS"

(a)

(b)

by replacing subsection (8) with the following:

(8)  Iftheissuer is a structured entity, as that term is defined in Canadian GAAP
applicable to publicly accountable enterprises, or the term equivalent to
structured entity under the issuer’s GAAP, modify the disclosure
requirements in this Form to reflect the nature of the issuer's business.,

in subsection (12) by replacing "Form 51-102F2" with "Part 3 of Form 51-
102F1", and
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(c) in subsection (14) by replacing the first sentence with " Where requirements in this
Form make reference to, or are substantially similar to, requirements in Form 51-
102F1 or Form 51-102F2, issuers may apply subsection (12) of General
Instructions for Part 2 and Part 3 of Form 51-102F I and subsection (5) of General
Instructions for Part 2 of Form 51-102F2.".

Subsection 1.9(4) of Form 41-101F1 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A
PROSPECTUS is amended by replacing "Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc.” with "NEO
Exchange Inc.".

Section 5.1 of Form 41-101F1 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROSPECTUS is
amended by

(a) replacing subsection (1) with the following:

(1) Describe the business of the issuer and its reportable segments as that term
is interpreted in the issuer’s GAAP. Disclose information for each
reportable segment of the issuer in accordance with section 15 of Form 51-
102F1", and

(b) repealing subsection (4).

Section 5.3 of Form 41-101F1 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROSPECTUS is
amended by replacing "section 5.3 of Form 51-102F2" with "section 17 of Form 51-
102F1".

Section 5.4 of Form 41-101F1 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROSPECTUS is
amended by

(a) replacing "section 5.4 of Form 51-102F2" with "'section 18 of Form 51-102F1",
and

(b) deleting "'For the purposes of this section, the alternative disclosure permitted in
Instruction (i1) to section 5.4 of Form 51-102F2 does not apply.".

Section 7.1 of Form 41-101F1 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROSPECTUS is amended
by repealing subsections (1) and (2).

Section 8.1 of Form 41-101F1 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROSPECTUS is
amended

(a) by replacing subsection (1) with the following:

1) For the purposes of this Item, "MD&A" has the same meaning as in NI 51-
102,
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(b)
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(d)
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in subsection (2) by replacing "in the form of Form 51-102F1" with "'in the form
of Part 2 of Form 51-102F1 and Part 2 of Form 51-102F2",

in paragraph (2)(a) by replacing "Form 51-102F1" with "Part 2 of Form 51-
102F1 and Part 2 of Form 51-102F2",

by replacing subparagraph (2)(b)(i) with the following:

(i1) the Instruction to section 7 of Form 51-102F1, and,

by repealing subparagraph (2)(b)(ii),

in paragraph (2)(c) by replacing "section 1.10" with "section 4", and

under the heading "INSTRUCTION" by replacing "section 1.10" with "section
4",

The sentence after the heading "GUIDANCE'" under section 8.2 of Form 41-101F1
INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROSPECTUS is replaced with the following:

Under section 4 of Form 51-102F2, venture issuers, or IPO venture issuers, have the option
of meeting the requirement to provide interim MD&A under section 3 of Form 51-102F2
by providing quarterly highlights disclosure..

Form 41-101F1 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROSPECTUS is amended by
repealing sections 8.4, 8.6 and 8.8.

Section 13.2 of Form 41-101F1 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROSPECTUS is
replaced with the following:

13.2(1)For each class or series of securities of the issuer distributed under the prospectus

2

or securities of the issuer into which those classes or series of securities are
convertible or exchangeable that is traded or quoted on a Canadian or foreign
marketplace for which the issuer has applied for and received a listing, identify all
such marketplaces.

If a Canadian marketplace is not identified under subsection (1) in respect of a class
or series of securities of the issuer distributed under the prospectus or securities of
the issuer into which those classes or series of securities are convertible or
exchangeable, but one or more foreign marketplaces are identified under subsection
(1) in respect of that class or series, identify the foreign marketplace on which the
greatest volume of trading or quotation generally occurs and provide either of the
following in respect of that class or series:
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(a) the price ranges and volume traded or quoted on a monthly basis for each
month or, if applicable, partial months of the 12-month period before the
date of the prospectus;

(b) the address of the website or other publicly available source where the
information required under paragraph (a) can be found..

Subsection 16.1(1) of Form 41-101F1 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A
PROSPECTUS is amended by replacing "'section 10.1 of Form 51-102F2"" with "'section
23 of Form 51-102F1".

Section 16.2 of Form 41-101F1 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROSPECTUS is
amended by replacing "section 10.2 of Form 51-102F2" with "section 24 of Form 51-
102F1".

Section 16.3 of Form 41-101F1 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROSPECTUS is
repealed.

Section 20.11 of Form 41-101F1 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROSPECTUS is
amended by replacing "Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc.” with "NEO Exchange Inc.".

Section 21.1 of Form 41-101F1 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROSPECTUS is
amended under the heading "INSTRUCTIONS" by replacing subsection (2) with the
following:

(2) A risk factor must not be de-emphasized by including, for greater certainty,
excessive caveats or conditions..

Section 21.1 of Form 41-101F1 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROSPECTUS is
amended under the heading "INSTRUCTIONS" by adding the following after
subsection (2):

(3) Consider presenting risk factor disclosure in a manner, such as the tabular form
below or any other suitable manner, that clearly identifies, for each risk factor
(a) the nature of the risk factor,
(b) its description,

(c) the issuer's impact/probability (i.e., its seriousness), and
(d) the issuer's risk mitigation strategy relating to it.
RISK FACTORS
Nature of Risk Description Impact / Risk Mitigation
Factor Probability Strategy
Assessment
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Section 22.1 of Form 41-101F1 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROSPECTUS is
amended

"

(a) in paragraph (1)(a) by adding "and" after ",",
(b) in paragraph (1)(b) by replacing ""company,” with "company.”,
(c) by repealing paragraphs (1)(c) and (d),

(d) in paragraph (5)(a) by adding "within the 10 years before the date of the
preliminary prospectus” before "entered into a settlement agreement”’, and

(e) by repealing subsection (6).

Section 24.1 of Form 41-101F1 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROSPECTUS is
amended by replacing "section 13.1 of Form 51-102F2" with "'section 28 of Form 51-
102F1".

Section 24.2 of Form 41-101F1 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROSPECTUS is
amended by replacing "'section 13.1 of Form 51-102F2"" with "'subsection 28(1) of Form
51-102F1".

Section 26.2 of Form 41-101F1 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROSPECTUS is
repealed.

Section 28.2 of Form 41-101F1 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROSPECTUS is
amended by

(a) replacing "section 16.2 of Form 51-102F2" with "subsections 30(2) and (3) of
Form 51-102F1", and

(b) replacing "section 16.1 of Form 51-102F2" with '"subsection 30(1) of Form
51-102F1".

Transition

24.(1) In this section, "prospectus" means a preliminary prospectus, an amendment to a

)
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preliminary prospectus, a final prospectus or an amendment to a final prospectus.
In this section, "issuer’s effective date" means, in relation to an issuer, the earlier of

(a) the date the issuer is required to include in a prospectus an MD&A for its first
financial year ending on or after [December 15, 2023], and
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(b) the date, on or after [December 15, 2023], the issuer includes in a prospectus an
MD&A that is prepared under National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure
Obligations.

The provisions of National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus Requirements, as
amended by this Instrument, do not apply to an issuer until the issuer’s effective date.

Until the issuer’s effective date, an issuer must comply with National Instrument 41-101
General Prospectus Requirements as it read on [December 14, 2023].

If, after [December 14, 2023] and before the issuer is required to include in a prospectus
an MD&A for its first financial year ending on or after [December 15, 2023], an issuer
includes in a prospectus an MD&A prepared under National Instrument 51-102 Continuous
Disclosure Obligations, and the prospectus includes no other MD&A for prior interim
periods or prior financial years that is prepared under Part 2 of Form 51-102F1 Annual
Disclosure Statement,

(a) the MD&A must be prepared under Part 2 of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure
Statement, and

(b) an MD&A for interim periods and financial-year ends subsequent to the MD&A
must be prepared under Part 2 of Form 51-102F2 Interim Disclosure Statement, or

Part 2 of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement, as applicable.

This Instrument comes into force on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO
NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 43-101 STANDARDS OF DISCLOSURE FOR MINERAL
PROJECTS

L National Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects is amended by
this Instrument.
2. Section 1.1 is amended by adding the following definition:

"annual disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 51-102
Continuous Disclosure Obligations;.

3. Section 4.2 is amended
(a) by replacing paragraph (1)(f) with the following:
) an annual disclosure statement or an annual information form;, and

(b in subsection (6) by replacing "annual information form"" wherever it occurs with
y rep g
"annual disclosure statement”’.

Transition
4.(1) In this section, "issuer’s effective date" means, in relation to an issuer, the earlier of

(a) the date the issuer is required to file an annual disclosure statement for its first
financial year ending on or after [December 15, 2023], and

(b) the date, on or after [December 15, 2023], the issuer files an annual disclosure
statement or an interim disclosure statement under National Instrument 51-102

Continuous Disclosure Obligations.
(2) The provisions of National Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral
Projects, as amended by this Instrument, do not apply to an issuer until the issuer’s

effective date.

3) Until the issuer’s effective date, an issuer must comply with National Instrument 43-101
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects as it read on [December 14, 2023].

Effective Date

5. This Instrument comes into force on [December 15, 2023].

#5960547
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 44-101 SHORT FORM PROSPECTUS DISTRIBUTIONS
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National Instrument 44-101 Short Form Prospectus Distributions is amended by this
Instrument.

Section 1.1 is amended

(a) in the definition of "current AIF" by replacing subparagraph (b)(ii) with the
following:

(i1) the issuer is not yet required under the applicable CD rule to have filed its
annual disclosure statement or annual financial statements for its most

recently completed financial year;,

(b) in the definition of "current annual financial statements' by replacing
subparagraph (b)(ii) with the following:

(i)  the issuer is not yet required under the applicable CD rule to have filed its
annual disclosure statement or annual financial statements for its most

recently completed financial year;, and

(c) in the definition of "'short form eligible exchange' by replacing " Aequitas NEO
Exchange Inc.” with "NEO Exchange Inc.”.

Section 2.7 is amended by
(a) replacing paragraph (1)(a) with the following:

(a) the issuer is required under the applicable CD rule to file an annual
disclosure statement or annual financial statements within a prescribed
period after its financial year end, but the issuer has not yet been required
under the applicable CD rule to file its annual disclosure statement or annual
financial statements, and,

(b) replacing paragraph (1.1)(a) with the following:
(a) the issuer has filed, as required under the applicable CD rule

(1) an annual disclosure statement which does not include an AIF, or

(i1) annual financial statements, and,
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(c) replacing paragraph (2)(a) with the following:

(2)

the successor issuer is required under the applicable CD rule to file an
annual disclosure statement or annual financial statements within a
prescribed period after its financial year end, but the successor issuer has
not yet, since the completion of the restructuring transaction or the
reorganization described in paragraph (b) of the definition of “successor
issuer”, which resulted in the successor issuer, been required under the
applicable CD rule to file an annual disclosure statement or annual financial
statements, and, and

(d) replacing paragraph (3)(a) with the following:

(2)

the issuer is required under the applicable CD rule to file an annual
disclosure statement or annual financial statements within a prescribed
period after its financial year end, but the issuer has not yet, since the
completion of a qualifying transaction or reverse takeover (as both terms
are defined in the TSX Venture Exchange Corporate Finance Manual, as
amended from time to time) been required under the applicable CD rule to
file an annual disclosure statement or annual financial statements, and.

Form 44-101F1 SHORT FORM PROSPECTUS is amended under the first instance of
the heading "INSTRUCTIONS" by replacing subsection (9) with the following:

) If the issuer is a structured entity, as that term is defined in Canadian GAAP
applicable to publicly accountable enterprises, or the term equivalent to structured
entity under the issuer’s GAAP, modify the disclosure requirements in this Form to
reflect the nature of the issuer's business..

Section 5.4.1 of Form 44-101F1 SHORT FORM PROSPECTUS is amended by
replacing "'section 13.1 of Form 51-102F2" with "subsection 28(1) of Form 51-102F1"".

Section 7A.1 of Form 44-101F1 SHORT FORM PROSPECTUS is repealed.

Section 7A.2 of Form 44-101F1 SHORT FORM PROSPECTUS is replaced with the

following:

7A.2 Trading Price and Volume

(1)

For each class or series of securities of the issuer distributed under the short
form prospectus or securities of the issuer into which those classes or series
of securities are convertible or exchangeable that is traded or quoted on a
Canadian or foreign marketplace for which the issuer has applied for and
received a listing, identify all such marketplaces.
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If a Canadian marketplace is not identified under subsection (1) in respect
of a class or series of securities of the issuer distributed under the short form
prospectus or securities of the issuer into which those classes or series of
securities are convertible or exchangeable, but one or more foreign
marketplaces are identified under subsection (1) in respect of that class or
series, identify the foreign marketplace on which the greatest volume of
trading or quotation generally occurs and provide either of the following in
respect of that class or series:

(a) the price ranges and volume traded or quoted on a monthly basis for
each month or, if applicable, partial months of the 12-month period
before the date of the short form prospectus;

(b) the address of the website or other publicly available source where
the information required under paragraph (a) can be found..

Section 9.1 of Form 44-101F1 SHORT FORM PROSPECTUS is amended by replacing
"section 5.4 of Form 51-102F2" wherever it occurs with "section 18 of Form 51-102F1"".

Section 11.1 of Form 44-101F1 SHORT FORM PROSPECTUS is amended

(@)

in subsection (1)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

by replacing paragraph 1 with the following:

1. The issuer’s current AIF, if it has one, and if the current AIF is not
included in the issuer's annual disclosure statement referred to in
paragraph 2.,

by replacing paragraph 2 with the following:

2. The issuer’s annual disclosure statement that includes the issuer’s
current annual financial statements, if any, or the issuer’s current
annual financial statements, if any, and related MD&A.,

in paragraph 3 by

(A)  replacing "interim financial report” with "interim disclosure
statement or interim financial report and related MD&A ", and

(B) deleting ", and the related interim MD&A", and

in subparagraph 8(a) by replacing "1is in the form of Form 51-102F2" with
""contains the disclosure required under section 19 of Form 51-102F1", and
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(b) in subsection (1) under the heading "INSTRUCTIONS'" by replacing the second
sentence with the following:

However, if the financial statements from which the information in the news release
has been derived have been filed, then the annual disclosure statement or interim
disclosure statement including the financial statements or the financial statements,
as applicable, must be incorporated by reference..

Subsection 11.3(1) of Form 44-101F1 SHORT FORM PROSPECTUS is amended by
replacing "a current AIF and current annual financial statements and related MD&A under
section 11.1" with "the documents referred to in paragraphs 1 and 2 of subsection 11.1(1)"".

Section 11.5 of Form 44-101F1 SHORT FORM PROSPECTUS is replaced with the
following:

11.5 Additional Disclosure for Issuers of Asset-Backed Securities

If the issuer has not filed or has not been required to file an interim financial report
and related MD&A in respect of an interim period subsequent to the financial year
in respect of which it has included annual financial statements in the short form
prospectus because it is not a reporting issuer and is qualifying to file the short form
prospectus under section 2.6 of the Instrument, include the documents referred to
in paragraph 3 of subsection 11.1(1) that the issuer would have been required to
incorporate by reference if the issuer were a reporting issuer at the relevant time..

Section 15.2 of Form 44-101F1 SHORT FORM PROSPECTUS is amended by

(a) replacing "section 16.2 of Form 51-102F2" with "subsections 30(2) and (3) of
Form 51-102F1", and

(b) replacing "section 16.1 of Form 51-102F2" with "subsection 30(1) of Form
51-102F1".

Section 16.1 of Form 44-101F1 SHORT FORM PROSPECTUS is amended

(a) in paragraph (5)(a) by adding ", within the 10 years before the date of the
preliminary short form prospectus, " before "entered into a settlement agreement”’,
and

(b) by repealing subsection (6).

Section 17.1 of Form 44-101F1 SHORT FORM PROSPECTUS is amended under the
heading "INSTRUCTIONS'" by replacing subsection (2) with the following:

(2) A risk factor must not be de-emphasized by including, for greater certainty,
excessive caveats or conditions..
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Section 17.1 of Form 44-101F1 SHORT FORM PROSPECTUS is amended under the
heading "INSTRUCTIONS'" by replacing subsection (3) with the following:

()

Consider presenting risk factor disclosure in a manner, such as the tabular form
below or any other suitable manner, that clearly identifies, for each risk factor

(a) the nature of the risk factor,

(b) its description,

(c) the issuer's impact/probability (i.e., its seriousness), and

(d) the issuer's risk mitigation strategy relating to it.

RISK FACTORS

Nature of Risk Description Impact / Risk Mitigation

Factor Probability Strategy
Assessment

16.(1) In this section, "prospectus" means a preliminary prospectus, an amendment to a
preliminary prospectus, a final prospectus or an amendment to a final prospectus.

In this section, "issuer’s effective date" means, in relation to an issuer, the earlier of:

the date the issuer is required to include in a prospectus, directly or by
incorporation, an annual disclosure statement for its first financial year ending on
or after [December 15, 2023], and

the date, on or after [December 15, 2023], the issuer includes in a prospectus,
directly or by incorporation, an annual disclosure statement or an interim disclosure
statement prepared under National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure
Obligations.

The provisions of National Instrument 44-101 Short Form Prospectus Distributions, as
amended by this Instrument, do not apply to an issuer until the issuer’s effective date.

Until the issuer’s effective date, an issuer must comply with National Instrument 44-101
Short Form Prospectus Distributions as it read on [December 14, 2023].

(2)
(a)
(b)
3)
“4)
Effective Date
17.
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This Instrument comes into force on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO
NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 44-102 SHELF DISTRIBUTIONS

National Instrument 44-102 Shelf Distributions is amended by this Instrument.

Subsection 9.4(2) is amended by replacing ""management discussion and analysis” with
"MD&A".

This Instrument comes into force on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO
NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 45-106 PROSPECTUS EXEMPTIONS
National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions is amended by this Instrument.
Section 1.1 is amended
(a) by adding the following definitions:

"annual disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument
51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations;

"interim disclosure statement' has the same meaning as in National Instrument
51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations;, and

(b) in the definition of "qualifying issuer" by replacing "annual statements” with
""annual financial statements"’.

Section 2.22 is amended in the definition of "listed issuer" by replacing " Aequitas NEO
Exchange Inc.” with "NEO Exchange Inc.”.

Subparagraph 5.2(e)(i) is amended
(a) by replacing clause (A) with the following:

(A) the AIF, if it is not included in the issuer’s annual disclosure statement
referred to in clause (B),,

(b) by replacing clause (B) with the following:

(B)  the most recent annual disclosure statement or annual financial statements
and the MD&A relating to those financial statements,, and

(c) in clause (C), by adding "interim disclosure statements or’’ before ''unaudited
interim financial reports”.

Form 45-106F3 OFFERING MEMORANDUM FOR QUALIFYING ISSUERS is
amended in the Instructions for Completing Form 45-106F3 Offering Memorandum for
Qualifying Issuers

(a) by replacing section 1 under the heading "C. Required Updates to the Offering
Memorandum'" with the following:

1. If the offering memorandum does not incorporate by reference the issuer’s
AIF and audited financial statements, or annual disclosure statement for its
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most recently completed financial year, revise the offering memorandum to
incorporate by reference any annual disclosure statement, interim disclosure
statement or financial statements that are required to be filed prior to the
distribution to incorporate by reference the documents as soon as the
documents are filed on SEDAR.,

in section 2 under the heading '"C. Required Updates to the Offering
Memorandum'' by replacing "interim financial reports”” with "interim disclosure
statements”’,

by replacing paragraph 1(a) under the heading "D. Information about the
Issuer' with the following:

(a) if the issuer’s annual disclosure statement referred to in D.1(d) does not
include an AIF, the issuer’s AIF for its most recently completed financial
year for which an annual disclosure statement or annual financial statements
are either required to be filed or has been filed,,

by replacing paragraph 1(c) under the heading '"D. Information about the
Issuer' with the following:

(c) the interim disclosure statement for the issuer’s most recently completed
interim period that is required to be filed or has been filed and which ends
after the most recently completed financial year referred to in D.1(d).,

by replacing paragraph 1(d) under the heading "D. Information about the
Issuer' with the following:

(d) for the issuer’s most recently completed financial year for which an annual
disclosure statement or comparative financial statements are required to be
filed or have been filed, the annual disclosure statement or comparative
financial statements, including the accompanying auditor’s report,,

in paragraph 1(f) under the heading "D. Information about the Issuer', by
deleting "D.1(c) and",

by replacing subparagraph 1(i)(i) under the heading "D. Information about the
Issuer' with the following:

(1) the issuer’s current AIF contains the disclosure required under section 19 of
Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement; or, and

in section 2 under the heading ""D. Information about the Issuer', by replacing
"section 5.4 of Form 51-102F2"" wherever it occurs with "section 18 of Form 51-
102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement"'.
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Transition

6.(1)

2)

€)

(4)

In this section, "document" means a document required to be filed under National
Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions.

In this section, "issuer’s effective date" means, in relation to an issuer, the earlier of

(a) the date the issuer is required to include in a document, directly or by incorporation,
an annual disclosure statement for its first financial year ending on or after
[December 15, 2023], and

(b) the date, on or after [December 15, 2023], the issuer includes in a document,
directly or by incorporation, an annual disclosure statement or an interim disclosure
statement prepared under National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure
Obligations.

The provisions of National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions, as amended by this
Instrument, do not apply to an issuer until the issuer’s effective date.

Until the issuer’s effective date, an issuer must comply with National Instrument 45-106
Prospectus Exemptions as it read on [December 14, 2023].

Effective Date

7.
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This Instrument comes into force on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO
MULTILATERAL INSTRUMENT 45-108 CROWDFUNDING

Multilateral Instrument 45-108 Crowdfunding is amended by this Instrument.
Section 1 is amended by adding the following definitions:

"annual disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 51-102
Continuous Disclosure Obligations;

"interim disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 51-102
Continuous Disclosure Obligations;.

Form 45-108F1 is amended

(a) in section 6.3 by replacing "or management discussion & analysis" with ', annual
disclosure statement, or interim disclosure statement”, and

(b) under the heading "What would be presented in an issuer’s financial statements
if the issuer has not completed a financial year" in Schedule A by adding ""The
financial statements would be a stand-alone document and not form part of an
annual disclosure statement."”” after “The financial statements would not include a
comparative period.”.

This Instrument comes into force on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO
NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 51-101 STANDARDS OF DISCLOSURE FOR OIL AND GAS
ACTIVITIES

L National Instrument 51-101 Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities is
amended by this Instrument.
2. Section 1.1 is amended by adding the following definition:

"annual disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 51-102
Continuous Disclosure Obligations;.

3. Section 2.1 is amended by replacing "audited financial statements” with "'an annual
disclosure statement "’

Transition
4.(1) In this section, "issuer’s effective date" means, in relation to an issuer, the earlier of
(a) the date the issuer is required to file an annual disclosure statement under National
Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations for its first financial year
ending on or after [December 15, 2023], and
(b) the date, on or after [December 15, 2023], the issuer files an annual disclosure
statement or an interim disclosure statement under National Instrument 51-102
General Prospectus Requirements.
(2) The provisions of National Instrument 51-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral
Projects, as amended by this Instrument, do not apply to an issuer until the issuer’s

effective date.

(3)  Until the issuer’s effective date, an issuer must comply with National Instrument 51-101
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects as it read on [December 14, 2023].

Effective Date

5. This Instrument comes into force on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO

MULTILATERAL INSTRUMENT 51-105 ISSUERS QUOTED IN THE U.S. OVER-THE-
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COUNTER MARKETS
Multilateral Instrument 51-105 Issuers Quoted in the U.S. Over-the-Counter Markets
is amended by this Instrument.

Section 1 is amended in the definition of ""OTC issuer" by replacing " Aequitas NEO
Exchange Inc.” with "NEO Exchange Inc.".

This Instrument comes into force on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 52-109 CERTIFICATION OF DISCLOSURE IN ISSUERS’
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ANNUAL AND INTERIM FILINGS

National Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim
Filings is amended by this Instrument.

Section 1.1 is amended

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

by adding the following definitions:

"annual disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 51-
102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations;

"interim disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 51-
102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations:;,

by replacing the definition of "annual filings" with the following:

"annual filings" means an issuer's AIF, if any, and annual disclosure statement filed
under securities legislation in respect of a financial year, including, for greater
certainty, all documents and information that are incorporated by reference into the
AIF or the annual disclosure statement;,

by replacing the definition of "interim filings'' with the following:

"interim filings" means an issuer's interim disclosure statement filed under
securities legislation for an interim period, including, for greater certainty, all
documents and information that are incorporated by reference into the interim
disclosure statement;, and

in the definition of "'venture issuer" by replacing " Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc."’
with " NEO Exchange Inc.”.

Section 4.1 is amended

(@)

(b)

by replacing subsection (2) with the following:

(2) A reporting issuer must file a certificate required under subsection (1) on
the date it files its annual disclosure statement., and

in subsection (3), by replacing ""annual financial statements, annual MD&A " with
"annual disclosure statement”’
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Part 6 is amended in the title by replacing "REFILED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS,
MD&A or AIF" with "REFILED, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, ANNUAL DISCLOSURE
STATEMENT, AIFS OR INTERIM DISCLOSURE STATEMENTS".

Section 6.1 is replaced with the following:

6.1 Refiled annual disclosure statement, in whole or in part — If an issuer refiles its
annual disclosure statement, in whole or in part, for a financial year, it must file
separate annual certificates for that financial year in Form 52-109F1R on the date
that it refiles the annual disclosure statement, in whole or in part..

Section 6.2 is replaced with the following:

6.2  Refiled interim disclosure statement, in whole or in part — If an issuer refiles its
interim disclosure statement, in whole or in part, for an interim period, it must file
separate interim certificates for that interim period in Form 52-109F2R on the date
that it refiles the interim disclosure statement, in whole or in part..

Form 52-109F1 CERTIFICATION OF ANNUAL FILINGS FULL CERTIFICATE
is amended by replacing section 1 with the following:

1. Review: 1 have reviewed the annual disclosure statement, including, for greater
certainty, the AIF, if any, and all documents and information that are incorporated
by reference into the MD&A and the AIF (together, the "annual filings") of
<identify issuer> (the “issuer”) for the financial year ended <state the relevant
date>..

Form 52-109FV1 CERTIFICATION OF ANNUAL FILINGS VENTURE ISSUER
BASIC CERTIFICATE is amended by replacing section 1 with the following:

1. Review: 1 have reviewed the annual disclosure statement, including, for greater
certainty, the AIF, if any, and all documents and information that are incorporated
by reference into the MD&A and the AIF (together, the “annual filings”) of
<identify the issuer> (the “issuer”) for the financial year ended <state the relevant
date>..

Form 52-109F1 - IPO/RTO CERTIFICATION OF ANNUAL FILINGS
FOLLOWING AN INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING, REVERSE TAKEOVER OR
BECOMING A NON-VENTURE ISSUER is amended by replacing section 1 with the
following:

1. Review: 1 have reviewed the annual disclosure statement, including, for greater
certainty, the AIF, if any, and all documents and information that are incorporated
by reference into the MD&A and the AIF (together, the "annual filings") of
<identify issuer> (the “issuer”) for the financial year ended <state the relevant
date>..
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Form 52-109F1R CERTIFICATION OF REFILED ANNUAL FILINGS is amended by
replacing section 1 with the following:

1. Review: 1 have reviewed the AIF, if any, and the annual disclosure statement,
including, for greater certainty, the AIF, if any, and all documents and information
that are incorporated by reference into the MD&A and the AIF (the "annual filings")
of the issuer for the financial year ended <state the relevant date>..

Form 52-109F1 - AIF CERTIFICATION OF ANNUAL FILINGS IN
CONNECTION WITH VOLUNTARILY FILED AlIFis amended by replacing section
1 with the following:

1. Review: 1 have reviewed the AIF and the annual disclosure statement, including,
for greater certainty, all documents and information that are incorporated by
reference into the MD&A and the AIF (together, the "annual filings") of the issuer
for the financial year ended <state the relevant date>..

Form 52-109F2 CERTIFICATION OF INTERIM FILINGS FULL CERTIFICATE
is amended by replacing section 1 with the following:

1. Review: 1 have reviewed the interim disclosure statement, including, for greater
certainty, all documents and information that are incorporated by reference into the
MD&A (together, the “interim filings”) of <identify the issuer> (the “issuer”) for
the interim period ended <state the relevant date>..

Form 52-109FV2 CERTIFICATION OF INTERIM FILINGS VENTURE ISSUER
BASIC CERTIFICATE is amended by replacing section 1 with the following:

1. Review: 1 have reviewed the interim disclosure statement, including, for greater
certainty, all documents and information that are incorporated by reference into the
MD&A (together, the “interim filings™) of <identify the issuer> (the “issuer”) for
the interim period ended <state the relevant date>..

Form 52-109F2 — IPO/RTO CERTIFICATION OF INTERIM FILINGS
FOLLOWING AN INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING, REVERSE TAKEOVER OR
BECOMING A NON-VENTURE ISSUER is amended by replacing section 1 with the
Jollowing:

1. Review: 1 have reviewed the interim disclosure statement, including, for greater
certainty, all documents and information that are incorporated by reference into the
MD&A (together, the “interim filings”) of <identify the issuer> (the “issuer”) for
the interim period ended <state the relevant date>..
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15. Form 52-109F2R CERTIFICATION OF REFILED INTERIM FILINGS is amended
by replacing section 1 with the following:

1. Review: 1 have reviewed the interim disclosure statement, as amended or as
amended and restated, including, for greater certainty, all documents and
information that are incorporated by reference into the MD&A of the issuer for the
interim period ended <state the relevant date>..

Transition
16.(1) In this section, "issuer’s effective date" means, in relation to an issuer, the earlier of

(a) the date the issuer is required to file an annual disclosure statement under National
Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations for its first financial year
ending on or after [December 15, 2023], and

(b) the date, on or after [December 15, 2023], the issuer files an annual disclosure
statement or an interim disclosure statement under National Instrument 51-102
General Prospectus Requirements.

(2) The provisions of National Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’
Annual and Interim Filings, as amended by this Instrument, do not apply to an issuer until
the issuer’s effective date.

(3)  Until the issuer’s effective date, an issuer must comply with National Instrument 52-109
Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings as it read on [December

14, 2023].
Effective Date
17. This Instrument comes into force on [December 15, 2023].

#5960547
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO
NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 52-110 AUDIT COMMITTEES

National Instrument 52-110 Audit Committees is amended by this Instrument.

Section 1.1 is amended in the definition of ""venture issuer" by replacing ""Aequitas NEO
Exchange Inc.” with "" NEO Exchange Inc."’.

This Instrument comes into force on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 54-101 COMMUNICATION WITH BENEFICIAL OWNERS

#5960547

OF SECURITIES OF A REPORTING ISSUER
National Instrument 54-101 Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a
Reporting Issuer is amended by this Instrument.
Section 1.1 is amended by adding the following definitions:

"annual disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument
51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations;

"interim disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument
51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations;.

Paragraph 2.7.1(2)(b) is amended by replacing "', which may be part of an annual report.”
with "which, for that purpose, may be included in an annual disclosure statement or an

annual report. "’

The following provisions are amended by adding ""annual disclosure statements,” before
""financial statements'’s

(a) clause 3.3(b)(iv)(B);
(b) clause 3.3(b)(v)(B).
Section 9.1 is amended

(a) in the heading, by adding ""Annual Disclosure Statement,” before "Audited
Annual Financial Statements or Annual Report", and

(b) by replacing "annual financial statements or an annual report if the statements or
report are sent’’ with "annual financial statements, which, for that purpose, may be
included in an annual disclosure statement or an annual report, if any of these
materials are sent”’.

This Instrument comes into force on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 55-104 INSIDER REPORTING REQUIREMENTS AND

#5960547

EXEMPTIONS
National Instrument 55-104 Insider Reporting Requirements and Exemptions is
amended by this Instrument.
Section 1.1 is amended by adding the following definition:

"MD&A" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure
Obligations:;.

Subsection 1.3(1) is amended by replacing "'under section 5.4 of National Instrument 51-
102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations" with "in an MD&A".

This Instrument comes into force on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 58-101 DISCLOSURE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

PRACTICES
National Instrument 58-101 Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices is amended
by this Instrument.
Section 1.1 is amended
(a) by adding the following definitions:

"annual disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 51-
102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations,

"interim disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 51-
102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations; and

b) in the definition of ''venture issuer" by replacing ""Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc.”
with ""NEO Exchange Inc."’.

Section 2.3 is amended by replacing ''financial statements” with "'annual disclosure
statement or interim disclosure statement”’.

Transition

4.(1)

)

3)

In this section, "issuer’s effective date" means, in relation to an issuer, the earlier of

(a) the date the issuer is required to file an annual disclosure statement under National
Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations for its first financial year
ending on or after [December 15, 2023], and

(b) the date, on or after [December 15, 2023], the issuer files an annual disclosure
statement or an interim disclosure statement under National Instrument 51-102
Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

The provisions of National Instrument 58-101 Disclosure of Corporate Governance
Practices, as amended by this Instrument, do not apply to an issuer until the issuer’s
effective date.

Until the issuer’s effective date, an issuer must comply with National Instrument 58-101
Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices as it read on [December 14, 2023].

Effective Date

5.
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This Instrument comes into force on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO

MULTILATERAL INSTRUMENT 61-101 PROTECTION OF MINORITY SECURITY

#5960547

HOLDERS IN SPECIAL TRANSACTIONS
Multilateral Instrument 61-101 Protection of Minority Security Holders in Special
Transactions is amended by this Instrument.

In the following provisions "', or section 5.4 of National Instrument 51-102 Continuous
Disclosure Obligations” is replaced with "or its MD&A"':

(a) paragraph 2.4(2)(b);
(b) paragraph 2.4(3)(b);
(c) paragraph 4.4(2)(b);
(d) paragraph 4.4(3)(b).

Paragraph 4.4(1)(a) is amended by replacing ""Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc.” with "NEO
Exchange Inc.”.

Subsection 5.5(b) is amended by replacing ""Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc.” with "NEO
Exchange Inc.”.

Subparagraph 5.7(1)(b)(i) is amended by replacing "Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc." with
"NEO Exchange Inc.".

This Instrument comes into force on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 62-103 THE EARLY WARNING SYSTEM AND RELATED

#5960547

TAKE-OVER BID AND INSIDER REPORTING ISSUES
National Instrument 62-103 The Early Warning System and Related Take-Over Bid and
Insider Reporting Issues is amended by this Instrument.
Subsection 1.1(1) is amended by adding the following definition:

"MD&A" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure
Obligations;.

Subsection 2.1(1) is amended by replacing "under section 5.4 of National Instrument
51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations" with "an MD&A".

This Instrument comes into force on [December 15, 2023].



#5960547

_142-

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 71-102 CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE AND OTHER

EXEMPTIONS RELATING TO FOREIGN ISSUERS
National Instrument 71-102 Continuous Disclosure and Other Exemptions Relating to
Foreign Issuers is amended by this Instrument.
Section 1.1 is amended by
(a) replacing the definition of "AIF" with the following:

"AIF" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 51-102 Continuous
Disclosure Obligations,,

(b) replacing the definition of "MD&A" with the following:

"MD&A" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 51-102 Continuous
Disclosure Obligations;, and

(c) adding the following definitions:

"annual disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument
51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations;

"interim disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument
51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations;.

Section 4.3 is amended by removing "', approval".
Section 4.4 is amended by

(a) replacing "'preparation, approval, filing and delivery” with ''preparation and
filing",

(b) adding "and" at the end of paragraph (b), and

(c) repealing paragraph (c).

Part 4 is amended by adding the following after section 4.4:

4.4.1 Annual Disclosure Statement and Interim Disclosure Statement

An SEC foreign issuer satisfies securities legislation requirements relating to the
preparation, approval, filing and delivery of annual disclosure statements and
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 81-101 MUTUAL FUND PROSPECTUS DISCLOSURE

1 National Instrument 81-101 Mutual Fund Prospectus Disclosure is amended by this
Instrument.
2. Section 1.1 is amended
(a) by deleting the definition of ""Aequitas personal information form',
(b) by adding the following definition:
"NEO personal information form" means a personal information form for an
individual prepared pursuant to NEO Exchange Inc. Form 3, as amended from time
to time;, and
(c) in the definition of "personal information form'" by replacing paragraph (c) with
the following:
(c) a completed NEO personal information form submitted by an individual to
NEO Exchange Inc., to which is attached a completed certificate and
consent in the form set out in Schedule 1 — Part B of Appendix A to National
Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus Requirements;.
3. This Instrument comes into force on [December 15, 2023].
#5934529v4
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ANNEX F

PROPOSED CHANGES TO EXISTING POLICIES

Consequential and housekeeping changes

The proposed amendments to NI 51-102 result in certain consequential changes to existing
policies applicable to reporting issuers. Consequential changes involve adding references to
annual disclosure statement and interim disclosure statement and updating existing references to
NI 51-102 to reference the amended NI 51-102 requirements.

In addition to consequential changes, housekeeping changes are proposed for certain policies to
clarify existing guidance, delete guidance that are no longer applicable or redundant, and
correct outdated references.

For the following policies, only consequential and housekeeping changes are proposed:

National Policy 11-201 Electronic Delivery of Documents
National Policy 11-206 Process for Cease to be a Reporting Issuer Applications
National Policy 11-207 Failure-to-File Cease Trade Orders and Revocations in
Multiple Jurisdictions
National Policy 12-202 Revocation of Certain Cease Trade Orders
National Policy 12-203 Management Cease Trade Orders
National Policy 41-201 Income Trusts and Other Indirect Offerings
Companion Policy 43-101CP to National Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure
for Mineral Projects
Companion Policy 45-106CP Prospectus Exemptions
National Policy 46-201 Escrow for Initial Public Offerings
Companion Policy 51-101CP Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities
National Policy 51-201 Disclosure Standards
Companion Policy 52-109CP to National Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure
in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings
Companion Policy 52-110CP to National Instrument 52-110 Audit Committees
Companion Policy 54-101CP to National Instrument 54-101 Communication with
Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer
Companion Policy 71-102CP Continuous Disclosure and Other Exemptions Relating to
Foreign Issuers

Changes to reflect alignment of certain prospectus disclosure requirements with
continuous disclosure requirements

In addition to consequential and housekeeping changes, for the following companion policies,
changes are being proposed to reflect alignment of certain prospectus disclosure requirements
with the continuous disclosure requirements:

#5960547
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Companion Policy 41-101CP to National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus Requirements

e Update references to "special purpose entity" by replacing them with "structured
entity", as the latter term has replaced the former term under Canadian GAAP
applicable to publicly accountable enterprises.

e Delete section 4.4 as a result of repealing section 8.6 of Form 41-101F1 Information
Required in a Prospectus.

Companion Policy 44-101CP to National Instrument 44-101 Short Form Prospectus
Distributions

e Update references to "special purpose entity" by replacing them with "structured
entity", as the latter term has replaced the former term under Canadian GAAP
applicable to publicly accountable enterprises.

#5960547
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PROPOSED CHANGES TO
NATIONAL POLICY 11-201 ELECTRONIC DELIVERY OF DOCUMENTS
National Policy 11-201 Electronic Delivery of Documents is changed by this Document.
Section 1.1 is changed by adding the following definitions:

"annual disclosure statement” has the same meaning as in National Instrument 51-102
Continuous Disclosure Obligations;

“interim disclosure statement” has the same meaning as in National Instrument 51-102
Continuous Disclosure Obligations:;,

Subsection 1.4(1) is changed by adding ""annual disclosure statements, interim disclosure
statements, " before "financial statements”’.

These changes become effective on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED CHANGES TO

NATIONAL POLICY 11-206 PROCESS FOR CEASE TO BE A REPORTING ISSUER

#5960547

APPLICATIONS
National Policy 11-206 Process for Cease to be a Reporting Issuer Applications is
changed by this Document.
Section 2 is changed by adding the following definitions:

"annual disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 51-102
Continuous Disclosure Obligations;

"interim disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 51-102
Continuous Disclosure Obligations;.

Section 21 is changed by adding "annual disclosure statements, interim disclosure
statements or"’ before "financial statements”’.

These changes become effective on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED CHANGES TO

NATIONAL POLICY 11-207 FAILURE-TO-FILE CEASE TRADE ORDERS AND

REVOCATIONS IN MULTIPLE JURISDICTIONS
National Policy 11-207 Failure-to-File Cease Trade Orders and Revocations in Multiple
Jurisdictions is changed by this Document.
Section 3 is changed by adding the following definitions:

"annual disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 51-102
Continuous Disclosure Obligations;

"interim disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 51-102
Continuous Disclosure Obligations;.

Subsection 24(1) is changed by replacing ""annual or interim financial statements, MD&A
or MRFP, and certification of filings” with '"annual disclosure statement, interim
disclosure statement, annual information form, annual financial statements, interim
financial report, MD&A or MRFP, and certificate required under National Instrument 52-
109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings".

Section 25 is changed

(a) by adding '"interim disclosure statements,” before "'interim financial reports”
wherever it occurs, and

(b) in subsection (a) by adding "annual disclosure statements,” before ''audited
annual financial statements”’.

These changes become effective on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED CHANGES TO

NATIONAL POLICY 12-202 REVOCATION OF CERTAIN CEASE TRADE ORDERS

#5960547

National Policy 12-202 Revocation of Certain Cease Trade Orders is changed by this
Document.

Section 2 is changed by adding the following definitions:

"annual disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 51-102
Continuous Disclosure Obligations;

"interim disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 51-102
Continuous Disclosure Obligations;.

Section 6 is changed

(a) by adding '"interim disclosure statements,” before "'interim financial reports”
wherever it occurs, and

(b) in subsection (a) by adding "annual disclosure statements,” before ''audited
annual financial statements”’.

These changes become effective on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED CHANGES TO
NATIONAL POLICY 12-203 MANAGEMENT CEASE TRADE ORDERS
National Policy 12-203 Management Cease Trade Orders is changed by this Document.
Section 2 is changed by
(a) adding the following definitions:

"annual disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument
51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations;

"interim disclosure statement" has the same meaning as in National Instrument
51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations;, and

(b) replacing the definition of "'specified requirement' with the following:

"specified requirement" means the requirement to file within the time period
prescribed by securities legislation one or more of the following:

(a) an annual disclosure statement;
(b) an interim disclosure statement;
(©) annual financial statements;

(d) an interim financial report;

(e) an annual or interim MD&A;;
§)) an annual or interim MRFP;

(2) an annual information form;

(h) a certificate required under National Instrument 52-109 Certification of
Disclosure in Issuers' Annual and Interim Filings;.

Section 12 is changed by replacing the second paragraph with the following:

If a reporting issuer is in default of a specified requirement, the issuer must still comply
with all other applicable continuous disclosure requirements, other than requirements
reasonably linked to the specified requirement in question. For example, an issuer that has
not filed its annual disclosure statement on time will also be unable to comply with the
requirement to file a certification of annual filings under National Instrument 52-109
Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings. However, failure to
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comply with a requirement to file an annual disclosure statement in accordance with the
requirements of Part 3A of National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations
does not excuse compliance with other requirements of that instrument such as the
requirement to file material change reports in accordance with Part 7 or an information
circular in accordance with Part 9..

Subsection 19(c) is changed by replacing "Subsection 10.2(1) of Form 51-102F2 Annual
Information Form' with "Subsection 24(1) of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure
Statement"".

Appendix A is changed by replacing subsections 5.a. to c. with the following:

a. an annual disclosure statement, as required by Part 34 of National Instrument 51-
102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations, and

b. CEO and CFO certificates relating to the annual disclosure statement, as required
by National Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers' Annual and

Interim Filings (collectively, the required filings)]..

These changes become effective on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED CHANGES TO

COMPANION POLICY 41-101CP TO NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 41-101 GENERAL

#5960547

PROSPECTUS REQUIREMENTS
Companion Policy 41-101CP to National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus
Requirements is changed by this Document.
Section 2.7 is changed by
(a) replacing ""*‘special purpose” entity "’ with "'structured entity ",

(b) replacing '"'special purpose issuers of asset-backed securities” with "'structured
entities distributing asset-backed securities”, and

(c) replacing "'where an entity establishes a special purpose issuer” with ""where an
entity establishes a structured entity"”.

Section 4.4 is deleted.

Section 4.5 is changed by replacing "'a special purpose issuer of asset-backed securities”
with "a structured entity that has distributed asset-backed securities”.

These changes become effective on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED CHANGES TO

NATIONAL POLICY 41-201 INCOME TRUSTS AND OTHER INDIRECT OFFERINGS

#5960547

National Policy 41-201 Income Trusts and Other Indirect Offerings is changed by this
Document.

Section 3.7 is changed by

(a) deleting "section 10.8 of Ontario Securities Commission Form 41-501F1
Information Required in a Prospectus (or its successor), section 10.8 of Schedule 1
Information Required in a Prospectus to Quebec’s Regulation Q-28 respecting
General Prospectus Requirements (or its successor),"’, and

(b) replacing "item 7.3 of Form 51-102F2" with "subsections 20(3) and (4) of Form
51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement"'.

Section 3.11 is changed by replacing "Item 5.2 of Form 51-102F2" with "section 16 of
Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement"'.

Section 6.5.1 is changed by replacing ""Form 51-102F1" wherever it occurs with ""Part 2
of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement and Part 2 of Form 51-102F2 Interim
Disclosure Statement".

Section 6.5.2 is changed by replacing "' Although the instructions in Form 51102F1 do not
specifically state it, to meet the disclosure requirements for liquidity in Form 51102F1"
with ""To meet the disclosure requirements for liquidity and capital resources in Part 2 of
Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement and Part 2 of Form 51-102F2 Interim
Disclosure Statement".

These changes become effective on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED CHANGES TO
COMPANION POLICY 43-101CP TO NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 43-101 STANDARDS
OF DISCLOSURE FOR MINERAL PROJECTS

Companion Policy 43-101CP to National Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for
Mineral Projects is changed by this Document.

2. Subsection 4.2(6) is changed by replacing ""Under paragraph 1.4(e) of” with ""As required

under”.

3. This change becomes effective on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED CHANGES TO

COMPANION POLICY 44-101CP TO NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 44-101 SHORT

#5960547

FORM PROSPECTUS DISTRIBUTIONS

Companion Policy 44-101CP to National Instrument 44-101 Short Form Prospectus
Distributions is changed by this Document.

Section 1.7 is changed

(a) by replacing subsection (3) with the following:

€)

Current AIF — An issuer’s AIF filed under the applicable CD rule is a
"current AIF" until the issuer files an AIF for the next financial year, or is
required by the applicable CD rule to have filed its annual disclosure
statement or annual financial statements for the next financial year. If an
issuer fails to file a new AIF by the filing deadline under the applicable CD
rule for its annual disclosure statement or annual financial statements, it will
not have a current AIF and will not qualify under NI 44-101 to file a
prospectus in the form of a short form prospectus. If an issuer files a revised
or amended AIF for the same financial year as an AIF that has previously
been filed, the most recently filed AIF will be the issuer’s current AIF.

An issuer that is a venture issuer for the purpose of NI 51-102, and certain
investment funds, may have no obligation under the applicable CD rule to
file an AIF. However, to qualify under NI 44-101 to file a prospectus in the
form of a short form prospectus, that issuer will be required to file an AIF
in accordance with the applicable CD rule so as to have a "current AIF". A
current AIF filed by an issuer that is a venture issuer for the purposes of NI
51-102 can be expected to expire later than a non-venture issuer’s AIF, due
to the fact that the deadlines for filing an annual disclosure statement under
NI 51-102 are later for venture issuers than for other issuers., and

(b) by replacing subsection (4) with the following:

(4)

Current annual financial statements— An issuer’s comparative annual
financial statements filed under the applicable CD rule, together with the
accompanying auditor’s report, are “current annual financial statements”
until the issuer files, or is required under the applicable CD rule to have
filed, its annual disclosure statement or comparative annual financial
statements for the next financial year. If an issuer fails to file its annual
disclosure statement or comparative annual financial statements by the
filing deadline under the applicable CD rule, it will not have current annual
financial statements and will not be qualified under NI 44-101 to file a
prospectus in the form of a short form prospectus.
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Where there has been a change of auditor and the new auditor has not
audited the comparative period, the report of the predecessor auditor on the
comparative period must be included in the prospectus. The issuer may file
the report of the predecessor auditor on the comparative period with the
annual disclosure statement or the annual financial statements that are being
incorporated by reference into the short form prospectus, and clearly
incorporate by reference the predecessor auditor’s report in addition to the
new auditor’s report. Alternatively, the issuer can incorporate by reference
into the short form prospectus its annual disclosure statement or its
comparative financial statements filed for the previous year, including the
audit reports thereon..
Subsection 2.4(1) is changed by replacing "
with "structured entities "’

special purpose issuers’ wherever it occurs

Subsection 4.4(1) is changed by replacing "section 5.2 in NI 51-102F2"" with "section 16
of Form 51-102F1".

Section 4.5 is changed by replacing "'a special purpose issuer of asset-backed securities”
with "a structured entity distributing asset-backed securities”’.

Section 4.11 is replaced with the following:

4.11 General Financial Statement Requirements — A reporting issuer is required under
the applicable CD rule to file its annual disclosure statement or its annual financial
statements and related MD&A 90 days after year end (or 120 days if the issuer is a venture
issuer as defined in NI 51-102). An interim disclosure statement must be filed 45 days after
the last day of an interim period (or 60 days for a venture issuer) or for investment fund
issuers, an interim financial report and related MD&A must be filed 60 days after the end
of the most recent interim period. The financial statement requirements in NI 44-101 are
based on these continuous disclosure reporting time frames and do not impose accelerated
filing deadlines for a reporting issuer’s annual disclosure statement, interim disclosure
statement or financial statements. However, to the extent an issuer has filed an annual
disclosure statement, interim disclosure statement or financial statements in advance of the
deadline for doing so, those documents must be incorporated by reference in the short form
prospectus. We are of the view that directors of an issuer should endeavor to consider and
approve an annual disclosure statement, interim disclosure statement or financial
statements in a timely manner and should not delay the approval and filing of these
documents for the purpose of avoiding their inclusion in a short form prospectus. Once the
annual disclosure statement, interim disclosure statement or financial statements have been
approved, they should be filed as soon as possible..

These changes become effective on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED CHANGES TO
COMPANION POLICY 45-106CP PROSPECTUS EXEMPTIONS

Companion Policy 45-106CP Prospectus Exemptions is changed by this Document.
Subsection 3.8(2) is changed by replacing the second sentence with the following:

Form 45-106F3 requires qualifying issuers to incorporate by reference their annual
disclosure statement or annual financial statements and related management’s discussion
and analysis (MD&A), and AIF, if it is not included in the issuer’s annual disclosure
statement, and subsequent specified continuous disclosure documents required under

NI 51-102.

This change becomes effective on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED CHANGES TO
NATIONAL POLICY 46-201 ESCROW FOR INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERINGS
National Policy 46-201 Escrow for Initial Public Offerings is changed by this Document.

Subsection 3.2(a.1) is changed by replacing "Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc." with "NEO
Exchange Inc."” wherever it occurs.

Paragraph 3.3(2)(c) is changed by replacing ""Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc.” with "NEO
Exchange Inc.”.

Paragraph 4.4(1)(a) is changed by replacing ""Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc.” with "NEO
Exchange Inc.”.

Form 46-201F1 ESCROW AGREEMENT is changed in subsection 3.1(a) by replacing
"Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc.” with "NEO Exchange Inc."".

These changes become effective on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED CHANGES TO

COMPANION POLICY 51-101CP STANDARDS OF DISCLOSURE FOR OIL AND GAS

#5960547

ACTIVITIES

Companion Policy 51-101CP Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities is

changed by this Document.

Section 2.4 is changed

(a) in subsection (1) by deleting the second sentence, and

(b) in subsection (2) by replacing ""Form 51-102F2 Annual Information Form allows
the information required by section 2.1 of NI 51-101 to be included in the" with "A
reporting issuer can include the information required by section 2.1 of NI 51-101 in
its”’.

These changes become effective on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED CHANGES TO
NATIONAL POLICY 51-201 DISCLOSURE STANDARDS
National Policy 51-201 Disclosure Standards is changed by this Document.

Footnote 38 is changed by replacing "'interim financial statements” wherever it occurs
with "interim financial reports”’.

Footnote 40 is deleted.

These changes become effective on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED CHANGES TO
COMPANION POLICY 52-109CP TO NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 52-109

CERTIFICATION OF DISCLOSURE IN ISSUERS’ ANNUAL AND INTERIM FILINGS

#5960547

Companion Policy 52-109CP to National Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure
in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings is changed by this Document.

Section 12.1 is changed by replacing "annual MD&A, including the required disclosure
concerning DC&P and ICFR, before it is filed” with "annual disclosure statement,
including the required disclosure concerning DC&P and ICFR in its annual MD&A, before
it is filed”’.

This change becomes effective on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED CHANGES TO
COMPANION POLICY 52-110CP TO NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 52-110 AUDIT
COMMITTEES

L Companion Policy 52-110CP to National Instrument 52-110 Audit Committees is
changed by this Document.
2. Footnote 1 is deleted.

3. This change becomes effective on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED CHANGES TO

COMPANION POLICY 54-101CP TO NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 54-101
COMMUNICATION WITH BENEFICIAL OWNERS OF SECURITIES OF A REPORTING

ISSUER

Companion Policy 54-101CP to National Instrument 54-101 Communication with
Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer is changed by this Document.

Section 4.1 is replaced with the following:

4.1 Client Response Form

(D

2

3)

By completing a client response form as provided in Part 3 of the
Instrument, a beneficial owner gives notice of its choices concerning the
receipt of materials and the disclosure of ownership information concerning
it. Pursuant to section 3.4 of the Instrument, a beneficial owner may, by
notice to the intermediary through which it holds, change any prior
instructions given in a client response form. Proximate intermediaries
should alert their clients to the costs and other consequences of the options
in the client response form.

Section 3A.6 of National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure
Obligations requires reporting issuers to send annually a request form to the
registered holders and beneficial owners of its securities who are identified
under NI 54-101 as having chosen to receive all securityholder materials
sent to beneficial owners of securities. The beneficial owners may use the
request form to request a copy of the reporting issuer’s annual disclosure
statement or annual financial statements and related MD&A, interim
disclosure statements or interim financial reports and related MD&A, and
annual financial statements or interim financial reports filed under section
4.7 and subsection 4.10(2) of National Instrument 51-102 Continuous
Disclosure Obligations. Failing to return the request form or otherwise
specifically request a copy of the annual disclosure statement or annual
financial statements and related MD&A, interim disclosure statement or
interim financial reports and related MD&A, or annual financial statements
or interim financial reports filed under section 4.7 and subsection 4.10(2)
from the reporting issuer will override the beneficial owner’s standing
instructions under this Instrument in respect of the financial statements.

Financial statements received by beneficial owners in accordance with the
owner’s standing instructions under this Instrument may be included in an
annual disclosure statement or annual report..
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Section 5.4 is changed

(@)

(b)

in subsection (2) by replacing "annual financial statements and annual MD&A "
wherever it occurs with ""annual financial statements and annual MD&A, which,
for that purpose, may be included in an annual disclosure statement or annual
report”, and

in subsection (10)

)

(ii)

(iii)

in the second bullet by replacing "annual financial statements and annual
MD&A " with ""annual financial statements and annual MD&A, which, for
that purpose, may be included in an annual disclosure statement or annual
report,”,

by replacing the text of the third bullet with the following:

Section 3A.6 of National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure
Obligations (“NI 51-102”) establishes an annual request form mechanism
for registered holders and beneficial owners to request copies of a
reporting issuer’s annual disclosure statement or annual financial
statements and annual MD&A for the following year. A request for these
documents can also contain a request that the notice package for the
registered holder or beneficial owner contain a paper copy of the
information circular., and

by replacing the fourth bullet with the following:

Notice-and-access also can be used to send annual financial statements and
annual MD&A, which, for that purpose, may be included in an annual
disclosure statement or annual report, pursuant to subsection 3A.6(6) of NI
51-102. Notice-and-access is consistent with the principles for electronic
delivery set out in National Policy 11-201 Electronic Delivery of
Documents (“NP 11-201”)..

Section 7.2 is replaced with the following

7.2 Delay of annual disclosure statement, audited annual financial statements or
annual report — Section 9.1 of the Instrument recognizes that corporate law or securities
legislation may permit a reporting issuer to send its audited annual financial statements,
which may be included in an annual disclosure statement or annual report, to registered
holders of its securities later than other proxy-related materials. The Instrument provides
that the time periods applicable to sending proxy-related materials prescribed in the
Instrument do not apply to the sending of proxy-related materials that are annual financial
statements, an annual disclosure statement or an annual report if any of these materials are
sent by the reporting issuer to beneficial owners of the securities within the time limitations
established in applicable corporate law and securities legislation for the sending of the



-165-

statements or report to registered holders of the securities. Reporting issuers are
nonetheless encouraged to send their annual disclosure statement, annual financial
statements or an annual report at the same time as other proxy-related materials..

5. These changes become effective on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED CHANGES TO
COMPANION POLICY 71-102CP CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE AND OTHER
EXEMPTIONS RELATING TO FOREIGN ISSUERS

L Companion Policy 71-102CP Continuous Disclosure and Other Exemptions Relating to
Foreign Issuers is changed by this Document.

2. Section 4.1 is changed by replacing the last two sentences with the following:

For example, a foreign issuer may wish to file its U.S. Form 20F to satisfy the conditions
relating to the financial statement exemption, AIF exemption, MD&A exemption and the
annual disclosure statement exemption. The foreign issuer could file the Form 20F on
SEDAR under [the annual disclosure statement category] or [one of the annual
financial statement category, the AIF category or the MD&A category], and under the
other categories would file a letter giving the SEDAR project number under which the
Form 20F is filed..

3. This change becomes effective on [December 15, 2023].
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ANNEX G

SEMI-ANNUAL REPORTING FOR CERTAIN VENTURE ISSUERS ON A

VOLUNTARY BASIS

How will the market receive adequate ongoing disclosure under the Proposed Semi-Annual
Reporting Framework?

Ensuring adequate and timely disclosure is central to the Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting
Framework. The Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting Framework would add a new requirement that
an issuer files alternative disclosure within 60 days of the end of the issuer’s interim period for
which financial statements and MD&A would not be filed to

provide an update on the issuer’s operations, major operating milestones, commitments,
unexpected events, risks that are likely to materially affect operations going forward,
and explain any significant changes from previous disclosures regarding the use of
proceeds from any financing, and

disclose information and events that are material, including those related to the
following:

the issue or cancellation of any securities;

new or modified litigation or liabilities;

new or modified financing arrangements;
defaults under financing arrangements;
changes to the financial condition of the issuer;
the inability to pay debts as they become due;
related party transactions.

0 O O O O O O

Other existing regulatory and exchange requirements include

#5960547

the material change reporting requirements under Part 7 of NI 51-102 to immediately
issue and file a news release disclosing a material change,

the business acquisition report requirements under Part 8 of NI 51-102 for significant
acquisitions, and

for listed venture issuers, the timely disclosure requirements of the venture exchanges,
including TSXV Policy 3.3 — Timely Disclosure and CSE Policy 5 Timely Disclosure,
Trading Halts and Posting Requirements.
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1. Continuous Disclosure — NI 51-102

Policy area

How semi-annual reporting would be implemented on a
voluntary basis

Filing of interim disclosure
statement — interim financial
reports and interim MD&A (Part
3A)

A venture issuer could elect to only file an interim
disclosure statement for its interim period ending six
months before the end of the financial year’.

Alternative disclosure for
interim periods where it does not
file an interim disclosure
statement (new)

A venture issuer using semi-annual reporting must, for

each interim period where the issuer does not file an

interim disclosure statement, file alternative disclosure in a

news release to

e provide updates on the issuer’s operations, major
operating milestones, commitments, unexpected events,
risks that are likely to materially affect operations
going forward, and explain any significant changes
from previous disclosures regarding the use of
proceeds, and

o disclose information and events that are material,
including those related to:

o the issue or cancellation of any securities,

new or modified litigation or liabilities;

new or modified financing arrangements;

defaults under financing arrangements;

changes to the financial condition of the issuer;

the inability to pay debts as they become due;

related party transactions.

O O O O O O

Filing of financial statements
after becoming a reporting issuer
(section 4.7)

A venture issuer can elect to only file an interim financial
report for its interim period ending six months before the
end of the financial year if it will be taking advantage of
semi-annual reporting when it becomes a reporting issuer.

Impact on change in year-end
requirements (section 4.8)

A venture issuer can change its year-end and retain the
ability to use semi-annual reporting on a voluntary basis.

Impact on financial statements
of a reverse takeover acquirer
for periods before a reverse
takeover (section 4.10)

Under a reverse take-over, if the reverse take-over
acquirer will qualify as a venture issuer and intends to use
semi-annual reporting upon becoming a reporting issuer
then it can elect to use the semi-annual reporting
provisions when applying this section.

7 The phrase "interim period ending six months before the end of the financial year" is used to describe the period

covered by semi-annual reporting.

#5960547
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Policy area

How semi-annual reporting would be implemented on a
voluntary basis

Inclusion of semi-annual interim
financial report for an acquired
business required to be filed in a
BAR (subsection 8.4(3))

A venture issuer using semi-annual reporting that has
made a significant acquisition can elect to only include an
interim financial report for an acquired business for an
interim period ending six months before the end of the
financial year of the acquired business.

Allowing an earlier interim
financial report for an acquired
business required to be filed in a
BAR (subsection 8.4(4))

A venture issuer using semi-annual reporting that has
made a significant acquisition can elect to only include an
interim financial report for an acquired business for an
interim period ending six months before the end of the
financial year of the acquired business.

Additional Filing Requirement -
Change of status report — a
venture issuer voluntarily ‘opts
into/out of” semi-annual
reporting (Part 11)

A venture issuer must file a notice promptly after either
opting into or out of semi-annual reporting.

Transition provisions (Part 14)

Transition would have the following guiding principles

(a) eligible issuers must file a notice advising the
market when it enters or exits the semi-annual
reporting regime,

(b) opting in/out must be done at the beginning of a
fiscal year and that the commitment would be for at
least one complete year unless an issuer becomes
ineligible due to becoming a SEC issuer or ceasing
to be a venture issuer, and

(c) if an issuer loses eligibility during a year under (b),
it must file all applicable interim filings (Q1 and
03) that were not otherwise filed prior to the date
that it no longer qualified for semi-annual
reporting.

2. CEO/CFO Certification — NI 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual

and Interim Filings

Policy area

How semi-annual reporting would be implemented on a
voluntary basis

Certification of interim filing

A venture issuer using semi-annual reporting would be
required to certify as to their interim disclosure statement
for the semi-annual reporting period. The venture issuer
would not be required to file an interim certificate as to
their alternative disclosure in a news release.

#5960547
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3. Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards — NI 52-107 Acceptable
Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards

No substantive changes are required to accommodate semi-annual reporting.

4. TPO Offerings and Secondary Offerings using a Long Form Prospectus - NI 41-101
General Prospectus Requirements

Policy area

How semi-annual reporting would be implemented on a
voluntary basis

Filing of Interim Financial
Report and interim MD&A

Allow a venture issuer to elect to include only an interim
financial report and interim MD&A for its most recent
interim period ending six months before the end of the
financial year, if applicable, if it
(a) qualifies as an IPO venture issuer and intends to
use semi-annual reporting upon becoming a
reporting issuer, or
(b) is already a reporting issuer and has opted in to
semi-annual reporting.

Ensure that the guidance related
to recent and proposed
acquisitions is updated to reflect
the possibility that an issuer may
use semi-annual reporting for a
proposed acquisition

Update guidance related to recent and proposed
acquisitions to reflect the possibility that a venture issuer
may use semi-annual reporting for a proposed acquisition.

5. Secondary Offerings using a Short Form Prospectus - NI 44-101 Short Form
Prospectus Distributions, N1 44-102 Shelf Distributions and NI 44-103 Post-Receipt

Pricing

Policy area

How semi-annual reporting would be implemented on a
voluntary basis

Use of short form prospectuses

A venture issuer using semi-annual reporting would be
eligible to use the short form offering system. The current
short form prospectus regime can accommodate a change
to allow semi-annual reporting on a voluntary basis.

Ensure that the alternative
disclosure in a news release
required under the continuous
disclosure regime is
incorporated by reference in a
short form prospectus

Update the requirement to incorporate by reference any
additional filing (i.e. quarterly update by news release).
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Ensure that the guidance related | Update guidance related to recent and proposed

to recent and proposed acquisitions to reflect the possibility that a venture issuer
acquisitions is updated to reflect | may use semi-annual reporting for a proposed acquisition.
the possibility that an issuer may
use semi-annual reporting for a
proposed acquisition

6. Exempt Distributions — Offering Memorandum for Non-qualifying issuers - Form
45-106F2 Offering Memorandum for Non-Qualifying Issuers

Policy area How semi-annual reporting would be implemented on a
voluntary basis

Filing of an Interim Financial A venture issuer can elect to only include an interim

Report financial report for its most recent interim period ending

six months before the end of the financial year, if
applicable, ifit:

(a) qualifies as an IPO venture issuer and intends to
use semi-annual reporting upon becoming a
reporting issuer; or

(b) is already a reporting issuer and has opted in to
semi-annual reporting.

Ensure that the guidance related | Update the guidance related to recent and proposed

to recent and proposed acquisitions to reflect the possibility that a venture issuer
acquisitions is updated to reflect | may use semi-annual reporting for a proposed acquisition.
the possibility that an issuer may
use semi-annual reporting for a
proposed acquisition

7. Exempt Distributions — Offering Memorandum for Qualifying issuers® Form 45-
106F3 Offering Memorandum for Qualifying Issuers

Note: This form relies on NI 51-102 for determination of what is required to be incorporated by
reference. Therefore, changes to NI 51-102 above will consequentially affect the disclosure
required in an offering memorandum for qualifying issuers.

8 "qualifying issuer" is defined under NI 45-106 to mean a reporting issuer in a jurisdiction of Canada that is a SEDAR

filer, has filed all documents required to be filed under the securities legislation of that jurisdiction, and has filed a
current AIF.
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8. Other continuous disclosure documents reviewed — no expected impact from the
Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting Framework

We do not think any of the following instruments are affected by the proposal:

NI 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects;

NI 51-101 Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities,
NP 58-201 Corporate Governance Guidelines,

MI 51-105 Issuers Quoted in the U.S. Over-the-Counter Markets,
NI 52-108 Auditor Oversight,

NI 52-110 Audit Committees.

#5960547
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ANNEX H
LOCAL AMENDMENTS

In connection with the CSA Proposed Amendments, the Alberta Securities Commission is also
publishing for comment

. proposed amendments to Alberta Securities Commission Rule 13-501 Fees, and
. proposed amendments to Alberta Securities Commission Policy 51-601 Reporting Issuers
List.

Pursuant to sections 223(hh.5) and 224(1) of the Securities Act (Alberta)(the Act), we also propose
to prescribe the annual disclosure statement and the interim disclosure statement each as a core
document for the purpose of the “core document” definition in section 211.01(b) of the
Act. Specifically, we propose to make the following rule:

In Alberta, each of the following documents is prescribed as a core document for the
purpose of the “core document” definition in section 211.01(b):

(a) the annual disclosure statement;

(b) the interim disclosure statement.
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO
ALBERTA SECURITIES COMMISSION RULE 13-501 FEES

Alberta Securities Commission Rule 13-501 is amended by this Instrument.

Subparagraph 17(1)(e)(ii) is amended by deleting "or section 5.2".

Form 13-501F6 SUBSIDIARY EXEMPTION NOTICE is amended by replacing in
subparagraph (e)(ii) ""sections 5.2 and " with "section”’

This Instrument comes into force on [December 15, 2023].
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PROPOSED CHANGES TO
ALBERTA SECURITIES COMMISSION POLICY 51-601 REPORTING ISSUERS LIST
L Alberta Securities Commission Policy 51-601 is changed by this Document.
2. Appendix A is changed in section 1 by
(a) deleting "or" in paragraph (n), and
(b) adding the following after paragraph (0):
(p) annual disclosure statement; or
(q) interim disclosure statement..

3. This change becomes effective on [December 15, 2023].

#5960547



KPMG LLP

Bay Adelaide Centre
Suite 4600

333 Bay Street
Toronto ON M5H 2S5
Tel 416-777-8500

Fax 416-777-8818
www.kpmg.ca

British Columbia Securities Commission Our ref CSA Notice and
Alberta Securities Commission Request for
Financial and Consumer Affairs Authority of Comment
Saskatchewan

Manitoba Securities Commission

Ontario Securities Commission

Autorité des marchés financiers

Financial and Consumer Services Commission
(New Brunswick)

Superintendent of Securities, Department of
Justice and Public Safety, Prince Edward Island
Nova Scotia Securities Commission

Office of the Superintendent of Securities,
Service NL

Northwest Territories Office of the Superintendent
of Securities

Office of the Yukon Superintendent of Securities
Superintendent of Securities, Nunavut

c/o The Secretary

Ontario Securities Commission
20 Queen Street West

22nd Floor, Box 55

Toronto, Ontario

M5H 3S8

clo

Me Phillipe Lebel

Corporate Secretary and Executive Director,
Legal Affairs

Autorité des marchés financiers

Place de la Cité, tour Cominar

2640, boulevard Laurier, bureau 400
Québec (Québec)

G1V 5C1

KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. KPMG
Canada provides services to KPMG LLP



Ontario Securities Commission - CSA Notice and Request for Comment

17 September 2021

17 September 2021

To whom it may concern:

Thank you for the opportunity to comment and provide feedback on the Canadian
Securities Administrators (CSA) proposed amendments to National Instrument 51-
102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations and the Proposed Framework for Semi-
Annual Reporting — Venture Issuers on a Voluntary Basis.

Overall, we support the proposed amendments to National Instrument 51-102
Continuous Disclosure Obligations. We support the effort to streamline disclosure
requirements and reduce redundancies by combining in an annual disclosure
document the financial statements, management’s discussion and analysis
(MD&A), and, where applicable, the annual information form (AIF) into one annual
disclosure document. We also support having an interim disclosure document.

With respect to the question directed specifically at auditors regarding whether we
think there will be an impact, on auditing requirements, if a reporting issuer
amends or re-files only one of these documents, or re-files the annual disclosure
statement in its entirety. We believe there will be a change in responsibilities with
respect to the AIF. CAS 720 The Auditor’s Responsibility Relating to Other
Information addresses our responsibility related to other information (other than
financial statements and the auditor's report thereon), included in an entity's
annual report. CAS 720 notes that “an entity's annual report may be a single
document or a combination of documents that serve the same purpose”. Today,
the annual report encompasses MD&A, but it excludes the AlF, as the basis for
conclusions for CAS 720 indicates that the AIF is normally considered outside the
scope of CAS 720. However, we believe that including the current AIF contents
into one document also containing the financial statements will require us to
perform CAS 720 procedures such as reading the AlIF contents in the annual
disclosure document and consider whether there is a material inconsistency
between the other information and the financial statements and our knowledge
obtained from performing the audit. We would also be required to compare
selected amounts or other items in the other information with amounts or other
items in the financial statements. If the financial statements were refiled and our
audit updated, we would need to reperform our CAS 720 procedures, same as
today, but this would extend to the entire annual disclosure document including
the AIF portion. If the AIF portion alone were refiled, we would consider under
CSOA 5000 Use of the Practitioner's Communication or Name whether the use of
our report remains appropriate.

With respect to the Proposed Framework for Semi-Annual Reporting — Venture

Issuers on a Voluntary Basis, we believe analysts and investors are in the best

position to advise whether receiving information on a semi-annual basis will suit
their needs.

9.15.2021_CSA Notice and Request for Comment_Laura Document classification: KPMG Confidential 2
Moschitto



Ontario Securities Commission - CSA Notice and Request for Comment

17 September 2021

Please contact Brad Owen at (416) 777-8595 or Laura Moschitto at (416) 777-
8068 should you wish to discuss any of our comments.

Yours sincerely

Y, 23 P
e

Brad Owen Laura Moschitto
Partner, KPMG Department of Partner, KPMG Department of
Professional Practice (DPP) Professional Practice (DPP)

9.15.2021_CSA Notice and Request for Comment_Laura Document classification: KPMG Confidential
Moschitto



O fei

leadership beyond finance

Chief Accountant September 17, 2021
Ontario Securities Commission

20 Queen St W,

Toronto, ON M5H 3S8

Dear Cameron Mclnnis

Re: Comments on the Amendment to National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations
and Other Amendments and Changes Relating to Annual and Interim Filings of Non-Investment Fund
Reporting Issuers and Seeking Feedback on a Proposed Framework (the Amendment to National
Instrument 52-102)

The Committee on Corporate Reporting (CCR) of Financial Executives International Canada (FEI Canada) is
pleased to respond to the request for comment on the Amendment to National Instrument 52-102.

FEI Canada is the all-industry professional membership association for senior financial executives. With
12 chapters and over 1600 members, FEI Canada provides professional development, networking
opportunities, thought leadership and advocacy services to its members. The association membership,
which consists of Chief Financial Officers, Audit Committee Directors and senior executives in the Finance,
Controller, Treasury and Taxation functions, represents a significant number of Canada’s leading and most
influential corporations.

CCR is one of several thought leadership committees of FEI Canada. CCR is devoted to improving the
awareness of issues and educating FEI members on the implications of the issues it addresses and is
focused on continually improving the standards and regulations impacting corporate reporting.

CCR and FEI Canada would like to thank you for the opportunity to comment on the Amendment. FEI
broadly supports the Amendment and believes these changes will be helpful in streamlining disclosure
requirements and addressing current gaps/burdens in disclosures. Detailed responses to specific
guestions in the Amendment are provided in the Appendix to this letter.

Once again, thank you for the opportunity to respond to this amendment.

Sincerely,

Celine Arsenault
Chair — Committee on Corporate Reporting

116 Simcoe Street, Suite 300. Toronto, ON M5H 4E2
Ph:416.366.3007 1.866.677.3007 feicanada@feicanada.org
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Appendix - Proposed Amendments to National Instrument 51-102 and Feedback

on the Framework

PART-9 Comments on Specific Questions

The table below outlines feedback on the Specific Questions as outlined in Part-9 of the document.

Specific Questions

| Responses

Re: Question relating to additional disclosure for venture issuers without significant revenue

1. Do you think this requirement should
apply more broadly or more narrowly?
For example, should we extend this
disclosure requirement to non-venture
issuers that have significant projects not
yet generating revenue as well? Why or
why not?

We believe a more appropriate approach is to reduce
disclosures in Financial Statements (F/S), MD&A and
Annual Information Form and this should be extended to
all issuers, venture and non-venture alike. For example,
this can be achieved by removing duplicate disclosures, or
removing requirements for disclosure of multi-period
historical data that can is available in past filings, etc.

Removing or exempting certain issuers based on market
capitalization or lack of revenue may not be appropriate
and may cause more confusion for market participants. For
instance, some of these issuers may be participating in
business combinations, RTOs or may have significant
expense items on their income statement.

Re: Question relating to Risk Factors

2. Would it be beneficial for reporting
issuers if we provided further clarity on
what "seriousness" means and how to
determine the "seriousness" of a risk?

Most of the reporting issuers, if not all, are formally or
informally, utilizing various forms of risk assessment
methodologies in their respective organizations. Risk rating
on the basis of impact and probability (likelihood) is a
common practice. We agree that the following steps will
be useful:

grouping similar risks together;

disclosing generic risks under the heading "general
risks"; and

We believe the seriousness of the risk may be defined as
the “expected outcome” of impact and probability
(likelihood) assessments, which will be well understood by
the issuers. The term seriousness itself is a vague term and
should be more closely aligned with concepts of risk
assessment.

We also suggest that any reference to limiting the risk
section of a report to page numbers (~15) is not
appropriate and open to manipulation through use of font
sizing and spacing.

Re: Questions relating to the requirement

to name authors of technical reports

4. What challenges, if any, do reporting
issuers face in obtaining technical

We believe a Short Form Prospectus is an important
document and obtaining a Technical Report author

116 Simcoe Stri
Ph: 416.366.3007

eet, Suite 300. Toronto, ON MJ5H 4E2
1.866.677.3007 feicanada@feicanada.org
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Specific Questions

Responses

report author consents for short form
prospectus offerings?

consent is an essential part of the due diligence and
disclosure process. Further we believe that most
companies that qualify for Short Form Prospectus approval
are up to date in their Technical Reports and therefore
obtaining author’s consent is not a challenging step.

5. If the requirement to name the
technical report authors in the AIF (and
as a result, provide consents for short
form prospectus offerings) were
removed, would reporting issuers
continue to obtain approval of
prospectus disclosure from technical
report authors or would they rely more
on internal or external non-author QPs?

We believe as part of a sound system of internal controls

over disclosures, management and board of directors will
continue to obtain approval of prospectus disclosure from
technical report authors.

Further, we believe that relying on internal or external
non-author QPs will still require those QPs to perform their
necessary reviews before signing off, and therefore does
not necessary result in the issuer saving significant time
and costs in the process.

6. If reporting issuers were to rely on
internal or external non-author QPs for
purposes of providing consents for
short form prospectus offerings, in your
view, would investor protection be
impacted? Would relying on an internal
QP for consent purposes (where an
external QP authored the original
report) raise potential conflict of
interest concerns?

We believe that all QPs are professionals and abide by the
code of ethics issued by their respective professional
associations / institutes. An internal or external non-author
QP providing consent would therefore not raise potential
conflict of interest, as long as the professional abides by
the rules laid out of by their respective professional
associations / institutes.

Question relating to impact of refiling on auditor's report

7. Considering that the annual
disclosure statement will include annual
financial statements, MD&A and, where
applicable, AlF, do you think there will
be an impact, including on auditing
requirements, if a reporting issuer
amends or re-files only one of these
documents, or re-files the annual
disclosure statement in its entirety?

We believe that combining the financial statements,
MD&A and AIF into a single annual disclosure statement
will pose certain problems, as discussed below:

e Section 4(1) (revised) requires the annual financial
statements be audited. However, there is no
reference to an audit requirement for the MD&A and
AIF and only a “consistency” check is performed by the
auditors to ensure that information disclosed conforms
with the financial statements. This is consistent with
current practice, but it could be helpful to issuers if the
revised regulations confirmed the status quo.

e Combining audited and un-audited information in
single document (i.e., annual disclosure statement)
may cause confusion to readers. In addition, combining
these documents may increase audit scope and related
costs.

e Restating and reporting prior period information
within a combined document may be a challenge.

116 Simcoe Street, Suite 300. Toronto, ON M5H 4E2
Ph:416.366.3007 1.866.677.3007 feicanada@feicanada.org
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Specific Questions

Responses

Question relating to proposed amendments to Form 41-101F1 Information Required in a
Prospectus and Form 44-101F1 Short Form Prospectus

8. To align the continuous disclosure
and prospectus regimes, we are
proposing to remove certain prospectus
disclosure requirements. Are there any
concerns with the removal of this
information from a prospectus? Please
explain.

There are no concerns with the removal of the information
from a prospectus.

Questions relating to semi-annual reporting for certain venture issuers on a voluntary basis

9. Should we pursue the Proposed
Semi-Annual Reporting Framework for
voluntary semi-annual reporting for
venture issuers that are not SEC
issuers? Please explain.

We have two point of views on this proposal:

e The revised reporting framework should not be
voluntary as this might cause confusion among users.
Lack of comparability may force most of the issuers to
stay with the quarterly reporting frequency, thus
providing little or no relief for most issuers.

e We propose that instead of entirely skipping a
reporting quarter, the companies on the venture
exchange may report semi-annually (F/S and MD&A),
with Q1 and Q3 Operational Updates or Business
Reviews. For further information and examples, please
refer to the reporting framework in Australia.

10. Are there specific types of venture
issuers for which semi-annual reporting
would not be appropriate? For instance,
should semi-annual reporting be limited
to venture issuers below a certain
market capitalization or those not
generating significant revenue? Please
explain.

11. Would the proposed alternative
disclosure requirements under the
Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting
Framework provide adequate disclosure
to investors? Would any additional
disclosure be required? Is any of the
proposed disclosure unnecessary given
the existing requirements for material
change reporting and the timely
disclosure requirements of the venture
exchanges? Please explain.

12. Do you have any other feedback
relating to the Proposed Semi-Annual
Reporting Framework?

We understand that the intent of regulators to reduce
regulatory reporting burden is an important

goal. However, for the reasons outlined in the response to
Question 1 and Question 9 above, we do not recommend
that semi-annual reporting should be allowed, on an opt-in
basis.

As highlighted above, a reduction in reporting
requirements can be achieved through (i) reduced
disclosures or (ii) a hybrid approach including first/third
quarter reporting in the form of Operational Updates or
Business Reviews that would apply equally to all venture
issuers. Full F/S and MD&A could be reported for H1 and
H2 period ends.

Questions relating to transition provisions

116 Simcoe Street, Suite 300. Toronto, ON M5H 4E2
Ph:416.366.3007 1.866.677.3007 feicanada@feicanada.org
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Specific Questions

Responses

13. Do you think the proposed
transition provisions are sufficiently
clear? If not, how can we make them
clearer?

14. Do you think the transition
provisions in the amending instrument
for N1 51-102 would provide reporting
issuers with sufficient time to review
the Proposed Amendments and prepare
and file an annual disclosure statement
for a financial year ending on, for
example, December 31, 2023 if the final
amendments are published in
September 2023? Do you think more
time should be afforded to smaller
reporting issuers (such as venture
issuers)?

We believe that the current transition timeline is not
sufficient to provide issuers the time to understand and
apply the new rules. We also suggest that the new
framework should be effective from the first quarter of the
reporting year, and instead of the year-end when the
issuers are busy with annual audits. Assessing and applying
new reporting requirements close to such a busy time of
the year may be very inconvenient for the issuers.

116 Simcoe Street, Suite 300. Toronto, ON M5H 4E2
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British Columbia Securities Commission

Alberta Securities Commission

Financial and Consumer Affairs Authority of Saskatchewan
Manitoba Securities Commission

Ontario Securities Commission

Autorité des marchés financiers

Financial and Consumer Services Commission, New Brunswick
Superintendent of Securities, Department of Justice and Public Safety, Prince Edward Island
Nova Scotia Securities Commission

Office of the Superintendent of Securities, Service NL
Northwest Territories Office of the Superintendent of Securities
Office of the Yukon Superintendent of Securities
Superintendent of Securities, Nunavut

c/o

The Secretary

Ontario Securities Commission
20 Queen Street West

22" Floor, Box 55

Toronto Ontario

M5H 358

Me Philippe Lebel

Corporate Secretary and Executive Director, Legal Affairs
Autorité des marchés financiers

Placee de la Cité, tour Cominar

2640, boulevard Laurier, bureau 400

Québec (Québec) G1V 5C1

DELIVERED VIA EMAIL: comment@osc.gov.on.ca and consultation-en-cours@lautorite.qc.ca

Dear Sirs/Mesdames:

RE: CSA Notice and Request for Comment Proposed Amendments to National Instrument 51-102
Continuous Disclosure Obligations and Other Amendments and Changes Relating to Annual and Interim
Filings of Non-Investment Fund Reporting Issuers

TC Energy Corporation (TC Energy) appreciates the opportunity to provide comments on the CSA’s
proposed amendments to National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations and Other
Amendments and Changes Relating to Annual and Interim Filings of Non-Investment Fund Reporting Issuers
published on May 20, 2021 (the Proposed Amendments).

TCEnergy.com Page | 1
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TC Energy is a leader in the development and reliable operation of North American energy infrastructure
including natural gas and liquids pipelines, power generation and natural gas storage facilities. TC Energy
and three of its subsidiary entities are reporting issuers in each province and territory of Canada. In
addition, TC Energy and TransCanada Pipelines Limited are subject to reporting obligations In the United
States under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and file continuous disclosure documents with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

TC Energy is supportive of the Proposed Amendments and believes that they will successfully streamline
the continuous disclosure requirements under NI 51-102 and reduce the regulatory burden on issuers
without compromising investor protection or the efficiency of the capital markets.

With respect to implementation of the Proposed Amendments, TC Energy offers the following comments:
1. Timing of the Publication of the Final Amendments

Q14: Do you think the transition provisions in the amending instrument for NI 51-102
would provide reporting issuers with sufficient time to review the Proposed Amendments
and prepare and file an annual disclosure statement for a financial year ending on, for
example, December 31, 2023 if the final amendments are published in September 2023?
Do you think more time should be afforded to smaller reporting issuers (such as venture
issuers)?

Given that the Proposed Amendments significantly modify the format of an issuer’s current disclosure
documents, TC Energy requests that the final version of the Proposed Amendments be published in Q2 of
2023 (or earlier) for filing of an annual disclosure statement for the financial year ending on December 31,
2023.

TC Energy requires a relatively long lead time to prepare, review and approve its annual disclosure
documents. In a typical year, TC Energy begins preparing annual disclosure beginning in late Q3 of the prior
year for a February filing. The Proposed Amendments would require additional lead time given the
significant change in format. As a result, TC Energy requests that the final version be published no later
than six months prior to the effective date.

2. Delivery Requirements of the AIF

We note, as you are aware, that under the current continuous disclosure regime, there is no requirement
to deliver the AIF. However, if the Proposed Amendments are implemented, then issuers will be required
to deliver the AIF (as part of the annual disclosure statement) to shareholders who request a paper copy of
the MD&A or financial statements. As a result, issuers will bear the additional cost of printing and delivering
a much longer document. In our view, this detracts from the objective of the Proposed Amendments. We
recognize that the “access equals delivery” model outlined in CSA Consultation Paper 51-405 would obviate
this issue and we encourage the CSA to continue to advance “access equals delivery”, ideally implementing
it simultaneously with the Proposed Amendments.

TCEnergy.com Page | 2
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Thank you for advancing this important initiative. Please do not hesitate to contact me if | can elaborate
on these comments or if TC Energy can otherwise provide assistance.

Sincerely,

DocuSigned by:

5C36BBABAD39408...
Christine R. Johnston

Vice-President, Law and Corporate Secretary

TCEnergy.com Page | 3
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September 17, 2021

British Columbia Securities Commission

Alberta Securities Commission

Financial and Consumer Affairs Authority of Saskatchewan
Manitoba Securities Commission

Ontario Securities Commission

Autorité des marchés financiers

Financial and Consumer Services Commission, New Brunswick
Superintendent of Securities, Department of Justice and Public Safety, Prince Edward Island
Nova Scotia Securities Commission

Office of the Superintendent of Securities, Service NL
Northwest Territories Office of the Superintendent of Securities
Office of the Yukon Superintendent of Securities
Superintendent of Securities, Nunavut

Ms. Grace Knakowski
Secretary to the Commission
Ontario Securities Commission
20 Queen Street West

22nd Floor, Box 55

Toronto, Ontario

M5H 3S8

Fax: 416-593-2318
comment@osc.gov.on.ca

Me Philippe Lebel

Corporate Secretary and Executive Director, Legal Affairs
Autorité des marchés financiers

Place de la Cité, tour Cominar

2640, boulevard Laurier, bureau 400

Québec (Québec) G1V 5C1

Fax: 514-864-8381
consultation-en-cours@lautorite.gc.ca

Re: Proposed Amendments to National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations and

Other Amendments and Changes Relating to Annual and Interim Filings of Non-Investment Fund

Reporting Issuers and Seeking Feedback on a Proposed Framework for Semi-Annual Reporting —
Venture Issuers on a Voluntary Basis

Dear Ms. Knakowski and Me Lebel,
The Canadian Bankers Association (CBA) would like to take this opportunity to provide comments on the

proposed amendments to NI 51-102 noted above. Overall, we are supportive of these amendments;
however, some comments are outlined below for your consideration.

Box 348, Commerce Court West 199 Bay Street, 30th Floor Toronto, Ontario M5L 1G2 cbha.ca
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As an opportunity to further streamline the MD&A, kindly consider the following recommendations:

Consistent with the proposal to remove the requirement related to the eight-quarter trend review,
eliminate the requirement to review current year fourth quarter performance against prior year
fourth quarter financial performance in the annual MD&A.

Streamline/eliminate overlap of disclosure requirements regarding directors and officers and
governance matters (i.e., name, residence, principal occupation, length of service, committee
memberships, etc.) and the audit committee charter and related audit committee disclosure (e.qg.
financial literacy, etc.). Most of this information is available in other disclosures, such as the proxy
circular, and it is easily found on an issuer’s Investor Relations webpage. This change should not
negatively impact investor protections. Further, such disclosure requirements could be required for
inclusion in the proxy circular.

Eliminate the AIF requirement to provide an explanation of the approach to credit ratings and
outlook utilized by applicable rating agencies as this information relates to rating agencies rather
than the issuer, and users should be able to obtain this information from the rating agencies
directly.

In addition, we also kindly ask that you consider the following comments and recommendations:

Consider clarifying the distinction, if any, between the requirements set out in section 3(2)(d) with
respect to known trends, demands, commitments, events, risks or uncertainties that have affected
an issuer’s business, financial condition, financial performance and cash flows or are reasonably
likely to affect them in the future and the requirement set out in section 16 with respect to risk
factors.

Consider clarifying whether the proposed transactions in section 7 are limited to material
transactions.

In the past, the description of social or environmental policies was only required where fundamental
to an issuer’s operations. Consider clarifying whether this remains the case or has this requirement
been broadened to all issuers.

Consider providing an illustrative disclosure for the new “annual disclosure statement” to enable
issuers to visualize the document or determine whether cross references are needed between the
AIF/MD&A/FS sections.

Also, with respect to re-filings, we ask for clarification as to whether we should be considering our
annual disclosure statement as one single document or if we should be treating as three distinct
documents.

Lastly, in addition to the comments above, our response to a few of the specific questions outlined in this
proposal are attached in Appendix A.
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We would be pleased to discuss any questions you may have and would like to thank the OSC for the
opportunity to express our views and opinions on these proposed amendments.

Regards,

“Darren Hannah”

Attached Appendix A



Appendix A — Responses to CSA’s request for comment items

Question #2

We have retained instruction (i) to section 5.2 of the Current AIF Form (as proposed section 16 of Form
51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement) which requires a reporting issuer to disclose risks in order of
seriousness from the most serious to least serious. Proposed instruction (3) to the same section
suggests that “seriousness” refers to impact/probability assessment. Would it be beneficial for reporting
issuers if we provided further clarity on what “seriousness” means and how to determine the
“seriousness” of a risk?

CBA response: We agree that additional clarity is required around the meaning of “seriousness”.
Further, while we recognize the benefits of providing this disclosure in a tabular format, we would
appreciate flexibility in presentation, which will allow us to best meet the needs of our investors.

Question #3

SEC’s Modernization of Regulation S-K Items 101, 103, and 105 adopts amendments which require the
following:

- grouping similar risks together;

- disclosing generic risks under the heading “general risks”; and

- requiring a summary of risk factor disclosure if the risk factor disclosure exceeds 15 pages.

If we adopted similar requirements to the SEC’s amendments, what would be the benefits and costs for
investors and reporting issuers?

CBA response: The benefit of adopting similar requirements to the SEC’s amendments would be
increased alignment with these SEC disclosure requirements, which would be beneficial to issuers that
issue securities into the U.S. market.

Question #7

Considering that the annual disclosure statement will include annual financial statements, MD&A and,
where applicable, AlF, do you think there will be an impact, including on auditing requirements, if a
reporting issuer amends or re-files only one of these documents, or re-files the annual disclosure
statement in its entirety?

CBA response: The CSA should be specific where re-filings will require complete or partial re-filings.
Feedback from the relevant professional accounting firms or bodies should also be considered.
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Dear Sirs/Mesdames:

Proposed Amendments to National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations (“NI 51-102")
and Other Amendments and Changes Relating to Annual and Interim Filings of Non-Investment Fund
Reporting Issuers and Feedback on a Proposed Framework for Semi-Annual Reporting — Venture Issuers
on a Voluntary Basis

This letter is provided to you in response to the Notice and Request for Comment on the proposed
amendments to NI 51-102 and request for feedback on a proposed framework for semi-annual reporting
by venture issuers. Defined terms used in the Notice and Request for Comment will be similarly used in
this letter.

MNP LLP (“MNP”) supports initiatives to improve the information reporting issuers disclose to investors.
We support the Proposed Amendments that streamline disclosure in interim and annual continuous
disclosure filings, including the proposal to combine disclosure into an annual disclosure statement and
an interim disclosure statement. We also support the CSA’s efforts to remove disclosure duplication and
clarify the continuous disclosure requirements.
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Proposed Framework for Semi-Annual Reporting — Venture Issuers on a Voluntary Basis

1. Should we pursue the Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting Framework for voluntary annual reporting
for venture issuers that are not SEC issuers? Please explain.

Yes, we support a framework that would permit some venture issuers to report financial statements
and MD&A semi-annually. We agree that for early-stage companies that do not generate significant
revenue and resource exploration companies listed on the TSXV or CSE, first and third quarter interim
financial statements and MD&A are of limited benefit to investors, especially if their financial results
do not change significantly from quarter-to-quarter.

We believe that the proposed semi-annual reporting framework would significantly reduce
regulatory burden for small to mid-size entities and produce significant cost savings for these entities.
The current quarterly reporting system imposes a proportionately greater burden on smaller issuers
with more limited resources.

Disclosure by venture issuers, including IFRS compliant financial statements, is becoming increasingly
complex and difficult to follow for users, mainly due to excessive information that may not be
relevant to their requirements. A significant portion of the disclosure includes boilerplate and generic
disclosures that have essentially become the norm, as entities pursue a checklist approach to
disclosure. There is an issue of information overload, where additional information disclosed
sometimes obscures or undermines more important and relevant information.

We acknowledge that a semi-annual reporting system is in place in other foreign jurisdictions.
Therefore, regulators in those jurisdictions have determined that the market is provided with all
relevant information without reporting issuers being required to file first and third quarter interim
financial statements. We encourage the CSA to pursue a semi-annual reporting system in Canada.

2. Are there specific types of venture issuers for which semi-annual reporting would appropriate? For
instance, should semi-annual reporting be limited to venture issuers a certain market capitalization
or those not generating significant revenue? Please explain.

We do not believe that the eligibility criteria for the venture issuer semi-annul reporting framework
should be based on market capitalization or size. The proposed mandatory first and third quarter
news release update would provide adequate disclosure to investors for resource and shell venture
issuers, regardless of market capitalization or size. First and third quarter interim financial statements
and MD&A would not provide additional material relevant information for these issuers.

We believe that a significant portion of venture issuers would opt to continue to file quarterly interim
financial statements and MD&A, particularly if the companies that the venture issuer is benchmarked
against report quarterly (e.g. the issuer’s peers are SEC registrants), or to meet analyst or investors’
expectations.

3. Would the proposed alternative disclosure requirements under the Proposed Semi-Reporting
Framework provide adequate disclosure to investors? Would any additional disclosure be
required? Is any of the proposed disclosure unnecessary given the existing requirements for
material change reporting and the timely disclosure requirements venture exchanges? Please
explain.



We believe that the proposed framework for semi-annual financial statements and MD&A, combined
with the proposed mandatory first and third quarter news release and existing material change
report requirements, would result in material information being adequately disclosed to investors.

If the CSA decides to proceed with the proposed semi-annual reporting framework, we believe that
additional guidance should be provided about the alternative news release disclosure. For example,
the nature of information expected to be disclosed in the news release regarding modified litigation.

4. Do you have any other feedback relating to the Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting Framework?

If a reporting issuer who is a Capital Pool Company completes a qualifying transaction, or a shell
company completes a significant acquisition or reorganization during a financial year, management
may wish to opt into the quarterly reporting system after the completion of these significant
transactions. We suggest that the CSA consider permitting reporting issuers to opt into the quarterly
reporting framework during a fiscal year upon the completion of specified events such as major
business acquisitions or dispositions, changes in the issuer’s primary business, material debt or equity
offerings with complex accounting, or covenant breaches.

We support the CSA’s proposal to amend the financial statement and MD&A disclosure requirements
in the prospectus rules so that these requirements continue to be harmonized with the semi-annual

reporting framework for continuous disclosure purposes.

Proposed Amendments to NI 51-102

5. Do you think the transition provisions in the amending instrument for NI 51-102 provide issuers
with sufficient time to review the Proposed Amendments prepare and file an annual disclosure
statement for a financial year ending on, for example, December 31, 2023 if the final amendments
are published in September 2023? Do you more time should be afforded to smaller reporting
issuers (such as venture issuers)?

We believe that more time should be provided for issuers to implement the amendments to NI 51-
102. The amendments should be effective for financial reporting periods beginning approximately six
months after publication of the amendments to allow a sufficient period for effective
implementation.

For example, venture issuers will be required to file their third quarter (September 30) 2023 interim
filings at the end of November 2023 and their year-end 2023 annual filings at the end of April 2024.
If the the final amendments are published in September 2023, and are effective for financial years
ending on December 31, 2023, venture issuers would need to complete a detailed analysis of the
final amendments, combine their disclosure documents, and prepare the new disclosure document
at the same time as preparing their third quarter 2023 interim filings and their year-end 2023
financial statement preparation and audit which we believe would create significant challenges for
smaller entities who have limited resources.



Other comments

o MD&A Disclosure for Investment Entities and Non-investment Entities Recording Investments
at Fair Value

Many small to mid-size reporting issuers do not currently have access to summarized financial
information for their investees, particularly where the reporting issuer does not control or have
significant influence over the investee. Additionally, where the investee is a private entity there may
be confidentiality restrictions that prohibit the disclosure of available financial information.
Therefore, we have significant concerns about the proposed requirement for issuers to disclose
summarized financial information for investees in which they have a concentrated holding. We
believe that there would be significant challenges for some issuers to comply with this requirement
on a timely basis and compliance would require considerable time and cost to implement. We also
question the relevance and reliability of this financial information. Investees that are private entities
often do not prepare financial information that complies with IFRS.

Regarding the proposed requirement to disclose “drivers of fair value changes by investment”, we
believe that management of some reporting issuers may not have the knowledge and expertise to
determine this information and that external experts may need to be engaged to assist with this
disclosure requirement. This would create additional cost and regulatory burden. In particular, for
investees in emerging industries where there is significant volatility in fair values, it may be
particularly challenging to determine the drivers of fair value changes and this could result in
boilerplate and generic disclosure.

e Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises

General instruction (5) to Proposed Form 51-102F1 and General instruction (5) to Proposed Form 51-
102F2 refer to accounting terms that are defined or used in Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly
accountable enterprises, however, some reporting issuers do not prepare financial statements using
Canadian GAAP.

MNP is one of Canada’s largest chartered accountancy and business advisory firms. Our clients include
small to mid-size owner-managed businesses in agriculture, agribusiness, retail and manufacturing as well
as credit unions, co-operatives, First Nations, medical and legal professionals, not-for-profit organizations
and municipalities. In addition, our client base includes a sizable contingent of publicly traded companies.

Yours truly,
MNP LLP

(o~

David Danziger, CPA, CA
Senior Vice President, Assurance & National Leader, Public Companies
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Dear Sirs/Mesdames:

CSA Notice and Request for Comment — Proposed Amendments to National Instrument 51-102
Continuous Disclosure Obligations and Other Amendments and Changes Relating to Annual
and Interim Filings of Non-Investment Fund Reporting Issuers and Seeking Feedback on a
Proposed Framework for Semi-Annual Reporting — Venture Issuers on a Voluntary Basis

We are writing in response to CSA Notice and Request for Comment — Proposed Amendments to
National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations and Other Amendments and Changes
Relating to Annual and Interim Filings of Non-Investment Fund Reporting Issuers and Seeking
Feedback on a Proposed Framework for Semi-Annual Reporting — Venture Issuers on a Voluntary
Basis (the “Proposed Amendments”).

We commend the CSA for its regulatory burden reduction initiatives and the thoughtful approach to
continuous disclosure obligations under Canadian securities laws evidenced by the Proposed
Amendments. We recognize that in preparing the Proposed Amendments, the CSA must balance the
competing priorities of investor protection against the significant cost and burden of compliance
imposed on reporting issuers in Canada under our public company disclosure regime. We commend
the efforts of the CSA to streamline disclosure obligations and eliminate certain disclosure requirements
which are not particularly useful for investors.

As often noted, the volume of continuous disclosure required to be produced by reporting issuers and
provided to the market under Canadian securities laws can have a counter-productive effect.
Voluminous disclosure is not necessarily good disclosure and has a tendency to obfuscate or
overwhelm the key matters described in an issuer’s disclosure. As noted in our comments, there may
be further opportunities for the CSA to reduce or streamline continuous disclosure obligations for the
benefit of Canadian reporting issuers and investors, to increase the utility of the Proposed Amendments
for all interested parties.

Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein have the meaning ascribed thereto in the
Proposed Amendments.

RESPONSES TO QUESTIONS INCLUDED IN THE PROPOSED AMENDMENTS
Question relating to additional disclosure for venture issuers without significant revenue

1. Do you think this requirement should apply more broadly or more narrowly? For example,
should we extend this disclosure requirement to non-venture issuers that have significant
projects not yet generating revenue as well? Why or why not?

We agree that the broadening of disclosure requirements relating to significant projects of issuers that
have generated significant revenue represents good disclosure which should be useful to the investing
public. In line with the approach to these disclosure requirements in item 3.(6) of Form 51-102F1 in the
Proposed Amendments which refers to mineral project on a property “material to your company”, and

notwithstanding General Instruction (12) of Form 51-102F1, it would be helpful for the CSA to explicitly
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confirm in items 3.(4) and (5) of Form 51-102F1 that the disclosure relating to projects, business
activities or groups of related business activities that have not yet generated revenue and products and
services not fully developed or not yet at the commercial production stage, respectively, should in each
be made only where material or reasonably expected to be material to the company.

Questions relating to risk factors

2. Would it be beneficial for reporting issuers if we provided further clarity on what
“seriousness” means and how to determine the “seriousness” of a risk?

We do not believe there is any need to clarify the meaning of “seriousness” as it appears in the
instructions to item 16 of Form 51-102F1 of the Proposed Amendments, item 18 of the Proposed
Amendments to National Instrument 41-101 GENERAL PROSPECTUS REQUIREMENTS or item 16 of
the Proposed Amendments to National Instrument 44-101 SHORT FORM PROSPECTUS
DISTRIBUTIONS (together, the “Risk Factor Amendments”), particularly in light of the elaborating
language already included in instruction (3)(c) in each such case.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, we have serious concerns with several aspects of the approach to risk
factor disclosure contemplated by the Risk Factor Amendments. The proposed requirement to disclose
the issuer’s risk mitigation strategy in relation to each risk factor is potentially harmful and we foresee
that many issuers may take the opportunity as a result of this instruction to disclose risk mitigation
strategies which are misleading or unlikely to be impactful. The inclusion of a discussion of such risk
mitigation strategies in the risk factor disclosure may in many circumstances reduce the gravity of the
risk factor in the evaluation of the investing public or contribute to a potentially misleading view that a
particular risk is or can be appropriately managed by the issuer. Risk mitigation is more appropriate
discussed in the context of the discussion of an issuer’s ongoing business in the issuer's MD&A, where
such discussion has traditionally been found. An affirmative requirement to disclose risk mitigation
strategies as part of the risk factors themselves could weaken the risk factor disclosure and could
significantly increase the risk that issuers may be alleged to have mislead their investors, creating new
and unwarranted litigation risk for Canadian reporting issuers.

We recognize that the CSA is seeking to add additional context for investors weighting the seriousness
of a potential risk factor against the risk mitigation strategies of the issuer by proposing the inclusion of
the impact / probability assessment of the issuer in relation to each risk factor. Inclusion of the impact /
probability assessment of the issuer in relation to a risk could partially ameliorate concerns described
above relating to the potential for issuers to minimize or understate their risks by including overly
optimistic or ineffective risk mitigation strategies in their risk factor disclosure. Our primary concern with
the impact / probability assessment is that this disclosure itself will contribute further unwarranted
litigation risk for reporting issuers in Canada, to the extent that the impact / probability assessment is
under-represented by an issuer in relation to risks which will ultimately come to fruition. This enhanced
litigation risk will create exposure for issuers even where the issuer accurately predicted the probability
and impact of a particular risk factor without any wrongdoing or malfeasance. Even risks with a low
probability will on occasion come to fruition, and following each such occurrence investors will with
hindsight expect that it should have been obvious to the issuer that the risk was much more likely than
disclosed in its risk factor impact / probability assessment.
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An obvious example of this issue would have arisen for reporting issuers if reporting risk factor
disclosure pursuant to the Risk Factor Amendments in 2020, prior to the start of the COVID-19
pandemic. Many issuers at that time would have appropriately given a low weighting to the impact /
probability of a pandemic outbreak, as there had been no significantly impactful global pandemic in
over 100 years. In fact, many Canadian issuers would not have included any explicit reference to
potential pandemics in their risk factors at that time. As this example highlights, the evaluation of the
impact / probability of a risk factor is very difficult in practice and the benefits of such disclosure to
investors do not outweigh the enhanced risk for Canadian reporting issuers. Risk factors are inherently
forward-looking. Requiring issuers to contextualize the impact / probability of a risk factor is in effect
asking the issuer to include in its disclosure its best guess of the impact of an unknowable future, with
potential liability attaching to the extent that the issuer is wrong in respect of any risk that results in a
negative impact on the share price of the issuer.

While we understand the rationale for the proposed risk mitigation and impact / probability assessment
disclosure proposed by the CSA in the Proposed Amendments and concede that it is potentially
informative for the investing public, we would ask the CSA to reconsider such inclusions as contributing
to significant enhanced liability risk for Canadian reporting issuers. Further, it is not clear in the
Proposed Amendments whether the impact / probability assessment disclosure is meant to be
guantitative or qualitative and we are not convinced that this disclosure requirement will be easy for
reporting issuers to interpret or comply with. We believe that risk factor disclosure is already addressed
appropriately and comprehensively under Canadian securities laws.

We are also worried about the proposed divergence from the approach to risk factor disclosure under
U.S. securities laws represented by the Risk Factor Amendments and the potential enhanced risk this
poses for MJDS issuers, which constitute a material segment of reporting issuers in Canada and the
overwhelming majority of Canadian reporting issuers with significant market capitalizations. The
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) has not even imposed an obligation to order risk factors
by perceived seriousness out of concern for possible liability implications for U.S. public companies,
though it recently considered making such a change to the risk factor disclosure obligations under U.S.
securities laws. We would ask that the CSA consider and reflect upon the work done by the SEC in this
area, which demonstrates a more balanced approach to the interests of investors and providing
adequate protection from unwarranted liability risk for reporting issuers.

3. If we adopted similar requirements to the SEC’s amendments, what would be the benefits and
costs for investors and reporting issuers?

We do not see any added benefit to adopting the SEC’s Modernization of Regulation S-K amendments
referenced in the Proposed Amendments, we believe that Canadian capital markets are more familiar
with the traditional Canadian approach of ordering risk factors by seriousness and that the grouping of
risk factors could create confusion in this context. We do not feel that the added burden of preparing a
summary of risk factors is of material benefit to investors, as such investors will invariably focus on
such summary without reading the full risk factor disclosure, thereby missing potentially important
aspects of such risks. The fact that risk factor disclosure is already voluminous is not ameliorated by
including additional summary disclosure. In Canada, our forward-looking information disclosure
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requirements pursuant to Part 4A of National Instrument 51-102 already requires a summary of risk
factors impacting forward looking information in the relevant disclosure document.

Questions relating to the requirement to name authors of technical reports

4. What challenges, if any, do reporting issuers face in obtaining technical report author
consents for short form prospectus offerings?

Given the high proportion of Canadian reporting issuers that are mineral resource companies,
requirements in Canadian securities laws which necessitate the filing of QP consents with prospectuses
are extremely burdensome on a significant number of Canadian reporting issuers. The requirement to
track down and obtain QP consents result in issuers being forced to trace and track-down QPs around
the world and can be particularly tricky where such QPs have left employment with a company that was
responsible for preparing the relevant technical report or where an employee of the issuer was a QP in
respect of a technical report and left employment with the issuer on less than amicable terms.
Unfortunately and inevitably, certain QPs also pass away giving rise to issues for Canadian reporting
issuers seeking to access capital markets. Significant effort can be expended in obtaining the required
QP consents in connection with certain offerings and at times such consents are unavailable
notwithstanding the herculean efforts of the issuer.

The inability to obtain required QP consents contributes to filing delays and uncertainty in Canadian
public offerings and has resulted in numerous issuers being forced to make hasty requests for
exemptive relief. The burden borne by Canadian reporting issuers due to the need to file QP consents
in connection with prospectus offerings is exacerbated for issuers with multiple mineral projects and
issuers that relying on older but still valid technical reports. The foregoing burden significantly
disadvantages this important segment of the Canadian capital markets.

5. If the requirement to name the technical report authors in the AIF (and as a result, provide
consents for short form prospectus offerings) were removed, would reporting issuers continue
to obtain approval of prospectus disclosure from technical report authors or would they rely
more on internal or external non-author QPs?

Reporting issuers with producing mineral properties generally have internal QPs who are named in their
AIF as being responsible for the technical disclosure therein pursuant to instruction (i) of item 5.4 of
Form 51-102F2 as currently in force. For issuers with producing properties, internal QPs are already
permitted to author technical reports in the circumstances contemplated by sections 5.3(2), (3) and (4)
of National Instrument 43-101. These internal QPs are generally responsible for any and all updates of
technical disclosure incorporated in the issuer’s continuous disclosure and prospectuses and rarely
consult with the original authors of the relevant technical report in connection with (i) ordinary course
depletion of a mineral project, which section 4.2(10) of the Companion Policy to National Instrument 43-
101 confirms does not represent new material scientific or technical information, or (ii) other immaterial
changes to the information contained in a technical report which do not require the preparation of an
updated technical report pursuant to National Instrument 43-101. Author QPs (who are not internal QPs
or otherwise responsible for the issuer’s continuous disclosure) providing their consents in connection
with a prospectus filing under Canadian securities laws are not verifying or in any way certifying
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updated disclosure relating to a mineral project by virtue of providing their consent to the filing of a
prospectus, but are instead confirming that based on their historical knowledge of the relevant mineral
property, they are not aware of a misrepresentation in the prospectus.

If provided with a path to avoiding the need to obtain external QP author consents in connection with
future prospectus offerings pursuant to Canadian securities laws, most Canadian reporting issuers with
mineral properties would seek to do so. If the requirement to name technical report authors in the AlF
was eliminated, most issuers would cease to obtain consents from technical report authors in
connection with technical disclosure in prospectuses, and would rely solely on their internal QPs to take
responsibility for preparing the disclosure in their AIF and/or MD&A and prospectuses, whenever
possible. Where the issuer does not have an internal QP, it would most likely rely upon an external QP,
who may or may not be an author of one or more of the issuer’s technical reports, to take responsibility
for the issuer’s technical disclosure.

6. If reporting issuers were to rely on internal or external non-author QPs for purposes of
providing consents for short form prospectus offerings, in your view, would investor protection
be impacted? Would relying on an internal QP for consent purposes (where an external QP
authored the original report) raise potential conflict of interest concerns?

As noted in our response to Question 5, above, internal QPs are already permitted to prepare technical
reports pursuant to National Instrument 43-101 for producing issuers, indicating that the CSA is
comfortable with the potential conflicts arising in such scenario. In reality, even external QPs are
subject to a version of the same conflict of interest faced by internal QPs when preparing technical
reports on behalf of issuers, in that their compensation and future business from the issuer can create
pressures which could influence the work of an unscrupulous QP.

It is our expectation that given the gravity and potential criminal, civil and professional consequences of
perpetrating a fraud on the market by falsifying or misreporting technical information, instances where
the inherent conflict of interest arising as a result of being compensated to prepare or report on an
issuer’s technical results actually gives rise to a falsification or misreporting of results will be
exceedingly rare. CSA members have authority, standing and adequate enforcement powers to
sufficiently address any such fraud which is uncovered. In our view, the risk of any such fraud occurring
will not be materially greater where author QP consents are no longer required to be filed with
prospectuses.

Question relating to impact of refiling on auditor’s report

7. Considering that the annual disclosure statement will include annual financial statements,
MD&A and, where applicable, AlF, do you think there will be an impact, including on auditing
requirements, if areporting issuer amends or re-files only one of these documents, or re-files
the annual disclosure statement in its entirety?

This question is best answered by firms providing audit services in Canada.
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Question relating to proposed amendments to Form 41-101F1 Information Required in a
Prospectus and Form 44-101F1 Short Form Prospectus

8. To align the continuous disclosure and prospectus regimes, we are proposing to remove
certain prospectus disclosure requirements. Are there any concerns with the removal of this
information from a prospectus? Please explain.

Subject to our comment below, we are generally supportive of the suggested deletions from the long
form and short form prospectus requirements included in Form 41-101F1 and Form 44-101F1 in the
Proposed Amendments. Ideally, the CSA would be willing to make even more far reaching changes to
the requirements of Form 41-101F1 and Form 44-101F1 to further reduce the regulatory burden of
issuers filing prospectuses pursuant to the respective prospectus regimes. Please see our comments
below under “Other Substantive Comments - Other Proposed Deletions from Form 41-101F1” and
“Other Substantive Comments - Other Proposed Deletions from Form 44-101F1" for our suggestions in
respect of these forms.

The deletion of the disclosure obligations contained in item 8.4 Disclosure of outstanding security data
of Form 41-101F1 relating to outstanding securities data is problematic and particularly puzzling in light
of the continued inclusion of provisions such at item 12.1 Options to purchase securities, item 13.1
Prior sales and item 14 Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to Contractual Restriction on
Transfer. Continued requirements relating to disclosure of securities issuable have less relevance and
will be difficult to contextualize if the prospectus does not contain complete information relating to the
issued and outstanding voting and equity securities of the issuer.

Questions relating to semi-annual reporting for certain venture issuers on a voluntary basis

9. Should we pursue the Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting Framework for voluntary semi-
annual reporting for venture issuers that are not SEC issuers? Please explain.

We understand the CSA’s interest in transitioning from a quarterly reporting cycle to a longer half-year
cycle, as other jurisdictions have done, but question the necessity of implementing the Proposed Semi-
Annual Reporting Framework in the context of the CSA'’s burden reduction initiatives. We believe that
this proposal is less of a burden reduction initiative, and more of an attempt by the CSA to address, like
other regulators have attempted to, the short-term mindedness of capital market participants and
refocus on the longer-term. This is a different conversation and set of issues.

Reducing the number of financial reporting periods may be alluring, initially, from a burden reduction
perspective; however, the Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting Framework nevertheless calls for
alternative disclosure in the interim periods, so issuers will provide an update on various facts and
developments, which is already what many issuers that do not yet generate significant revenues use
their interim reporting for. We do not believe this effectively reduces the burden on issuers, but rather
creates a new format for reporting distinct from the current financials and MD&A which issuers and their
advisors are familiar with.

7 of 16
"="1""Tor#: 10211380.5" " Tor#: 10211380.5



DAVIES

We are also concerned that this will put issuers that choose to report on a semi-annual cycle at a
disadvantage to the rest of their North American peers, as the SEC has no current plans to shift to a
semi-annual reporting platform. The deep integration between the Canadian and US markets means
that any issuer that chooses to go to semi-annual reporting will be at a disadvantage with Canadian and
US peers who report on a more frequent basis.

This being said, in the event the CSA decides to pursue the Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting
Framework, we support the proposal to make it optional, allowing issuers to report on the cycle that
best suits their needs and those of their investors.

10. Are there specific types of venture issuers for which semi-annual reporting would not be
appropriate? For instance, should semi-annual reporting be limited to venture issuers below a
certain market capitalization or those not generating significant revenue? Please explain.

We would caution against further distinguishing between classes of issuers eligible to use the Proposed
Semi-Annual Reporting Framework. We have expressed our concerns previously with respect to the
adoption thereof and would urge caution not to further isolate and disadvantage certain classes of
venture issuers that already, at times, struggle to raise capital in an integrated North American capital
market.

11. Would the proposed alternative disclosure requirements under the Proposed Semi-Annual
Reporting Framework provide adequate disclosure to investors? Would any additional
disclosure be required? Is any of the proposed disclosure unnecessary given the existing
requirements for material change reporting and the timely disclosure requirements of the
venture exchanges? Please explain.

In our view, quarterly reporting serves as a useful milestone to “flush out” any disclosure that does not
constitute a material change and for which an issuer may not have issued a press release pursuant to
the timely disclosure requirements of the venture exchanges. The proposed alternative disclosure
requirements, as they are, seem sufficiently broad to cover the necessary elements — in fact, we are
concerned that such alternative disclosure requirements are so broad and prescriptive that the burden
reduction benefits that the Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting Framework seeks to achieve will be
altogether compromised, as we have alluded to earlier, turning a “burden reduction” initiative in
something that will only increase regulatory burden for issuers that make the switch.

12. Do you have any other feedback relating to the Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting
Framework?

No.

Questions relating to transition provisions
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13. Do you think the proposed transition provisions are sufficiently clear? If not, how can we
make them clearer?

The differentiation between the implementation timelines provided for in sections 24.(1)(a) and (b) of
National Instrument 51-102 in the Proposed Amendments could be more clear. We suggest making the
following change to section 24.(1)(b) to help readers differentiate between the intended application of
these clauses:

24.(1)(b) the date, on or after [December 15, 2023], the issuer voluntarily files an annual
disclosure statement or an interim disclosure statement.

14. Do you think the transition provisions in the amending instrument for NI 51-102 would
provide reporting issuers with sufficient time to review the Proposed Amendments and prepare
and file an annual disclosure statement for a financial year ending on, for example,

December 31, 2023 if the final amendments are published in September 2023? Do you think
more time should be afforded to smaller reporting issuers (such as venture issuers)?

We are concerned that the two-and-a-half to three month period proposed between the publication of
the final amending instrument (the “Final Instrument”) to the proposed effective date of December 15,
2023 will not give reporting issuers sufficient time to fully absorb and reformulate their continuous
disclosure documentation to appropriately reflect the requirements of the Final Instrument in light of the
new disclosure obligations contained in Part 2 of Form 51-102F1 in the Proposed Amendments. We
feel that a longer period of at least six months between publication and effectiveness would be much
more appropriate given the extent of the changes reflected in the Proposed Amendments.

The impact on the continuous disclosure reporting obligations reflected in the Proposed Amendments
will be most acute for venture issuers who do not currently prepare an AlF. For those issuers, and in
particular, for those issuers who have mineral projects, the new disclosure obligations contained in
Part 2 of Form 51-102F1 in the Proposed Amendments, and most particularly in item 3.(6) therein and
the new accompanying guidance in Instruction (6) to item 3., may have significant impacts and may
necessitate updated technical reports for certain issuers, which can be very time consuming and
expensive to prepare. Instruction (6) to item 3. significantly alters the impact and interpretation of

item 3.(6), which is otherwise unchanged, and given its potentially significant impact the CSA should
consider actually incorporating these disclosure requirements into the instrument itself in item 3.(2)
description of the business.

As the CSA is aware, mineral resource companies comprise a significant portion of venture issuers in
Canada and the changes to Part 2 of Form 51-102F1 will be very burdensome for many of these
issuers and could contribute to financial and liquidity issues for a segment of these issuers. As a result
of these potentially significant implications, the CSA should consider granting an even longer
implementation period of at least one year for venture issuers to reflect the fact that these issuers will
be disproportionately burdened as a result of the Proposed Amendments.
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OTHER SUBSTANTIVE COMMENTS
General Comments on Form 51-102F1 and Form 51-102F2

e The versions of Form 51-102F1 and Form 51-102F2 included in the Proposed Amendments
omit the helpful subheadings that appear in the current versions of Form 51-102F1 and
Form 51-102F2. We request that equivalent subheadings be reinserted in the Final Instrument.

e The General Instructions to Form 51-102F1 and Form 51-102F2 in the Proposed Amendments
should include a version of the plain language instruction Part 1(n) in the current version of
Form 51-102F1 and Part 1(h) in the current version of Form 51-102F2, given that Plain
Language Principles in item 1.5 of the Companion Policy to National Instrument 51-102 have
not been deleted or substantively revised by the Proposed Amendments.

e General Instruction (9) in each of Form 51-102F1 and Form 51-102F2 in the Proposed
Amendments and item 5 in the Proposed Changes to Companion Policy 51-102CP to National
Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations provides for hyperlinking within the
relevant form, but not to other documents filed by the issuer on SEDAR. In our view, issuers
should be entitled to hyperlink within their annual disclosure statements and interim disclosure
statements to any other document filed by the issuer on its SEDAR profile to the extent that the
issuer is permitted to incorporate such disclosure by reference pursuant to the applicable Form
requirements.

e Invarious instances in Form 51-102F1 in the Proposed Amendments, the instrument includes
lists without incorporating “and” / “or” references in respect of such lists which may be
necessary to correctly interpret whether the list in such provision is inclusive or exclusive. See
for instance, instruction (6) following item 6, item 14(2)(b), instruction (2)(b)(ii) of item 15, item
17(f), item 18(0), item 24(1)(a), item 24(2)(b), item 24(3)(a) and item 28(1)(b). For the sake of
clarity and consistency with the drafting elsewhere in Form 51-102F1, clarifying “and” / “or”
references should be included in each list throughout the Form and anywhere else in the
Proposed Amendments where such references have been omitted.

Burdensome Impact of Form 51-102F1 for Venture Issuers

As referenced above in our response to Question 14, the impact on the continuous disclosure reporting
obligations reflected in the Proposed Amendments give rise to burdensome new annual disclosure
obligations for venture issuers who do not currently prepare an AlF. For those issuers, and in particular,
for those issuers who have mineral projects, the new disclosure obligations contained in Part 2 of

Form 51-102F1 in the Proposed Amendments, and most particularly in Instruction (6) to item 3., will
have significant impacts and will necessitate more frequent preparation of technical reports, which will
impose a significant financial burden on these issuers and make it more difficult to navigate the delicate
balance of mineral project exploration, disclosure and financing which is the crux of the business of this
important segment of the Canadian capital markets.
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As the CSA is aware, mineral resource companies comprise a significant portion of venture issuers in
Canada and the changes to Part 2 of Form 51-102F1 will be very burdensome for many of these
issuers. Certain issuers may need to prepare a new technical report in order to comply with the
requirements of Form 51-102F1 given the new Instruction (6) to item 3., as contemplated in the
Proposed Amendments, and certain issuers may not have sufficient liquidity or time to do so based on
the timeline for implementation contemplated in the Proposed Amendments.

While we understand the CSA’s rationale for proposing to impose certain AlF form requirements on
venture issuers who do not currently prepare an AlF, there is a principled and well accepted rationale
for exempting venture issuers from the obligation to prepare an AlF or comply with AIF disclosure
obligations. The more circumscribed disclosure obligations of venture issuers is well understood and
accepted in Canadian markets and is both proportionate and supportive of fostering business growth
and development for junior issuers. Allowing venture issuers to voluntarily prepare such AlF disclosure
has been a valuable tool for venture issuers whose business has matured and have progressed in
stage and development, and supports successful venture issuers as they prepare to graduate to a more
senior exchange or raise capital on a more frequent basis.

The current continuous disclosure regime applicable to venture issuers in National Instrument 51-102
has made Canada a very attractive jurisdiction for capital formation, particularly for companies with
mineral projects. The added cost and burden on junior mining companies of the incorporation of AlF
disclosure requirements in the MD&A contemplated in the Proposed Amendments could result in
reduced attractiveness of Canadian capital markets as a preferred organizational jurisdiction for the for
the financing of mineral projects, which could have far reaching implications and result in broader
negative impacts on the Canadian economy. We would ask that the CSA be thoughtful in its approach
to any such added disclosure required of venture issuers and to make sure that the cost and burden of
such additional disclosure requirements is appropriately weighted against the CSA’s investor protection
rationale.

Other Proposed Deletions from Form 41-101F1

Given the proposed deletion by the CSA of the requirement to disclose social and environmental
policies adopted by an issuer by repealing item 5.1(4) of Form 41-101F1, the CSA should also consider
whether there are aspects of the continuous disclosure obligations contained in Form 58-101F1 and
Form 58-101F2 which could be excluded from inclusion in Form 44-101F1 on the same basis: that such
disclosure will be included in the annual filings of the issuer and is not of the same level of relevance to
the investing public to warrant inclusion in the already voluminous long-form prospectus disclosure. The
exclusion of certain disclosures from Form 58-101F1 and Form 58-101F2 would further reduce
regulatory burden in respect of long form prospectuses, without detracting in any significant way from
the protection of investors. We would suggest that the CSA consider only requiring in Form 41-101F1
item 19.2(1), the disclosure obligations contained in item 1 of Form 58-101F1, and in Form 41-101F1
item 19.2(2), the disclosure obligations contained in items 1 and 2 of Form 58-101F2.
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Other Proposed Deletions from Form 44-101F1

In addition to the deletions to Form 44-101 included in the Proposed Amendments, we would propose
that the CSA also consider deleting the requirements contained in:

¢ item 1.5 Name and Address of Issuer, relating to the head and registered address of the
issuer, as this requirement has been deleted from the AIF form requirements
(section 13(1) of Part 3 of Form 51-102F1 in the Proposed Amendments), presumably
on the basis that sufficient contact information relating to the issuer is available on its
SEDAR profile; and

e item 2.1 Summary Description of the Business, as this disclosure is already
appropriately and comprehensively addressed in the documents incorporated by
reference in any such short form prospectus.

DRAFTING COMMENTS

Annex A Proposed Amendments to National Instrument 51-102 CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE
OBLIGATIONS

11. Sections 5.1(1) and 5.1(2)
Comment:

The respective references to “paragraph 3A.1(b)” and “paragraph 3A.3(b)” in sections 5.1(1) and 5.1(2)
of National Instrument 51-102 should be changed to “section3A.1(b)” and “section 3A.3(b)".

12. Sections 5.2to0 5.7 are repealed.

Comment:

In light of the proposed relocation of certain of the disclosure obligations formerly contained in
sections 5.2 to 5.7 of National Instrument 51-102 to Form 51-102F1, the CSA should consider adding a
cross-referencing item in Form 51-102F1 Part 2 reminding issuers to comply with their reporting
obligations under section 5.8 of National Instrument 51-102, to the extent applicable, or consider
relocating these disclosure requirements to Part 2 of Form 51-102F1 as well.

Annex B Proposed Annotated Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement

General Instruction (3)

Comment:

The second sentence of General Instruction (3) in Form 51-102F1 should be moved to Part 2 of the

Form and included as a disclosure obligation, consistent with the approach in item 17.1(1) of the
current version of Form 51-102F2.
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29.(2)
Comment:

Item 29.(2) of Part 3 of Form 51-102F1 is duplicative of Iltem 29.(1) and need not be included in light of
the new instruction language which makes it clear that the material contract disclosure can be
incorporated by reference. If the CSA is concerned that the incorporation by reference may not be
detailed enough, a version of item 29.(2) should be added in the instructions clarifying that the
disclosure responsive to item 29.1 should include a list of all relevant contracts where incorporation by
reference is used.

30.(2)(a), (b) and (c)
Comment:

The words “registered or beneficial interests” at the beginning of each subsection (a), (b) and (c) of
item 30.(2) should be deleted, as these words are duplicative of the same words included in the first
sentence of item 30.(2).

32. If either of the following applies to your company, disclose in the AIF the information
required under ltems 6, 7, 9, 10, 12 and 13 of Form 51-102F5 Information Circular, as modified
below:

Comment:

To avoid confusion relating to the continued relevance of the disclosure required by item 8 of Form 51-
102F5, which incorporates the onerous requirements of Form 51-102F6, the following change should
be made to section 32 of Appendix B of the Proposed Amendments:

32. If either of the following applies to your company, disclose in the AIF the information required
under Iltems 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 12 and 13 of Form 51-102F5 Information Circular, as modified below, to the
extent applicable:

Annex C Proposed Annotated Form 51-102F2 Interim Disclosure Statement

General Instruction (3)

Comment:

The second sentence of General Instruction (3) in Form 51-102F2 should be moved to Part 2 of the

Form and reframed as a disclosure obligation, consistent with the approach in item 17.1(1) of the
current version of Form 51-102F2.
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Proposed Amendments to National Instrument 41-101 GENERAL PROSPECTUS
REQUIREMENTS

9.(d) by replacing subparagraph (2)(b)(i) with the following:
(ii) the Instruction to section 7 of Form 51-102F1, and,
9.(e) by repealing subparagraph (2)(b)(ii),
Comment:
The foregoing sections of the Proposed Amendment should be replaced with the following:
9.(d) by replacing subparagraph (2)(b) with the following:
must disregard the Instruction to section 4 of Form 51-102F1, and,

24.2.(b) the date, on or after [December 15, 2023], the issuer includes in a prospectus an MD&A
that is voluntarily prepared under National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

Comment:

Further to our response to Question 13, above, the word “voluntarily” should be inserted in
section 24.2(b) as indicated above.

Proposed Amendments to National Instrument 52-109 CERTIFICATION OF DISCLOSURE IN
ISSUERS’ ANNUAL AND INTERIM FILINGS

10. Form 52-109F1R CERTIFICATION OF REFILED ANNUAL FILINGS is amended by
replacing section 1 with the following:

1. Review: | have reviewed the AlF, if any, and the annual disclosure statement, including, for
greater certainty, the AlF, if any, and all documents and information that are incorporated by reference
into the MD&A and the AIF (the “annual filings”) of the issuer for the financial year ended <state the
relevant date>.

Comment:

The foregoing text appearing in the Proposed Amendments should be replaced with the following:
1. Review: | have reviewed the annual disclosure statement, as amended or amended and
restated, including, for greater certainty, the AlF, if any, and all documents and information that are

incorporated by reference into the MD&A and the AIF (together, the “annual filings”) of the issuer for the
financial year ended <state the relevant date>.
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15. Form 52-109F2R CERTIFICATION OF REFILED INTERIM FILINGS is amended by
replacing section 1 with the following:

1. Review: | have reviewed the interim disclosure statement, as amended or amended and
restated, including, for greater certainty, all documents and information that are incorporated by
reference into the MD&A (together, the “interim filings”) of the issuer for the interim period ended <state
the relevant date>.

Comment:
The underlined text included above has been omitted and should be inserted in the Final Amendments.

Proposed Changes to National Policy 41-201 INCOME TRUSTS AND OTHER INDIRECT
OFFERINGS

5. Section 6.5.2 is changed by replacing “Although the instructions in Form 51102F1 do not
specifically state it, to meet the disclosure requirements for liquidity in Form 51102F1" with...

Comment:

Hyphens have been omitted and should be inserted in the first two references to Form 51-102F1 in this
section.

Proposed Amendments to Companion Policy National Instrument 52-110 AUDIT COMMITTEES
2. Footnote 1 is deleted.
Comment:

Consider deleting all footnotes in this instrument, as all relate to historical matters which are no longer
relevant, other than footnote 4, which should be updated to reference Part 3 of Form 51-102F1 if such
footnote is not also deleted. Please note that the footnotes in National Instrument 52-110 AUDIT
COMMITTEES do not appear in the current version of the Consolidated Ontario Securities Act,
Regulations and Rules by Borden Ladner Gervais LLP, supporting our contention that these footnotes
are not necessary for a proper understanding of this instrument.

*kkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkk
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The following partners at our firm participated in the preparation of this comment letter and may be
contacted directly should you have any questions regarding our submissions.

Robin Upshall Sebastien Roy
416.367.6981 514.841.6493
rupshall@dwpv.com sroy@dwpv.com

Yours very truly,

DAVIES WARD PHILLIPS & VINEBERG LLP
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September 17, 2021

British Columbia Securities Commissions

Alberta Securities Commissions

Financial and Consumer Affairs Authority of Saskatchewan
Manitoba Securities Commissions

Ontario Securities Commission

Autorité des marchés financiers

Financial and Consumer Services Commission (New Brunswick)
Superintended of Securities, Department of Justice and Public Safety, Prince Edward Island
Nova Scotia Securities Commission

Securities Commission of Newfoundland and Labrador
Superintendent of securities, Northwest Territories
Superintendent of Securities, Yukon

Superintendent of Securities, Nunavut

The Secretary Me Philippe Lebel

Ontario Securities Commission Corporate Secretary and Executive Director,
20 Queen Street West Legal Affairs

22" Floor, Box 55 Autorité des marches financiers

Toronto, Ontario Place de la Cité, tour Cominar

M5H 3S8 2640, boulevard Laurier, bureau 400

Fax: 416-593-2318 Québec (Québec) G1V 5C1
comment@osc.gov.on.ca Fax: 514-864-8381

Consultation-en-cours@lautorite.qc.ca

Dear Secretary of the Ontario Securities Commission and M® Philippe Lebel,
CSA Request for Comment — Proposed Amendments to National Instrument 51-102

We are pleased to provide our comments to the Canadian Securities Administrators (CSA) on
the Proposed Amendments to National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations
and other amendments and changes relating to annual and interim filings and non-investment
fund reporting issuers as well as the feedback request for semi-annual reporting of venture
issuers on a voluntary basis.

Below we respond to question #7 with respect to our view on the impact to the auditor’s
responsibilities in connection with the refiling or amendment of the annual disclosure statement,
in whole or in part.

#7. Considering that the annual disclosure statement will include annual financial statements,
MD&A and, where applicable, AlF, do you think there will be an impact, including on auditing
reguirements, if a reporting issuer amends or re-files only one of these documents, or re-files
the annual disclosure statement in its entirety?
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The proposed amendments to combine the annual financial statements, MD&A and where
applicable, AIF into an annual disclosure statement will result in the annual disclosure statement
meeting the definition of an “annual report” under Canadian Auditing Standards (CAS) 720,
Other Information. As such, the auditor’s responsibilities under CAS 720 will now extend to the
AIF portion of the annual disclosure statement; whereas currently the AIF does not meet the
definition of an “annual report” for purposes of CAS 720. The financial or non-financial
information (other than financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon) included in a
reporting issuers annual disclosure statement will be considered other information (“OI”) under
CAS 720 and must be read by the auditor and considered to determine whether the Ol is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or the auditor’'s knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

We believe that the impact on auditing requirements if a reporting issuer amends or re-files only
one of these documents, or re-files the annual disclosure statement in its entirety is not
dependent upon whether the annual disclosure statement is amended in whole or in part, but
rather it is dependent on whether or not there is an amendment to the reporting issuer’s
financial statements. Accordingly, we have considered the two scenarios below:

Scenario 1: Re-filing of the annual disclosure statement with no change/amendment to
the previously issued financial statements (i.e. re-filing, in whole or in part, of either the
MD&A and/or AIF portions of the annual disclosure statement)

If a reporting issuer re-files the annual disclosure statement, either wholly or in part, and in
doing so amends/re-files the MD&A or AIF portions of the annual disclosure statement and not
the financial statements, there is no impact on the auditor’s report and the auditor would not be
required to reissue the auditor’s report, including the Other Information section of the Auditor’'s
report, which will refer to the originally issued annual disclosure statement.

However, an amendment to the Ol would require the auditor to read and consider the amended
Ol in the same manner that auditors are required to read and consider Ol that is received after
the auditor’s report date. Only in the event that reading the amended Ol results in the discovery
of a material inconsistency or material misstatement that is not appropriately resolved by the
reporting issuer, would the auditor consider modifying the Other Information section of the
auditor’s report and reissuing the auditor’s report accordingly in order to bring the material
misstatement of the Ol to the attention of users of the auditor’s report. We expect such
circumstances to be rare.

Further, in reading and considering the amended Ol, the auditor may identify matters that
require amendments to be made the previously issued financial statements (refer to Scenario 2,
below).

Scenario 2: Re-filing of restated financial statements upon which we have previously
issued an auditor’s report




EY

Building a better
working world

If a reporting issuer re-files the annual disclosure statement, either wholly or in part, and in
doing so amends the financial statements, the auditor would be required to reissue their
auditor’s report and in doing so would consider whether revisions to the Other Information
section of the auditor’s report are necessary. CAS 560, Subsequent Events provides the
auditors requirements with respect to subsequent events in an audit of financial statements.
There are two scenarios to consider:

Scenario 2.1: Under CAS 560, the auditor restricts their audit procedures only to those
subsequent events that caused the amendment (“Dual dating”)

In cases where dual dating is permitted by the applicable financial reporting framework (e.g. US
GAAP), or is otherwise determined to be appropriate, the auditor’s responsibilities under this
scenario would be limited to audit procedures on the specific amendment to the financial
statements and determining whether the subsequent event that gave rise to the amendment
requires an update to the Ol that was originally identified in the previously issued auditor’'s
report. If such Ol is amended, the auditor would need to revise the Ol section of the auditor's
report (reissued in accordance with the requirements of CAS 560) to refer to the amended Ol.
However, auditors would not be required to report on any Ol obtained after the date of the
original auditor’s report.

Scenario 2.2: Under CAS 560, the auditor does not restrict their audit procedures on
subsequent events only to those subsequent events that caused the amendment

In this scenario, in addition to audit procedures on the specific amendment to the financial
statements the auditor would need to perform audit procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence that all events occurring between the date of the financial statements and the
reissued auditors report that require adjustment of, or disclosure in, the amended financial
statements have been identified. Further, the auditor would need to perform procedures in
accordance with CAS 720 over all Ol obtained as of the date of the reissued auditor’s report and
refer to such Ol in the Other Information section of the reissued auditor’s report. This would
include any additional Ol that was obtained between the original auditor’s report date and the
date of the reissued auditor’s report, including any amendments to other parts of the annual
disclosure statement. Furthermore, for audits of listed entities, auditor’'s would need to update
the Other Information section of the auditor’s report to include any Ol that is expected to be
obtained after the date of the reissued auditor’s report.

We appreciate the opportunity to comment on the Proposed Amendments. Please contact Luke
Baxter (Professional Practice Partner) or Laney Doyle (Professional Practice Director) if you
wish to discuss these or any other matters.

éﬂmt "%zuf LLp

Ernst & Young LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants



cenovus

E N ERGY

September 17, 2021

The Secretary

Ontario Securities Commission
20 Queen Street West

19th Floor, Box 55

Toronto, ON M5H 3S8

Me Philippe Lebel

Corporate Secretary and Executive Director, Legal Affairs
Autorité des marchés financiers

Place de la Cité, tour Cominar

2640, boulevard Laurier, bureau 400

Québec (Québec)

G1lv 5C1

Re: Proposed Amendments to National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations and Other Amendments and
Changes Relating to Annual and Interim Filings of Non-Investment Fund Reporting Issuers

British Columbia Securities Commission

Alberta Securities Commission

Financial and Consumer Affairs Authority of Saskatchewan
Manitoba Securities Commission

Ontario Securities Commission

Autorité des marchés financiers

Financial and Consumer Services Commission, New Brunswick
Superintendent of Securities, Department of Justice and Public Safety, Prince Edward Island
Nova Scotia Securities Commission

Office of the Superintendent of Securities, Service NL
Northwest Territories Office of the Superintendent of Securities
Office of the Yukon Superintendent of Securities
Superintendent of Securities, Nunavut

Dear Sirs/Mesdames:

Cenovus Energy Inc. (“Cenovus” or “we”) appreciates the opportunity to provide comments on the Proposed Amendments to
National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations and Other Amendments and Changes Relating to Annual and
Interim Filings of Non-Investment Fund Reporting Issuers (the “Proposed Amendments”).

Cenovus is listed on both the Toronto and New York stock exchanges. We are the third largest Canadian-based oil and natural gas
producer and the second largest Canadian refiner and upgrader. Our upstream operations include conventional crude oil, natural
gas and natural gas liquids projects across Western Canada and offshore Newfoundland and Labrador, as well as international
operations in offshore China and Indonesia. Our downstream operations include upgrading, refining and retail operations across
Canada and the United States.

Disclosure Burden

We appreciate the ongoing efforts of the Canadian Securities Administrators (the “CSA”) to reduce disclosure burden experienced
by issuers. We are strongly supportive of the Proposed Amendments to eliminate duplicative or overlapping disclosure
requirements between an issuer’s financial statements, management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) and annual information
form (“AIF”).

The proposed General Instruction (8) and General Instructions Annotation Note #3 indicate that issuers are not required to repeat
information disclosed elsewhere in the annual disclosure statement; however, it is important to repeat information from the
financial statements in the MD&A if it assists with understanding the MD&A. The Proposed Amendments are intended to foster
streamlined reporting and increasing reporting efficiency for issuers. The requirement to repeat identical information from the
financial statements in the MD&A would appear to contradict these efforts, when both the financial statements and MD&A are

P 403.766.2000 225 6 AVE SW CALGARY, AB
F 403.766.7600 PO BOX 766 T2P OM5
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included in the annual disclosure statement. The MD&A is a supporting document to the financial statements and is to be read
in conjunction with the financial statements. Including a cross reference to other disclosure within the annual disclosure
statement should be sufficient to allow a reader to understand the MD&A and more closely aligns with the goal of streamlining
disclosure. Accordingly, we are of the view that the Proposed Amendments should permit issuers to include, where applicable to
assist with the understanding of the MD&A, clear cross references to information contained in the financial statements and the
requirement to duplicate information in the MD&A should be removed. If issuers are required to repeat information in both the
financial statements and MD&A, we see no benefit to, or efficiencies from, creating an annual disclosure statement.

We strongly support an “access equals delivery” model whereby alerting investors that a document is publicly available on the
System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (SEDAR) and the issuer’s website would constitute delivery. This initiative
is environmentally friendly and a reasonable modernization given widespread access to the internet.

Risk Factor Disclosure

We strongly disagree with the possibility of including a two-page summary of risk factors when an issuer’s risk discussion exceeds
15 pages. A summary of risk factors would provide little benefit to investors and increase the disclosure burden for reporting
issuers, contradicting efforts to reduce duplicate disclosure requirements. A summary would, by its very nature, be incomplete
and may expose issuers to legal liability if investors relied solely on the summary disclosure. The preparation of risk factor
disclosure is a meticulous, time consuming process, often involving the assistance of external legal counsel. A two-page summary
would increase the preparation time and cost for issuers. If risk factors continue to be disclosed from most serious to least serious,
investors would benefit more from reading the first two pages of risk disclosures as they are currently drafted than from reading
a summary. Summary form disclosure of such risks could be misleading to readers and encourage readers not to read the more
fulsome and complete disclosure relating to an issuer’s risks contained elsewhere in the document, which is more decision-useful
information for investors.

We would welcome clarification regarding the definition of “seriousness” as well as how to determine the “seriousness” of a risk.
It would also be helpful to provide guidance on the circumstances in which an impact/probability assessment would be required
to be disclosed by an issuer and the detail required to be included in such disclosure. Although we generally support the use of
an impact/probability assessment to assist with ranking risk factors in order of seriousness, we would not be in favor of disclosing
a detailed impact/probability assessment for each risk. The impact/probability assessment for each risk factor is determined
through the eyes of Management based on, among other things, information available, and circumstances reasonably
foreseeable, at the applicable time. By its nature, such an assessment involves an evaluation of potential future outcomes, which
are uncertain and subject to change. Detailed disclosure of each impact/probability assessment would require additional lengthy
disclosure to be added in order to fulsomely explain, and provide the necessary context, assumptions and qualifications in each
instance. Requiring such disclosure would contradict the CSA’s goals of reducing regulatory burden, fostering streamlined
reporting and increasing reporting efficiency. We believe this additional disclosure would be of little value to readers since, not
only may readers assign a different impact/probability assessment based on their individual priorities, or focus on the assessment
rating rather than the description of risk factors and mitigating actions taken by Management, the potential impact/probability
of an issuer’s risks can be inferred from the ordering of the risk factors by “seriousness” and general disclosure of potential
impacts that issuers typically currently include in their risk factors.

The proposal to group similar risks appears to contradict the requirement to rank risks from the most serious to least serious.
Risks may be ranked by seriousness or grouped together by nature; however, it’s unlikely that these two approaches will result
in the same order of risks for disclosure purposes. We recommend retaining the current approach of disclosing risks in order of
seriousness as this will best meet investor’s needs.

Audit Services

Under current legislation, the financial statements are audited, with the MD&A and AIF requiring only a ‘consistency’ check by
the auditors to ensure the information disclosed conforms with the financial statements. While section 4(1)(revised) indicates
the financial statements are audited, the MD&A and AIF sections are silent regarding auditing. Clarification that the final
instrument will be consistent with current legislation with respect to audited and non-audited financial information would be
welcomed. We also suggest adding clarity to readers on the level of assurance provided for each section within the annual
disclosure statement.
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Thank you for the opportunity to provide commentary on this important area of Canadian securities regulations.
Yours truly,

Cenovus Energy Inc.

MewicsS

Gary F. Molnar
Senior Vice-President, Legal, General Counsel & Corporate Secretary

-

Nefl W. Robertson
Senior Vice-President & Comptroller
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comments@osc.gov.on.ca; consultation-en-cours@lautorite.gc.ca

September 17, 2021

British Columbia Securities Commission

Alberta Securities Commission

Financial and Consumer Affairs Authority of Saskatchewan
Manitoba Securities Commission

Ontario Securities Commission

Autorité des marchés financiers

Financial and Consumer Services Commission, New Brunswick
Superintendent of Securities, Department of Justice and Public Safety, Prince Edward Island
Nova Scotia Securities Commission

Office of the Superintendent of Securities, Service NL
Northwest Territories Office of the Superintendent of Securities
Office of the Yukon Superintendent of Securities
Superintendent of Securities, Nunavut

The Secretary

Ontario Securities Commission
20 Queen Street West

22nd Floor, Box 55

Toronto, Ontario M5H 3S8

Me Philippe Lebel

Corporate Secretary and Executive Director, Legal Affairs
Autorité des marchés financiers

Place de la Cité, tour Cominar

2640, boulevard Laurier, bureau 400

Québec (Québec) G1V 5C1

Re: CSA Notice and Request for Comment — Proposed Amendments to National Instrument 51-
102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations and Other Amendments and Changes Relating to
Annual and Interim Filings of Non-lnvestment Fund Reporting Issuers (the “Proposed
Amendments”)

On behalf of IGM Financial Inc. (IGM”), we are pleased to provide comments on the Proposed
Amendments.

Our Company

IGM is a leading wealth and asset management company supporting financial advisors, the clients
they serve in Canada, and institutional investors throughout North America, Europe and Asia. Through
its operating companies, IGM provides a broad range of financial planning and investment
management services to help Canadians meet their financial goals. Our services are carried out
principally through our subsidiaries, namely IG Wealth Management, Mackenzie Financial
Corporation, and Investment Planning Counsel Inc. Each company operates distinctly within the
wealth and asset management segments of the financial services market. IGM is a member of the

1



Power Corporation of Canada group of companies. IGM’'s head office is located in Winnipeg,
Manitoba, and its common shares trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX: IGM).

Support for the Proposed Amendments

We agree with the Canadian Securities Administrators (“CSA”). The Proposed Amendments will
reduce regulatory burden by fostering streamlined reporting and increasing reporting efficiency for
reporting issuers. We also believe the Proposed Amendments will increase the quality and usability
of the disclosure to be provided to investors. We broadly support the Proposed Amendments and
believe the CSA must move forward with the aspects of the proposals that, if adopted, would:

e streamline the disclosure requirements currently set out in the current management discussion
analysis (“MD&A") form and annual information form (“AlE");

e combine the financial statements, MD&A and, where applicable, AIF into one reporting
document; and

e clarify disclosure requirements.

Streamlining disclosure by removing duplicative and redundant information will reduce burden as a
reporting issuer will not have to repeat information that is already disclosed elsewhere and will have
fewer disclosure requirements overall. Importantly, investors will also benefit as they will have less
and more clear disclosure to read, better enabling them to focus on the key information. Combining
the financial statements, MD&A, and AIF into one reporting document will further foster streamlined
reporting and also improve the useability and readability of the disclosure documents. We also
welcome the aspects of the Proposed Amendments that aim to clarify current requirements that are
vague or otherwise unclear. Specifically identifying what the CSA expects through changes to the
requirements or instructions will help better position reporting issuers to meet their reporting
obligations.

In light of the requirement for a reporting issuer to deliver the contemplated annual disclosure
statement to its investors, we offer our strong and continued support for the “Access Equals Delivery”
model outlined in CSA Consultation Paper 51-405 Consideration of an Access Equals Delivery Model
for Non-Investment Fund Reporting Issuers that is currently under consideration by the CSA. “Access
Equals Delivery” will provide a significant costs savings that will also benefit the environment through
reduced printing and mailing. Investor protection will not be reduced as investors will still be able to
access required disclosure, and can always request it from the reporting issuer if preferred.

Conclusion

We thank you for the opportunity to provide comments on the Proposed Amendments. Please feel
free to contact Kelly MacWiliam at kelly.macwiliam@ig.ca or Andrew Papini at
andrew.papini@igmfinancial.com if you wish to discuss our feedback further or require additional
information. We would be pleased to engage further with you on this important initiative.

Yours truly,
IGM Financial Inc.

lan Lawrence
SVP Finance
IGM Financial Inc.



James D. Gallagher
General Counsel

September 17, 2021

Sent by e-mail to:
comment@osc.gov.on.ca

consultation-en-cours@lautorite.qc.ca

British Columbia Securities Commission

Alberta Securities Commission

Financial and Consumer Affairs Authority of Saskatchewan
Manitoba Securities Commission

Ontario Securities Commission

Autorité des marchés financiers

Financial and Consumer Services Commission, New Brunswick
Superintendent of Securities, Department of Justice and Public Safety, Prince Edward Island
Nova Scotia Securities Commission

Office of the Superintendent of Securities, Service NL
Northwest Territories Office of the Superintendent of Securities
Office of the Yukon Superintendent of Securities
Superintendent of Securities, Nunavut

The Secretary

Ontario Securities Commission
20 Queen Street West

22" Floor, Box 55

Toronto, ON M5H 3S8
comment@osc.gov.on.ca

Me Philippe Lebel

Corporate Secretary and Executive Director, Legal Affairs
Autorité des marchés financiers

Place de la Cité, tour Cominar

2640, boulevard Laurier, bureau 400

Québec (Québec) G1V 5C1
consultation-en-cours@lautorite.qc.ca
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Dear Sirs and Mesdames:

Re: Proposed Amendments to National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations and

Other Amendments and Changes Relating to Annual and Interim Filings of Non-Investment Fund

Reporting Issuers

Manulife Financial Corporation (“Manulife”) is pleased to have the opportunity to submit comments
to the Canadian Securities Administrators (CSA) on Proposed Amendments to National Instrument
51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations and Other Amendments and Changes Relating to Annual
and Interim Filings of Non-Investment Fund Reporting Issuers published on May 20, 2021 (together,
the “Proposed Amendments”).

Overview

Manulife strongly supports the CSA’s objectives of promoting disclosures that yield decision-useful
information for investors and reducing regulatory burden by fostering streamlined reporting and
increasing reporting efficiency for reporting issuers. We believe that the Proposed Amendments if
implemented will help to further these goals. In particular, we support the efforts to eliminate
duplicative disclosure as well as to eliminate disclosure where the burden on the reporting issuer to
provide the disclosure is greater than the benefit that investors obtain from it. We are also pleased
that the CSA recognizes that certain information can be easily obtained from publicly available sources
and in that case need not be required to be included in an issuer’s disclosure documents.

Despite our support for the purpose of the Proposed Amendments, we believe there are several areas
where improvements can be made and we suggest alternative proposals in our comments below.

Specific Comments

1. Requirement for issuers other than venture issuers to include the AIF in the Annual Disclosure
Statement

Manulife does not support the proposal to require issuers that are not venture issuers to include as
part of their Annual Disclosure Statement (ADS), an AIF. Instead, we propose that all issuers be given
the option to decide whether to include the AIF as part of their ADS, or continue to prepare and file
the AIF with regulators as a stand-alone document at the same time as the ADS is filed.

e We do not believe there is a demand to include in an Annual Report the information
currently disclosed in the AIF and the rationale for introducing such a requirement is not
clear.

e With the inclusion of the AIF in the ADS, the Annual Report that issuers deliver to
shareholders will become significantly longer (we estimate approximately 20 to 30 pages
longer in Manulife’s case, even after taking into account the proposed elimination of certain
AIF disclosure). We understand that the CSA proposes these delivery changes in light of the
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“access equals delivery” model outlined in CSA Consultation Paper 51-405 Consideration of
an Access Equals Delivery Model for Non-Investment Fund Reporting Issuers. Because of their
governing legislation (e.g. the Insurance Companies Act or Bank Act), not all issuers are able
to use the existing “notice and access” delivery options in the same manner as other issuers
subject to different governing legislation, nor without further legislative changes will they
have a similar ability to use “access equals delivery” in the future. Consequently, for
Manulife and some other issuers, the Proposed Amendments could result in an increase in
Annual Report preparation and mailing costs, more complex logistics, and a greater negative
environmental impact. In our view, the burden of requiring issuers to prepare and deliver an
ADS that includes the AIF is greater than the benefit to investors, especially considering that
the AIF can continue to be made available electronically to those stakeholders who choose to
read it.

2. Additional Streamlining of AIF Content

Manulife appreciates the CSA’s efforts to streamline the content of the AIF by removing duplicative
disclosure requirements and by recognizing that some of the information is available from
alternative public sources. We believe there are further opportunities to remove duplicative and
publicly available information including the following:

Ratings Information. Manulife believes that the requirement in Section 20. (3) of the
Proposed ADS Form to include ratings information should be eliminated, or alternatively can
be satisfied by an issuer referencing in the AIF where the information is publicly available.
Most of the ratings-related information required to be included in the AIF is obtainable by
stakeholders from other sources. Current ratings are generally available through news
releases published by the rating agencies and posted on their websites. The lengthiest part
of the required AIF disclosure relating to ratings is the definitions or descriptions of the
categories in which the credit rating organization rated the securities and the relative rank of
each rating within the organization’s overall classification system. This information, which is
the same for all issuers who are rated by the same agency, is available to the public at each
credit rating agency’s website. Stakeholders can therefore access the most current ratings
information by accessing the websites of the rating agencies. If the CSA determines to retain
the ratings disclosure requirements in the AIF, we recommend that issuers be permitted to
satisfy the requirements by referencing in the AIF the publicly available sources of any part of
the required information, including the issuer’s own website.

Directors and Executive Officers. Manulife believes that the requirements in the AIF as they
relate to directors are duplicative of the requirements in Part 2, item 7.1 of Form 51-102F5 —
Information Circular. 1tem 7.1 requires information about each person proposed to be
nominated for election as a director of the issuer and about each other person whose term
of office as a director will continue after the meeting. We believe that an information circular
related to the election of directors is the more appropriate location for this information so
that investors have the benefit of it when determining whether to vote in favour of a
director. The purpose of largely repeating the information in the AIF is unclear. In addition to
being duplicative of the disclosure in the information circular, it is also a potential source of
confusion given that the effective dates of the AIF and the information circular are different
and therefore the director lists can be different, even though the two documents are issued
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relatively close together. We therefore propose that the AIF requirements be amended to
remove the disclosure requirements relating to directors provided that an issuer has filed an
information circular in the form required by Form 51-102F5 within the previous 12 months.
This would allow issuers to avoid repeating information that investors can easily access
elsewhere. It would also avoid potential confusion among readers of the AIF and the
information circular.

Audit Committee Charter. The Instruction to Section 31 of the Proposed ADS Form provides
that issuers must provide additional information in their AIF as set out in Form 52-110F1
Audit Committee Information Required in an Annual Information Form. The first item of Form
52-110F1 requires an issuer to disclose the text of the audit committee’s charter. Manulife
recommends that Form 52-110F1 be amended, so that an issuer has the option to satisfy
item 1 by stating in the AIF that its audit committee charter is publicly available on its
website and/or on SEDAR. The audit committee charter is a lengthy document that typically
changes modestly over time. We believe that the benefit to readers of including the text of
the charter in the AIF does not justify the burden to the issuer, when readers can be provided
with easy access to the charter elsewhere.

3. Risk Factors

We note that instruction (3) to Section 16 of the Proposed ADS Form is new and intended to clarify
that the “seriousness” of a risk factor refers to an impact/probability assessment and asks whether

additional guidance is required. Manulife does not believe that it would be beneficial for the CSA to

provide further guidance on what “seriousness” means and how to determine the “seriousness” of a

risk. This determination should be left to each issuer in the context of its business.

The CSA has also asked for comments about what would be the benefits and costs for investors and

reporting issuers if the CSA adopted similar requirements relating to risk factor disclosure as the SEC

has in its modernization of Regulation S-K. We offer the following comments.

Grouping similar risks together makes sense and this is something that Manulife already does,
by organizing our detailed risk factors into several principal categories of risk.

The CSA has proposed requiring disclosure of generic risks under a “general risks” heading,
however we do not believe there are many, if any, risks that could be categorized as “generic”.
Risks are experienced differently, and with varying level of “seriousness” depending on the
specific nature of an issuer’s business and we are concerned that labelling a risk as “generic”
may give readers the incorrect impression that these risks are the same for all issuers and,
therefore, do not think it is a helpful category.

We do not think that it will benefit investors to require issuers to include a summary of risk
factor disclosure if the risk factor disclosure exceeds 15 pages. We believe that investors will
be less likely to read a detailed discussion of risk factors if there is a summary, and that having
a summary will not necessarily aid readers in their understanding of the risks inherent an
issuer’s operations. In addition, some issuers may shorten their detailed risk factor disclosure
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to fall below the 15-page trigger for a summary, reducing the quality of their disclosure. In our
opinion, it is best to let the issuer decide whether or not to include a summary. Instead of
making it a requirement to include a summary of risk factors, we propose that issuers be
instructed to consider whether a summary would or would not be helpful to readers.

4. Transition and Effective Date

Manulife believes that the proposed transition period is not long enough.

The CSA Notice and Request for Comment relating to the Proposed Amendments explains at
page 7 that on or after December 15, 2023, a reporting issuer may elect to voluntarily file an
interim disclosure statement (IDS), prior to filing an ADS for its first financial year ending on or
after December 15, 2023. In such case, the issuer must include in the IDS an MD&A in the form
of Part 2 of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement. Since the MD&A that accompanies
an issuer’s audited annual financial statements typically contains more and/or some different
information than the MD&A relating to interim financial reporting, this creates a burden on
issuers that voluntarily file an IDS prior to when they are first required to file an ADS. This
burden increases for each successive quarter occurring prior to the filing of the first ADS. For
example, a bank with an October 31, 2023 financial year end would have to file an IDS for Q1,
Q2 and Q3, containing MD&A that complies with the ADS requirements. This creates a
disincentive for issuers to make any voluntary filing and it could be that few issuers will choose
to do so. We think that it would be simpler and more effective to require all issuers to comply
with the amended disclosure requirements beginning with their first ADS required to be filed
after the effective date of the amendments, subject to our next comment below.

The proposed time between publication of the final amendments in September 2023, and their
effective date in December 2023 will not provide issuers who have a December 31, 2023
financial year end with enough time to prepare the content and address the logistics of
preparation of their first ADS. This challenge will be even greater if the CSA requires that the
AIF be included in the ADS for non-venture issuers. The preparation and delivery of an ADS or
an IDS requires substantial planning and coordination. Participants assisting the issuer, include
senior management, the board, external auditors, in house and external legal counsel,
translators, layout designers and printers. This process, including budgeting and planning the
layout of the document, cannot properly begin until the final amendments to NI 51-102 are
published by the CSA and their impact upon the document is determined. We recommend that
the CSA revise the proposals to ensure that the transition period between publication of the
finalamendments and an issuer’s effective date (i.e. the date of filing their first ADS) be at least
six months. There are various ways the CSA could achieve this. For example, the CSA could
require issuers to comply commencing with the filing of an ADS on the date that an ADS is
required to be filed under the amendments, provided that next ADS filing date is at least six
months after the publication date of the amendments, or the CSA could publish the final rule
by June 2023.
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5. Disclosure requirements for non-investment entities recording assets at fair value

Manulife requests clarity on the definition of “non-investment entities recording investments at fair
value” that are subject to the additional disclosures required by Section 10 of the Proposed ADS Form
(MD&A notation note #24). To assist issuers in determining whether they are a non-investment entity
recording investments at fair value, we request that the CSA provide greater clarity in Instruction (2).
Specifically, we request clarity about what constitutes an investment in “other operating entities”. It is
not clear to us whether this is intended to include an individual holding of bonds and equities at fair
value, where the issuer does not have a significant interest. It is also not clear to us whether Section
10 is intended to capture holding companies with a number of unconsolidated entities below the
holdco. Subject to clarification about the scope of Section 10, it appears to us that some issuers to
whom Section 10 applies could have a substantial new reporting burden.

6. Liquidity and capital resources

Manulife requests guidance, perhaps in the Instructions, about the intended scope of the debt
covenant disclosure required by Section 5(5)(b) of the Proposed ADS Form. For example, we
request clarity on whether this new requirement is intended to apply broadly to all types of
liguidity and capital resources, including undrawn credit lines and outstanding external
debt/capital instruments; whether financial and non-financial covenants are equally
relevant; and whether the disclosure for this item should focus only on those covenants that
have a connection to liquidity risks. In light of the scope and complexity of the debt
covenants applicable to many large public issuers, further guidance would be helpful in
facilitating disclosure that is most responsive to the Form and most useful to readers.

7. Impact upon The Multijurisdictional Disclosure System

Since the CSA does not propose any housekeeping changes to NI 71-101 The Multijurisdictional
Disclosure System in Annex F of the Proposed Amendments, we assume that the CSA has determined
that the Proposed Amendments will not have any impact upon NI 71-101 and that the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission will accept the new IDS and ADS disclosure documents when filed by a
Canadian issuer under the MJDS, in place of separately filed financial statements, MD&A and AIF. If
this understanding is not correct, we request that the CSA provide clarification.

Thank you for the opportunity to provide comments. We would be happy to provide additional
information or further discuss our comments at your request.

Yours truly,

y, FPr \ : ‘- };;_ ;_- F_.. &c_.ar'f:&\
James D. Gallagher

General Counsel
Manulife
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79 Wellington St. W., 30th Floor
I O RYS Box 270, TD South Tower
LLP Toronto, Ontario M5K 1N2 Canada
P. 416.865.0040 | F. 416.865.7380

www.torys.com

September 17, 2021
By email:

British Columbia Securities Commission

Alberta Securities Commission

Financial and Consumer Affairs Authority of Saskatchewan
Manitoba Securities Commission

Ontario Securities Commission

Autorité des marchés financiers

Financial and Consumer Services Commission (New Brunswick)
Superintendent of Securities, Department of Justice and Public Safety, Prince Edward Island
Nova Scotia Securities Commission

Securities Commission of Newfoundland and Labrador
Superintendent of Securities, Northwest Territories
Superintendent of Securities, Yukon

Superintendent of Securities, Nunavut

Re: Proposed amendments to National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure
Obligations (NI 51-102) and related amendments concerning annual and interim
filings of non-investment fund reporting issuers

Dear staff:

Introduction
We are writing in response to your request for comment dated May 20, 2021 regarding;:

e the proposed repeal of Form 51-102F1 Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Current MD&A
Form) and Form 51-102F2 Annual Information Form (Current AIF Form);

e the proposed introduction of Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement (ADS Form) and Form
51-102F2 Interim Disclosure Statement (IDS Form);

e proposed changes to Companion Policy 51-102CP Continuous Disclosure Obligations (51-102CP);
and

e related changes to existing rules and policies (collectively, the Proposed Amendments).

These comments are provided by the partners and counsel of Torys LLP who are signatories below, in
their personal capacities, and not on behalf of the firm or any of its clients.

We appreciate the efforts of the Canadian Securities Administrators (CSA) to reduce the regulatory
burdens that reporting issuers face when preparing their annual and interim disclosures and promote
disclosure that provides decision-useful information for investors.



1. Streamlining disclosure requirements

We support the CSA’s proposals to eliminate duplicative, overlapping and/or redundant disclosure
requirements, including the proposed elimination of:

e the current MD&A requirement to disclose information regarding critical accounting estimates
and the current AIF requirement to disclose cash dividends or distributions declared (as well as
restrictions on payment of dividends or distributions);

e the current MD&A requirement to disclose summary information for the eight most recently
completed quarters;

e the current MD&A requirement for non-venture issuers to prepare and disclose a contractual
obligations table;

e the current AIF requirement to disclose security price ranges and volumes traded on a Canadian
marketplace; and

e the current AIF requirement to disclose information about the issuer’s transfer agents, registrars
and the location of registers of transfers.

2. Consolidation of periodic disclosures into a single disclosure statement

We recognize the potential benefits for issuers and investors of consolidating a reporting issuer’s annual
financial statements, MD&A and AIF, if any, into a single annual disclosure statement (ADS) and
consolidating the interim financial statements and interim MD&A into a single interim disclosure
statement (IDS). We believe, however, that reporting issuers should be given the option, for their annual
filings, to prepare a separate AIF. This is because some issuers file their financial statements and MD&A
first, and then take additional time to prepare their AIF, have the relevant AIF disclosures reviewed and
obtain the required certifications from their chief executive officer and chief financial officer. Requiring all
issuers to prepare a consolidated ADS could, for example, put significant pressure on issuers with fewer
resources available to dedicate to the preparation and review of such documents. Requiring all issuers to
prepare a consolidated ADS could also have the unintended consequence of creating incentives for issuers
to delay reporting their annual results and filing their annual financial statements and MD&A until the
information required by the AIF section in the ADS Form is ready.

3. Materiality qualifiers

We support the CSA’s proposal to remove most of the materiality qualifiers in specific sections of the
Proposed ADS Form, except where the materiality qualifier is part of a defined term (such as “significant
acquisition”) or reflects a term used in the prospectus rules. Instead, all disclosure requirements in the
Proposed ADS Form will be subject to the general instruction that issuers are to focus on material
information. We believe that these changes will reduce uncertainty resulting from the absence of a
materiality qualifier in some sections and the use of a materiality qualifier other than “material” in other
sections.

4. Risk factor disclosure

Section 5.2 of the Current AIF Form requires an issuer who prepares an AIF to disclose risk factors
relating to the issuer and its business, and the instructions to section 5.2 specify that risks must be
disclosed in order of seriousness from most to least serious and not be de-emphasized through the use of
excessive caveats or conditions. We support the CSA’s proposal to incorporate this risk factor disclosure
requirement and instructions into the Proposed ADS Form. Also, in our experience, issuers and their
advisors do not have much difficulty assessing the relative seriousness of their risk factors and so we do
not believe there is demand in the market for additional regulatory guidance on what “seriousness”
means.

We have some concerns, however, about the proposed instruction encouraging issuers to consider
presenting risk factor disclosure in tabular form or another manner that clearly identifies, for each risk
factor (a) the nature of the risk factor, (b) its description, (c) its seriousness for the issuer (in terms of
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impact/probability), and (d) the issuer’s mitigation strategy for the risk. Although the proposed
instruction is framed as a suggestion, we expect that many issuers and their advisors will treat it as a
requirement or best practice. We believe that the instruction, if adopted, would increase regulatory
burdens for issuers and result in longer disclosure because issuers likely would supplement their existing
discussion of risks with the proposed risk table. While we are in favour of encouraging disclosure formats
that are easier for investors to understand and digest, we expect that issuers and their advisors are likely
to find it challenging to work with a format that requires public disclosure of the impact/probability of
risks in tabular form. Risk impact/probability assessments are nuanced, complex and evolving and, as a
result, are not easily reduced to snapshot disclosure in a table made as of a fixed date.

We also note that the revised rules on risk factor disclosures recently adopted by the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) do not require or recommend a tabular presentation, and so recommending
such an approach for Canadian issuers could result in diverging disclosure practices and increased
regulatory burdens for cross-border issuers.

The request for comment also sought feedback on whether the CSA should adopt amendments to risk
factor disclosure requirements similar to those recently adopted by the SEC. These amendments require
issuers to group similar risks together, disclose generic risks under the heading “general risk” and require
a summary of risk factor disclosure if the risk factor disclosure exceeds 15 pages. We do not think it is
necessary or advisable for the CSA to adopt similar requirements. We believe that the prevailing market
practice in Canada is for issuers to group their disclosures about similar risks together and, therefore,
mandating this practice is unnecessary. We do not think that requiring disclosure of generic risks under a
“general risk” heading would be particularly useful, and could lead to investors disregarding these risks or
incorrectly concluding that they are more remote. Instead, if there are concerns that risks are not being
appropriately tailored, issuers could be reminded and encouraged not to include generic or boilerplate
risks that are not material to their business. We note that some issuers will also disclose a bulleted list of
risk factors (typically in their forward-looking statement disclaimers or elsewhere if such disclosure is
considered useful), but this practice has not been universally adopted. We believe that issuers who have
elected not to provide a bulleted list of risks have concluded that such a presentation format is not
meaningful for investors and unnecessarily adds to already lengthy disclosure documents.

5. Disclosure about debt covenants

If adopted, paragraph 5(5)(b) of the Proposed ADS Form will require a reporting issuer to discuss how it
manages its liquidity risks and provide qualitative and quantitative disclosure of any debt covenants to
which it is subject, including the actual ratios or amounts. We note that section 29 of the Proposed ADS
Form will require issuers to disclose particulars of material contracts. In addition, if there has been a
default or there are arrears on a debt covenant, or there is a risk of default or arrears on a material debt
covenant, paragraphs 5(5)(c) and (d) will require disclosure of this information and how the issuer
intends to cure the default or arrears or address the risk of such default or arrears, as the case may be. We
also are aware that the disclosure requirements above are subject to an overall materiality qualifier.

We believe that requiring issuers to disclose detailed information about debt covenants on a routine basis
(beyond what is required in section 29) is unnecessary and could disadvantage issuers by requiring them
to disclose competitively sensitive information. As an alternative, we suggest that the disclosure in
proposed paragraph 5(5)(b) be required only in the circumstances described in paragraph 5(5)(c).

6. Disclosure requirements for investment entities and non-investment entities recording
investments at fair value

If the Proposed Amendments are adopted, section 10 of the ADS Form will require any investment entity
or non-investment entity recording investments at fair value! to disclose in its ADS and IDSz2:

t Instruction 2 for section 10 states that if a material portion of a company’s business is invested in other operating entities and those
investments are recorded on a fair value basis, the issuer is considered to be a “non-investment entity recording investments at fair
value”.

2 Subsection 3(1) of the proposed IDS Form provides that an issuer’s interim MD&A must update the annual MD&A for all disclosure
required under Part 2 of the ADS Form.
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e aschedule of investments, including the investee’s name, and the cost and fair value for each
investment held;

e changes to the composition of the investment portfolio;

e drivers of fair value changes by investment, including a discussion of both unrealized and realized
gains and losses; and

e for concentrated holdings, summarized financial information of the investee including the
aggregated amount of assets, liabilities, revenue and profit or loss along with a discussion of the
results of the investee.

For the following reasons, we question the necessity of proposed section 10 and are concerned about the
potential scope, regulatory burden and adverse consequences of introducing such a requirement.

o  We believe that existing disclosure requirements incorporated into the proposed ADS Form and
IDS Form (including financial statement requirements and disclosure requirements regarding an
issuer’s performance, business, risk factors, liquidity and capital resources and related party
transactions) are sufficient to achieve the objectives of NI 51-102.

e The potential scope of proposed section 10’s application to various issuers is unclear. For
example, it is unclear how many issuers would be considered to have a material portion of their
business invested in other operating entities with such investments recorded on a fair value basis.
Accordingly, the potential impact and regulatory burden associated with the proposed
requirement has not been assessed.

e  We believe more study is needed before introducing a change to the continuous disclosure
requirements that, in effect, create a new, significantly lower early warning reporting threshold.

e Ifan issuer discloses the specific names of privately held entities in its portfolio and its
assessment of the fair value of those investments, such disclosure could adversely affect the
issuer’s relationships with co-investors and the investee if their evaluations of fair value differ
from the issuer’s assessment.

e Summarized financial information of the investee including the aggregated amount of assets,
liabilities, revenue and profit or loss along with a discussion of the results of the investee,
particularly for an investment in a private company, may be competitively sensitive and not
always available to the issuer (or verifiable by the issuer prior to the deadline for filing its ADS or
IDS, as the case might be).

7. Permitting issuers to compare the financial performance of their current quarter to the
immediately preceding quarter

We support the CSA’s proposal, as reflected in subsections 3(3) and (4) of the MD&A section in the
Proposed IDS Form, to permit an issuer (other than an issuer whose business is seasonal) to compare the
financial performance of its current quarter with the immediately preceding quarter, rather than the
corresponding period in the previous year, as long as the issuer discusses its reasons for changing the
basis of comparison and indicates where summary information about the corresponding period in the
previous year can be found. We agree that it is appropriate to provide issuers with the flexibility to provide
the comparative analysis that they believe is most relevant to an understanding of their performance. The
CSA may wish to consider adding guidance through the instructions on how frequently an issuer can
choose to alter the basis of its comparison.

8. Transition

We appreciate the CSA’s decision to publish the Proposed Amendments more than two years in advance
of the proposed December 2023 effective date for the final amendments to NI 51-102. We note, however,
that the CSA expects to publish the final amendments in September 2023, only three months prior to this
effective date. We believe that issuers would appreciate having more time between publication of the final
amendments and effectiveness to prepare and file their first ADS.
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Once again, we appreciate the opportunity to comment on the Proposed Amendments and would be
happy to discuss any of our comments set out above with you by phone or by email.

Yours truly,

Janet Holmes

Jim S. Hong

Glen R. Johnson
Karrin Powys-Lybbe
Rima Ramchandani
David Seville
Michael Zackheim
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September 17, 2021
Delivered by Email: comment@osc.gov.on.ca; consultation-en-cours@lautorite.qc.ca

British Columbia Securities Commission

Alberta Securities Commission

Financial and Consumer Affairs Authority of Saskatchewan
Manitoba Securities Commission

Ontario Securities Commission

Autorité des marchés financiers

Financial and Consumer Services Commission, New Brunswick
Superintendent of Securities, Department of Justice and Public Safety, Prince Edward Island
Nova Scotia Securities Commission

Office of the Superintendent of Securities, Service NL
Northwest Territories Office of the Superintendent of Securities
Office of the Yukon Superintendent of Securities
Superintendent of Securities, Nunavut

Attention:

The Secretary Me Philippe Lebel

Ontario Securities Commission Corporate Secretary and Executive Director, Legal Affairs
20 Queen Street West
22nd Floor, Box 55 Place de la Cité, tour Cominar
Toronto, Ontario 2640, boulevard Laurier, bureau 400
M5H 358 Québec (Québec) G1V 5C1

Fax: 416-593-2318 Fax: 514-864-8381
comment@osc.gov.on.ca consultation-en-cours@lautorite.qc.ca

Autorité des marchés financiers

Re: CSA NOTICE AND REQUEST FOR COMMENT -
PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 51-102 CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS AND OTHER
AMENDMENTS AND CHANGES RELATING TO ANNUAL AND INTERIM FILINGS OF NON-INVESTMENT FUND REPORTING
ISSUERS

Dear Sirs and Mesdames:

This letter is submitted in response to the Request for Comment regarding proposed amendments to National Instrument
51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations dated May 20, 2021 (the “proposed amendments”). Nutrien Ltd. is the world’s
largest provider of crop inputs and services, with a market capitalization of approximately US $36 billion. Our shares are

publicly traded on the New York Stock Exchange and the Toronto Stock Exchange.

We appreciate the opportunity to comment on the proposal as we commend all efforts to improve the quality and
accessibility of disclosures for investors.

13131 Lake Fraser Drive SE « Calgary, Alberta «+ T2J 7E8 + Canada nutrien.com
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As we understand it, the stated goals of the proposal as noted in part 2 are to:

e reduce regulatory burden by fostering streamlined reporting and increasing reporting efficiency for reporting issuers;
e increase the quality and usability of the disclosure to be provided to investors; and

e not to compromise investor protection or the efficiency of the capital markets.

We have reviewed the details of the proposed amendments and are in agreement as they relate to eliminating duplication
or overlap between the disclosure requirements of financial statements, MD&A and AIF. We agree that a wholistic review
of all regulatory filings will potentially reduce administrative burden and minimize duplication.

We have strong concerns over Part 4 of the proposed amendments — section #2: Combine documents into an Annual
Disclosure Statement. In our view, the combination of the AIF with the annual financial statements and related MD&A will
obfuscate relevant information and will not reduce regulatory burden — instead it will potentially increase the regulatory
burden for us. We do agree that the MD&A should be combined with the annual financial statements, as this is already
common practice for Canadian reporting issuers in an “annual report”. However, we do not agree with inclusion of the AIF
within this combined document. As an alternative, we suggest that inclusion of the AIF in an Annual Disclosure Statement
be voluntary or maintain the AIF as a separately filed document.

We understand that 20 commenters supported the inclusion of the AIF in an annual disclosure statement in response to
CSA Consultation Paper 51-404 Considerations for Reducing Regulatory Burden for Non-Investment Fund Reporting Issuers.
We also noted 13 commenters expressed support for this option only if the use of a consolidated document was voluntary
and not mandatory, and four commenters did not support this option. We share the concerns raised in the original
consultation in response to Consultation Question #29, and we have our own concerns about inclusion of the AIF with the
annual financial statements and related MD&A, as follows.

Excessively Long Annual Disclosure Statement

Nutrien is a large reporting issuer in the fertilizer mining and farm supply retail businesses, with approximately 23,000
employees in 13 countries, over 2,000 retail locations, and 26 mines or processing sites. This scale of our business requires
lengthy disclosures as we have four separate business units with different economic drivers and risks. Our mining projects
require extensive disclosures under NI 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects. For us, an Annual Disclosure
Statement, as proposed, could be longer than 300 pages. Several sections would not be pertinent to all readers, such as
the text of the audit committee’s charter or summary of the technical reports which are disclosed in the AIF. These sections
add to the length and may obfuscate pertinent information. We respectfully submit that a lengthy document would run
counter to the CSA intent to have investors benefit from a “shorter and more focused document”.

We view the MD&A and financial statements with a different lens than the AIF since the documents serve different
purposes and have a different tone. The MD&A is generally more conversational in tone. The MD&A focuses on discussion
of financial position and results of operations as well as narrative explanation from the perspective of management on
risks and trends that are reasonably likely to affect the company’s financial position or results of operations. The AIF is
required to provide disclosure of the description of issuer's business, properties, and operations at a point in time (i.e.,
year-end), and include risks associated. Combining these documents would make this disclosure document overly lengthy
and potentially less relevant.

Our primary objective in any disclosure is preserving its relevance to users. We are concerned that producing an excessively

long Annual Disclosure Statement will increase regulatory burden and obscure key information. We have strong concerns
our investors will read the news release instead of the Annual Disclosure Statement, which is meant to provide a complete

13131 Lake Fraser Drive SE « Calgary, Alberta «+ T2J 7E8 + Canada nutrien.com
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review of our company's financial information and is intended to be read together with our news releases, which discloses
material information in summary format only. We see this as being potentially counter to the objectives of the proposed
amendments.

Coordination with Integrated Reporting

As we look to the future of financial reporting in the realm of continuous disclosure obligations, we note that this proposal
does not address the increasing demand and materiality of Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) reporting, and
potential state of integrated reporting with our continuous disclosure obligations under Canadian securities regulation.
This has become a focus point of stakeholders and, as such, the disclosures have increased as well. Our ESG report for
2021 was almost 100 pages; if incorporated in the Annual Disclosure Statement, our filing would near 400 pages. We note
that if all these lengthy requirements are included, it is counterproductive to a relevant streamlined document as stated
in the goals of the proposed amendments. The CSA should consider the implications of a lengthy combined Annual
Disclosure Statement with any future integrated reporting initiatives or requirements.

Ordering of Annual Disclosure Document

With a goal of ensuring that relevant information is prioritized, we noted that Annex B of the proposal suggests the location
and organization within the proposed Annual Disclosure Statement: Part 1 — Annual financial statements, Part 2 - MD&A,
and Part 3 - AIF. We were unable to ascertain from the proposal if this order is prescribed or not: while General Instruction
(15) in the proposed annotated Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement states that the numbering and ordering of
sections included in Part 2 - MD&A and Part 3 - AIF of the Form are intended as guidelines only, there is no express
statement to this effect regarding the ordering of Part 1, Part 2 and Part 3 of the Form.

It is our view that users prefer the MD&A to be the first document to review a company’s financial performance and
financial condition, and this is the current structure of the annual report. We feel that it may be inconvenient to users to
search past the 50+ pages of audited annual financial statements, or to scroll through a long PDF, to see the related
discussion of financial results and performance and understand the pertinent messaging. While we recognize that the CSA
is proposing innovative approaches to disclosure including use of hyperlinks, we note that we have a substantial user
population that utilizes paper copies to review our disclosure documents.

If we are required to order the document in such a way that the key points are in the middle of a several hundred-page
document, it will be easier for users to locate the pertinent information in a news release, making our full MD&A and
financial statements less relevant. Therefore, we propose that the CSA remain flexible on ordering that is traditional with
the current annual report that starts with the MD&A, financial statements next, and lastly the AIF (subject to the suggestion
that inclusion of the AIF remain voluntary or be excluded from the combined document).

Annual report

Finally, we understand that this proposal does not prohibit alternative disclosures or documents. Commensurate with
applicable securities law, we can still file news releases, investor packages and compile a traditional annual report. Due to
the reasons noted above regarding preserving relevance and highlighting pertinent information, this may be beneficial for
our stakeholders should this proposal proceed. However, it is counterproductive to the goals of the proposal in that it will
result in duplication of documents and increase regulatory burden, as this would be produced as an additional document
over and above the proposed Annual Disclosure Statement.

13131 Lake Fraser Drive SE « Calgary, Alberta «+ T2J 7E8 + Canada nutrien.com
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In summary

Our goal is to keep the MD&A and financial statements as a highly relevant document about our Company and financial
performance. However, the changes proposed may result in lengthy continuous disclosure documents including extensive
summaries of our 43-101 technical reports. We want to reiterate that the goals in this proposal are commendable and
worthwhile pursuing. However, we respectfully submit that the proposed amendments as outlined without a further
meaningful reduction in duplicative or extraneous disclosures may not achieve the stated goals and purpose.

We encourage the CSA to reconsider the required combination of the AIF with the financial statements and related MD&A
as we do not see the long-term benefits of consolidation as outlined in the proposed amendments. As an alternative,
inclusion of the AIF should be voluntary or excluded from the proposed Annual Disclosure Statement. As a further
alternative, we would suggest the CSA take additional steps to streamline disclosure requirements by eliminating
duplicative or extraneous disclosures such as those in both the AIF and 43-101 technical reports in order to meaningfully
reduce the regulatory burden on reporting issuers with material mineral projects.

We have also answered specific questions of part 9 of the proposal in the Appendix and offer some additional suggestions
to the proposed amendments.

We appreciate your thoughtful consideration of the views and recommendations provided in this letter. If you have any
guestions or need additional information, please do not hesitate to contact me.
Respectfully,

(signed) “Janice Anderson”

Janice Anderson CPA, CA

Director, Technical Accounting and Research Advisory Services
Nutrien Ltd.

T 403-255-7026

janice.anderson@nutrien.com
www.nutrien.com

13131 Lake Fraser Drive SE « Calgary, Alberta «+ T2J 7E8 + Canada nutrien.com
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Appendix A — Additional matters

In addition to the concerns noted above, we have the following concerns and recommendations that the CSA may want
to consider to further streamline disclosures and reduce regulatory burden:

Access Equals Delivery

There is currently no requirement to deliver the AIF to certain investors as there is for the financial statements and MD&A.
The Proposed Amendments provide that reporting issuers will be required to deliver their Annual Disclosure Statement,
which will include the AIF and result in increased printing and mailing costs. To reduce this burden, we would suggest that
the “access equals delivery” model be adopted and in force contemporaneously with the Proposed Amendments.

Auditor involvement

The AIF is currently not in scope of the auditor’s requirements under CAS 720 The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to
Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements (“CAS 720”). CAS 720 requires auditors to read
the other information in scope of the standard to identify material inconsistencies, if any, with the audited financial
statements. Some of the data in our AIF, including our summaries of our 43-101 technical reports could be challenging to
provide this type of negative assurance. Summaries of our technical reports included in our AlIF are approximately 50 pages
of data across several projects — with many assumptions about the recoverability, pricing and profitability of our mineral
reserves and reporting. Given the length of our AIF, including the scale of summary information about our technical
reports, our auditors will require additional time and expertise to review the document for compliance with CAS 720,
which will increase the cost of our audit.

Elimination of third statement of financial position

As a further reduction in regulatory burden, we propose that the CSA consider removing the requirement in NI 51-102
section 4.1(1)(c) and 4.3(1)(d) which requires a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the financial year
immediately preceding the most recently completed financial year if the reporting issuers either (A) applies an accounting
policy retrospectively in its annual/interim financial statements, (B), makes a retrospective restatement of items in its
annual/interim financial statements, or (C) reclassifies items in its annual/interim financial statements (i.e. an “opening
balance sheet”). IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements paragraphs 40A and 40B require an entity to present this
information. We respectfully suggest allowing reporting issuers to comply with IFRS, which would also allow the
requirement of the presentation of an opening balance sheet to be based on whether the information contained in the
opening balance sheet is material to the financial statements. Continuing to include this identical requirement within NI
51-102 contradicts this initiative of the CSA to reduce duplication of disclosures and regulatory burden.

Streamlining AIF disclosure

We have identified two areas for the CSA to consider streamlining disclosure in the AlF: inclusion of the text of the audit
committee’s charter (Form 52-110F1 Audit Committee Information Required in an AIF, item 1) and summarized technical
reports (section 18 of the proposed amendments).

We suggest allowing the audit committee’s charter to be incorporated by reference to a website where it is published and
included in the AIF at least once every three years, consistent with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission rules and

regulations.

We have noted in the proposed amendments that a summary from a technical report can be used to satisfy the AIF
requirement applicable to reporting issuers with mineral projects if such summary contains all required disclosure. We
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5



Nutrien

Feeding the Future-

respectively submit that consideration should be given to removing or streamlining certain disclosure reporting obligations
in ltem 5.4 of NI 51-102 in order to meaningfully reduce the regulatory burden on reporting issuers with mineral projects.
Sections 4 to 8, Section 10 and Section 11 of Item 5.4 of NI 51-102 require issuers to include lengthy and highly technical
mineral project disclosure that, in our view, is not relevant or meaningful to the average investor given its geological and
technical nature. Further, the information covered in these sections is already readily available to potential investors in
the reporting issuer’s corresponding National Instrument 43-101 Technical Report filed publicly on SEDAR. As such,
eliminating or streamlining such onerous disclosure requirements would not only reduce the regulatory burden on
reporting issuers with mineral projects, but would help eliminate overlap in regulatory requirements, without impacting
investor protection.

13131 Lake Fraser Drive SE « Calgary, Alberta «+ T2J 7E8 + Canada nutrien.com
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Appendix B — Part 9: Request for Comments

Question Nutrien response
Question relating to additional disclosure for venture issuers More narrowly, this proposal should be
without significant revenue voluntary. It creates additional burden in certain

circumstances.
1. Do you think this requirement should apply more

broadly or more narrowly? For example, should we extend this
disclosure requirement to non-venture issuers that have
significant projects not yet generating revenue as well? Why or

why not?

Questions relating to risk factors Any clarifications or guidance that can be
provided on securities regulation is useful to

2. it be beneficial for reporting issuers if we provided

reporting issuers.
N " N ” p g
further clarity on what “seriousness” means and how to

determine the “seriousness” of a risk?

3. If we adopted similar requirements to the SEC’s
amendments, what would be the benefits and costs for
investors and reporting issuers?

Questions relating to the requirement to name authors of We have concerns that we will face challenges if
technical reports we need to name the authors of technical

reports as we are an SEC Issuer as defined under
4, What challenges, if any, do reporting issuers face in NI 52-107. Given the experience that the

obtaining technical report author consents for short form
prospectus offerings?

Canadian Audit and Assurance Standards Board
had with the inclusion of a requirement for the
auditor to disclose the engagement partner
name during the adoption of CAS 700 Reporting
on Audited Financial Statements paragraph 46.

5. If the requirement to name the technical report
authors in the AIF (and as a result, provide consents for short
form prospectus offerings) were removed, would reporting
issuers continue to obtain approval of prospectus disclosure
from technical report authors or would they rely more on
internal or external non-author QPs?

We have concerns that a similar challenge may
exist in obtaining consent for technical reports.
For reference on this matter, we refer to the
Basis for Conclusion for CAS 700 (April 2019).

6. If reporting issuers were to rely on internal or external
non-author QPs for purposes of providing consents for short
form prospectus offerings, in your view, would investor
protection be impacted? Would relying on an internal QP for
consent purposes (where an external QP authored the original
report) raise potential conflict of interest concerns?

Question relating to impact of refiling on auditor’s report Yes, we are concerned with this matter. For
example, if we need to refile our MD&A, we are

7. Considering that the annual disclosure statement will .51 cerned if we also need to refile our audited

include annual financial statements, MD&A and, where

13131 Lake Fraser Drive SE « Calgary, Alberta «+ T2J 7E8 + Canada nutrien.com
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applicable, AIF, do you think there will be an impact, including
on auditing requirements, if a reporting issuer amends or re-
files only one of these documents, or re-files the annual
disclosure statement in its entirety?

Question relating to proposed amendments to Form 41-101F1
Information Required in a Prospectus and Form 44-101F1
Short Form Prospectus

8. To align the continuous disclosure and prospectus
regimes, we are proposing to remove certain prospectus
disclosure requirements. Are there any concerns with the
removal of this information from a prospectus? Please explain.

Questions relating to transition provisions

13. Do you think the proposed transition provisions are
sufficiently clear? If not, how can we make them clearer?

14. Do you think the transition provisions in the amending

instrument for NI 51-102 would provide reporting issuers with
sufficient time to review the Proposed Amendments and
prepare and file an annual disclosure statement for a financial
year ending on, for example, December 31, 2023 if the final
amendments are published in September 2023? Do you think
more time should be afforded to smaller reporting issuers
(such as venture issuers)?

13131 Lake Fraser Drive SE « Calgary, Alberta «+ T2J 7E8 + Canada

financial statements. We presume we would
have to consider how this would impact our
audited financial statements in terms of
whether we need to consider IAS 10 Events after
the reporting period. We also consider that
there would be additional procedures that need
to be performed by our auditor. It is our view
that if we need to refile the MD&A or AIF, that
there is an option to only refile one of these
documents and not the Annual Disclosure
Statement in its entirety. We see this as adding
additional time and complexity that would limit
our ability to refile on a timely basis.

We support initiatives to reduce required
regulatory disclosures. If information is material,
relevant or is important to our investors or
future stakeholders, we will voluntarily include
this information to comply with general
requirement for a prospectus to contain full,
true and plain disclosure of all material facts
relating to the securities being offered under
such prospectus.

Any clarifications that can be provided to
reporting issuers on adoption of new or
amended securities regulation is useful to
reporting issuers.

nutrien.com
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September 17, 2021

British Columbia Securities Commission

Alberta Securities Commission

Financial and Consumer Affairs Authority of Saskatchewan
Manitoba Securities Commission

Ontario Securities Commission

Autorité des marchés financiers

Financial and Consumer Services Commission, New Brunswick
Superintendent of Securities, Department of Justice and Public Safety, Prince Edward Island
Nova Scotia Securities Commission

Office of the Superintendent of Securities, Service NL
Northwest Territories Office of the Superintendent of Securities
Office of the Yukon Superintendent of Securities
Superintendent of Securities, Nunavut

Via email to: Via email to:

The Secretary M€ Philippe Lebel

Ontario Securities Commission Corporate Secretary and Executive Director,
20 Queen Street West Legal Affairs

22" Floor, Box 55 Autorité des marchés financiers

Toronto, ON M5H 3S8 Place de la Cité, tour Cominar
comment@osc.gov.on.ca 2640, boulevard Laurier, bureau 400

Québec (Québec) G1V 5C1
consultation-en-cours@lautorite.qc.ca

Re: Request for comments on proposed amendments by the Canadian Securities Administrators
(“CSA”) to National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations and other amendments
and changes relating to annual and interim filings of non-investment fund reporting issuers

We appreciate the opportunity to comment on proposed amendments to National Instrument 51-102
Continuous Disclosure Obligations (“NI 51-102"), and to annual and interim filings of non-investment
fund reporting issuers (together, the “Proposed Amendments”) issued by the CSA on May 20, 2021.

Great-West Lifeco Inc. (TSX: GWO) (“Lifeco”) is an international financial services holding company with
interests in the investment management, life insurance, health insurance, retirement savings and
reinsurance businesses. Lifeco operates primarily in Canada, the United States and Europe through its
subsidiaries.

Lifeco supports the CSA in its ongoing initiative to reduce regulatory burden on reporting issuers and
we believe the proposed amendments will help further that goal. In particular, we support initiatives
to streamline disclosure that improves its usability by investors and analysts, and where the benefit
investors may derive from having the disclosure is greater than the burden on reporting issuers to

100 Osbhorne Street North Winnipeg Manitoba Canada R3C 3A5
greatwestlifeco.com
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provide the disclosure. We are also pleased that the Proposed Amendments recognize that certain
information is already accessible from public sources and reiterate our support of the access equals
delivery model for non-investment fund issuers in the Canadian market.

Requirement to include the AIF in the Annual Disclosure Statement

We note the proposed requirement for issuers that are not venture issuers to include an AIF as part of
their Annual Disclosure Statement (ADS). The effect of such requirement will be to significantly
increase the length of the annual report delivered to shareholders. Further, not all issuers can use
existing “notice and access” delivery options given that their governing legislation (e.g., the Insurance
Companies Act or Bank Act) prevents them from using the delivery options that are available to other
issuers. Without further legislative changes, such issuers will not have the ability to use “access equals
delivery” in the future. Consequently, for some issuers the Proposed Amendments would result in
increased mailing costs, more complex logistics, and a negative environmental impact. Requiring such
issuers to prepare and deliver an ADS that includes the AIF is greater than the benefit to investors, who
can access the AlF electronically.

Additional opportunities to streamline disclosures

First, most ratings-related information required to be included in the AIF can be found in other publicly
available sources including rating agencies’ websites, and in issuers’ press releases and on issuers’
websites. If AIF ratings disclosure requirements are retained, issuers should be permitted to satisfy the
disclosure requirements by referring in the AIF to such publicly available sources.

Second, the requirements to include certain information about directors in the AIF is duplicative. Such
information is most appropriately conveyed in the document used by investors when voting in favour
of a director: an issuer’s information circular.

Third, the requirement to include the text of the audit committee charter in the AIF can be more
efficiently satisfied by permitting the issuer to refer to the current audit committee’s charter on the
issuer’s website. The benefit to readers of including this lengthy text in the AIF is limited, when
significant amendments to this document are rare and the text can be easily accessed on an issuer’s
website.

Additional disclosure of any debt covenants to which a company is subject is unnecessary

We believe that the proposed requirement to provide additional qualitative and quantitative disclosure
of any debt covenants to which an issuer is subject (including actual ratios or amounts) would create an
additional burden on issuers. We believe that this additional burden is greater than the benefit
investors and analysts would get from having such disclosure. We believe the current requirements in
51-102F1 (to provide an analysis of an issuer’s liquidity in its MD&A) strike the appropriate balance
between burden on the issuer and benefit to the investor or analyst.

Disclosure of the issuer’s risk mitigation strategy and impact / probability assessment is unnecessary

We believe that the disclosure of risk mitigation strategies could add significantly to the length of
disclosure, even if provided in tabular form. Further, we believe that an impact/probability assessment
for an issuer’s risk factors is subjective and, without detailed guidance on how to conduct and disclose
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such assessments in light of issuers’ dynamic risk profiles, the proposed disclosure would be unduly
burdensome to issuers.

Responses to select consultation questions

Question 2: Would it be beneficial for reporting issuers if we provided further clarity on what
“seriousness” means and how to determine the “seriousness” of a risk?

Lifeco does not believe that that it would be beneficial for the CSA to provide further guidance on what
“seriousness” means or how to determine the “seriousness” of a particular risk. We believe that each
reporting issuer should determine “seriousness” in the context of its business and risk profile.

Question 3: If we adopted similar requirements to the SEC’s amendments (Modernization of Regulation
S-K Items 101, 103, and 105), what would be the benefits and costs for investors and reporting issuers?

If the CSA were to adopt the SEC’s Modernization of Regulation S-K items 101, 103 and 105, we agree
with grouping similar risks together, which Lifeco already does, organizing risk factors into principal
categories of risk. However, we do not believe that the proposed requirement to provide a summary of
risk factors disclosure (if the risk factor disclosure exceeds 15 pages) would benefit investors. A
summary of risks will not necessarily assist a reader in understanding the various risks inherent in the
operations of, and an investment in, an issuer. The proposed requirement could also have the
unintended effect of encouraging issuers to reduce risk disclosures to not exceed 15 pages, which could
reduce the quality of the issuer’s risk disclosure. The decision of whether to include a summary should
reside with the issuer, in consideration of what would be most helpful to readers of its disclosure.

Question 14: Do you think the transition provisions in the amending instrument for NI 51-102 would
provide reporting issuers with sufficient time to review the Proposed Amendments and prepare and file
an annual disclosure statement for a financial year ending on, for example, December 31, 2023 if the
final amendments are published in September 20237 Do you think more time should be afforded to
smaller reporting issuers (such as venture issuers)?

Lifeco believes publishing the final amendments in September 2023 with an effective date of December
31, 2023 would not allow issuers with a December 31 financial year-end enough time to prepare and
file an annual disclosure statement. Issuers must engage a host of stakeholders (including senior
management, the board of directors, external auditors, translators, and printers) to prepare such
disclosures and, as such, issuers would need the final amendments published by about April 2023.

Thank you for the opportunity to provide input on this important initiative. Please contact me if you
wish to discuss or require additional information.

Yours very truly,

GREAT-WEST LIFECO INC.
(signed) Jeremy W. Trickett

Jeremy W. Trickett, Senior Vice-President and Chief Governance Officer
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McCarthy Tétrault LLP

PO Box 48, Suite 5300
Toronto-Dominion Bank Tower
Toronto ON M5K 1E6
Canada

Tel: 416-362-1812

Fax: 416-868-0673

Ccarthy ge?sica Brown
tet ra u It Diar:sgs I:ine: (403) 260-3654

Email: jmbrown@mccarthy.ca

Michael J. Eldridge
Counsel

Direct Line: (416) 601-8979
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September 17, 2021

Delivered by Email : comment@osc.gov.on.ca, consultation-en-cours@Iautorite.qc.ca

British Columbia Securities Commission

Alberta Securities Commission

Financial and Consumer Affairs Authority of Saskatchewan
Manitoba Securities Commission

Ontario Securities Commission

Autorité des marchés financiers

Financial and Consumer Services Commission, New Brunswick
Superintendent of Securities, Department of Justice and Public Safety, Prince Edward Island
Nova Scotia Securities Commission

Office of the Superintendent of Securities, Service NL
Northwest Territories Office of the Superintendent of Securities
Office of the Yukon Superintendent of Securities
Superintendent of Securities, Nunavut

Attention

The Secretary Me Philippe Lebel

Ontario Securities Commission Corporate Secretary and Executive Director,

20 Queen Street West Legal Affairs

22nd Floor, Box 55 Autorité des marchés financiers

Toronto ON M5H 3S8 Place de la Cité, tour Cominar
2640 boulevard Laurier, bureau 400
Québec, QC G1V 5C1

Re: Proposed Amendments to National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure

Obligations and Other Amendments and Changes Relating to Annual and Interim
Filings of Non-Investment Fund Reporting Issuers

We are pleased to provide comments in response to the Proposed Amendments outlined in the
CSA Notice and Request for Comment published on May 20, 2021 (the “Notice”) concerning
amendments to NI 51-102 and certain changes relating to annual and interim filings of non-
investment fund reporting issuers.

Capitalized terms used in this letter that are not otherwise defined herein have the meanings given

to them in the Notice. This letter is submitted on behalf of and contains comments of certain
members of our Capital Markets Practice Group. Our comments are submitted without prejudice
to any position that has been or may be taken by our Firm, whether on behalf of any client of our

Firm or otherwise.
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General Comments on the Proposed Amendments

We welcome the Proposed Amendments and applaud the CSA for undertaking this initiative to
reduce some of the regulatory burden facing non-investment fund reporting issuers. We note in
particular the positive steps taken in the Proposed Amendments to eliminate certain duplicative
and redundant disclosure obligations with respect to financial statements, MD&A and the AIF.
This is a commendable outcome.

We note that the removal of the requirement to name the technical report authors in the AlF (and
as a result, provide consents for short form prospectus offerings) would level the playing field
between producing and non-producing mining issuers as internal non-author QPs could review
the applicable disclosure for purposes of providing consents for short form prospectus offerings.

Opportunities to Further Refine the Proposed Amendments

Notwithstanding the anticipated benefits of the Proposed Amendments, we note there may be
additional challenges relating to the filing and reporting requirements that are not addressed by
the Proposed Amendments, including:

1. Combined Documents May Result in Delayed Reporting and Other Complications

An annual disclosure statement that includes the annual financial statements, MD&A and the AIF
may lead to a delay as to when certain issuers report financial results, as some issuers have
historically chosen to file their AIF after their annual financial statements and MD&A. This is
especially likely in the first year of implementation of the new regime. In addition, we note that
amending or refiling some or all of the documents in the annual disclosure statement, or amending
or refiling the annual disclosure statement in its entirety, could trigger an obligation to have the
issuer’s auditors review the revised document. Currently, this potential situation does not arise if
an issuer amends or refiles its MD&A or AlF.

2. Transition Period May Result in Inconsistent and Confusing Disclosure

We are also of the view that there may be unintended consequences of allowing voluntary
compliance during the transition period. In particular, we note concerns relating to:

o Investor confusion with issuers potentially filing different disclosure documents during the
transition period. An alternative is to provide a longer transition period with a single path
that all issuers, regardless of financial year-end, must follow as of a certain date.

o Specifically, the proposed transition period will result in a lack of clarity regarding how
reporting issuers with financial years ending in 2023 prior to December 15, 2023 will report
for the first interim period following December 15, 2023, particularly issuers in the financial
sector. While providing flexibility for the aforementioned reporting issuers is helpful, in
practice, it is likely that the majority of issuers that are afforded with this flexibility will take
a similar approach, i.e. a market practice will develop, in determining whether to file an
interim disclosure statement as the first filing after the adoption of the Proposed
Amendments.
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3. Risk Factors

We believe issuers generally understand the current approach which requires a reporting issuer
to disclose risks in order of seriousness from the most serious to least serious and that no further
clarity on what “seriousness” means is required. We do not believe there is a clear policy
justification for risks to be grouped by section as a potential result is that risks will no longer be
listed in order of significance.

kkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkhkkkk

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the Proposed Amendments. We would be happy
to discuss any of the above with you further. If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to
contact the undersigned at the contact information above or either of Andrew Parker
(T: 416-601-7939; E: aparker@mccarthy.ca) or Patrick Boucher (T: 514-397-4237,
E: pboucher@mccarthy.ca).

Yours truly,
McCarthy Tétrault LLP
Per:

(Signed) “Jessica Brown” (Signed) “Michael J. Eldridge”
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Stikeman Elliott Barrsters & Solicitors
5300 Commerce Court West

199 Bay Street
Toronto, ON Canada M5L 1B9

Main: 416 869 5500
Fax: 416 947 0866
www.stikeman.com

September 17, 2021 Without Prejudice
By E-mail

British Columbia Securities Commission

Alberta Securities Commission

Financial and Consumer Affairs Authority of Saskatchewan
Manitoba Securities Commission

Ontario Securities Commission

Autorité des marches financiers

Financial and Consumer Services Commission, New Brunswick
Superintendent of Securities, Department of Justice and Public Safety, Prince Edward Island
Nova Scotia Securities Commission

Office of the Superintendent of Securities, Service NL
Northwest Territories Office of the Superintendent of Securities
Office of the Yukon Superintendent of Securities
Superintendent of Securities, Nunavut

Me Philippe Lebel

Corporate Secretary and Executive Director, Legal Affairs
Autorité des marchés financiers

Place de la Cité, tour Cominar

2640, boulevard Laurier, bureau 400

Québec (Québec) G1V 5C1

Fax: 514-864-8381

consultation-en-cours@lautorite.qc.ca

The Secretary

Ontario Securities Commission
20 Queen Street West

22nd Floor, Box 55

Toronto, Ontario M5H 3S8
Fax: 416-593-2318
comment@osc.gov.on.ca

Dear Sirs/Mesdames:

Re: CSA Notice and Request for Comment Proposed Amendments to National
Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations and Other Amendments
and Changes Relating to Annual and Interim Filings of Non-Investment Fund
Reporting Issuers

-and -

Seeking Feedback on a Proposed Framework for Semi-Annual Reporting — Venture Issuers on
a Voluntary Basis

We submit the following comments in response to the Notice and Request for Comments published by
the Canadian Securities Administrators (the “CSA”) on May 20, 2021 with respect to proposed
amendments (the “Proposed Amendments”) to National Instrument 51-102 (“NI 51-102”) and soliciting
feedback on a proposed framework for semi-annual reporting for venture issuers (the “Proposed
Framework”).

We have organized our comments below with reference to the proposed rule, policy or form to which the

comments relate and, where applicable, with reference to the specific consultation question posed. All
references to parts and sections are to the relevant parts or sections of the applicable rule, policy or form.
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Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the Proposed Amendments and Proposed Framework. This
letter represents the general comments of certain individual members of our securities practice group
(and not those of the firm generally or any client of the firm) and are submitted without prejudice to any
position taken or that may be taken by our firm on its own behalf or on behalf of any client.

A. General

We are generally supportive of the Proposed Amendments. We are of the view that the reduced
regulatory burden that would result from the implementation of the Proposed Amendments would help in
reducing some of the unnecessary barriers to becoming a reporting issuer in Canada for smaller
companies.

We applaud this effort by the CSA to reduce the regulatory burden that Canadian securities laws may
impose on existing and prospective reporting issuers and believe that a reduction in such burden will
encourage capital markets activity in Canada. However, any amendments to Canadian securities law,
including the national and multilateral instruments and policy statements, should serve to clarify and
modernize current rules in an effort to, among other things, ensure that issuers are able to assess their
compliance costs up front. We submit that such rules should not be subject to significant CSA Staff
discretion and interpretation which effectively reduces the benefit of any transparency and predictability in
Canadian capital markets.

1. Section 3A.6 Delivery of Annual and Interim Disclosure Statements and Certain Other
Continuous Disclosure Documents

It has been our experience that issuers, along with other capital markets participants, generally want to be
able to deliver disclosure documents electronically. We submit that it would be appropriate for a reporting
issuer to satisfy delivery requirements of the Proposed Amendments by making the annual disclosure
statement and interim disclosure statement electronically available without prior shareholder consent. In
particular, we would support electronic delivery of all continuous disclosure documents with an annual
notice to investors indicating that documents will be available on SEDAR and the issuer’s website unless
paper copies are requested. We note that electronic delivery of disclosure documents would not only
reduce burden on issuers, but would also be beneficial to the environment and is particularly timely given
the increased focus on environmental related disclosure and governance in Canadian (and global) capital
markets.

We also note that subsection 3A.6(6) makes reference to both the “annual disclosure statement” and
“annual financial statements”; however, Part 1 of the “annual disclosure statement” would be comprised
of the issuer’s annual financial statements. We respectfully suggest that this subsection be revised to
remove the reference to annual financial statements.

2. Section 4.1 Requirement to File Audited Comparative Annual Financial Statements as Part
of an Issuer’s Annual Disclosure Statement; Section 4.3 Requirement to File Interim
Financial Report as Part of an Issuer’s Interim Disclosure Statement; Section 5.1
Requirement to File an MD&A as Part of an Issuer’s Annual or Interim Disclosure
Statement

We respectfully suggest that the language in subsections 4.1(1), 4.3(1) and 5.1(1) and (2) be revised to
clarify that the requirement to file annual financial statements, interim financial reports and MD&A is
satisfied by the inclusion of such disclosure in the issuer’s annual or interim disclosure statement, as
applicable.
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3. Part 6 Annual Information Form

We respectfully suggest that additional language be added to Part 6 of NI 51-102 indicating that a venture
issuer may file an AIF on a voluntary basis and that such AIF may form part of the issuer’s annual
disclosure statement, as a standalone document or as part of the issuer’s interim disclosure statement.

4. Section 11.5 Refiling Documents

We submit that the language of section 11.5(1) be clarified with respect to “the decisions set out below”
as it is not completely clear that this language is referring to the decision to refile a document in whole or
in part or to restate financial information for comparative periods in financial statements as referenced in
(a) — (c) of this subsection. We also suggest that clarification be made to (b) with respect to the ability to
file a part of an annual or interim disclosure statement (i.e., the financial statements/report, MD&A or AlF)
as a stand alone filing.

5. Form 51-102F1 Annual Disclosure Statement - General Instructions and Form 51-102F2
Interim Disclosure Statement — General Instructions

Instruction (8) provides that a company is not required to repeat information disclosed elsewhere in the
annual disclosure statement. We suggest that this instruction be revised to clarify whether the provisions
of National Instrument 52-112 Non-GAAP and Other Financial Measures that permit incorporation by
reference of non-GAAP financial measure disclosure requirements will be available upon the filing of an
annual or interim disclosure statement and further, as to whether certain non-GAAP financial measures
disclosure requirement that must be in proximity to the first use of the measure (e.g., an explanation that
a non-GAAP financial measure is not standardized as per section 6(1)(e)(i) of NI 52-112) will be satisfied
by including such disclosure in one Part of the annual or interim disclosure statement or if such disclosure
would have to be included in both Part 2 and Part 3 of the disclosure statement.

We are supportive of revisions made to Form 51-102F1 and Form 51-102F2 that eliminate duplicative
disclosure requirements from the MD&A and AlF. We do not believe that issuers should be required to
provide the same disclosure in two separate documents, nor do we believe that removal of duplicative
information would deprive an investor’s access to relevant and material information. The consolidation of
the MD&A, AIF and financial statements into one document is an efficient way to reduce duplication in an
issuer’s filings. A single document will also serve to assist issuers with compliance and, in particular, will
facilitate greater consistency in an issuers public filings.

B. Questions Relating to Risk Factors

2. Would it be beneficial for reporting issuers if we provide further clarity on what “seriousness” means
and how to determine the “seriousness” of a risk?

We are generally supportive of additional clarity from the CSA as we believe that clarity provided greater
certainty to issuers and assists with compliance. Alternatively, the concept of “seriousness” could be
removed from the instructions altogether and replaced with alternative instructions for the arrangement of
risk factors (for example, the SEC model as described in the CSA’s Request for Comments).

With respect to the Instructions provided in Part 3 of the proposed Form 51-102F 1 related to ltem 16
“Risk Factors”, we note an inconsistency between instruction (2) which states that “A risk factor must not
be de-emphasized by including, for greater certainty, excessive caveats or conditions” and instruction (3)
which suggests that issuers present risk factors in a manner (including in tabular format) that “clearly
identifies...your company’s risk mitigation strategy relating to it.” We submit that additional clarification be
included here to enable issuers to provide appropriate disclosure that satisfies the form requirements.
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3. If we adopted similar requirements to the SEC’s amendments, what would be the benefits and costs for
investors and reporting issuers?

We understand that many issuers already group similar risk factors together and include a heading for
“general risks”. Given this practice, the biggest change to Canadian reporting issuers from the adoption of
requirements similar to the SEC’s amendments would be the requirement that issuers with lengthy risk
factors draft a summary of such risk factors. This may impose an additional burden on issuers with very
little benefit to investors. It may also lead to issuers becoming more conscious of including lengthy risk
factors in their disclosure in order to avoid having to prepare an additional summary. If requirements
similar to the SEC’s amendments are adopted, it would be helpful for the CSA to provide guidance as to if
and how the requirement to disclose risks in order of seriousness would interplay with any requirements
to group similar risks together or include a “general risks” section (or, as noted above, to remove the
concept of “seriousness” altogether).

C. Questions Relating to Semi-Annual Reporting for Certain Venture Issuers on a Voluntary
Basis

9. Should we pursue the Proposed Semi-Annual Reporting Framework for voluntary semi-annual
reporting for venture issuers that are not SEC issuers? Please explain.

While the Proposed Framework might reduce regulatory burden for so